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For the year ended 31 March

3 31

2025 2024

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

RESULTS

Continuing operations

Revenue 44,857 30,693

Gross profit 26,834 27,173

Loss before taxation (370,973) (205,319)

Loss for the year from 

 continuing operations  (357,778) (218,804)

Discontinued operation

(Loss) profit for the year from 

 discontinued operation  (7,521) 5,655

Loss for the year attributable 

 to owners of the Company  (365,299) (213,149)
    

HK$ HK$

(Restated)

    

Loss per share

From continuing and discontinued 

 operations  
–  Basic –  (0.81) (2.42)
–  Diluted –  (0.81) (2.42)

From continuing operations
–  Basic –  (0.79) (2.49)
–  Diluted –  (0.79) (2.49)
    

As at 31 March

3 31

2025 2024

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Total assets 4,842,030 5,408,807

Total liabilities (2,027,245) (2,361,611)

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 2,814,785 3,047,196
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2025 3 31
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357,778,000 7,521,000

2024

218,804,000 5,655,000

2025 3 31

44,857,000
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30,693,000 2024

14,164,000 46.1%

59.8% 2024

88.5% 2025 3 31

0.81 0.81

2024

2.42 2.42

2025 6 27

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of 

Eminence Enterprise Limited (the “Company”), I would like to present the 

annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) 

for the year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Financial Year”).

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group’s consolidated loss attributable 

to shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) was approximately 

HK$365,299,000 as compared with loss of approximately HK$213,149,000 

last financial year (2024). The consolidated loss from continuing operations 

and discontinued operation for the year ended 31 March 2025 were 

approximately HK$357,778,000 and HK$7,521,000 respectively as compared 

with loss of approximately HK$218,804,000 and profit of approximately 

HK$5,655,000 last financial year (2024) respectively. For the year ended 31 

March 2025, the Group’s revenue from continuing operations amounted 

to approximately HK$44,857,000 as compared with last financial year 

(2024) of approximately HK$30,693,000, which represented an increase 

of approximately HK$14,164,000 or approximately 46.1% as compared 

with last financial year (2024). The Financial Year’s gross profit margin was 

approximately 59.8% (2024: approximately 88.5%). The basic and diluted loss 

per share of the Company from continuing and discontinued operations for 

the year ended 31 March 2025 were HK$0.81 and HK$0.81 (2024: restated 

basic and diluted loss per share of HK$2.42 and HK$2.42) respectively.

In face of an extraordinari ly challenging year with global economic 

uncertainties and continuing challenges posed by prolonged international 

geopolitical tensions and potential market instability with high inflationary 

pressure and interest rates, the Group continuously and closely monitors 

and explores market and investment opportunities, and constantly and 

prudently focuses on its core business operations in order to improve financial 

performance and create long-term values to maximize the interests of its 

Shareholders.

Finally, the Board and I would like to take this opportunity to express heartfelt 

appreciation to our Directors, management team, staff, Shareholders and 

business partners for their continuous support to the Company.

Lai Law Kau

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025
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2025 3 31

2025 3 31

365,299,000

2024

213,149,000 2025 3 31

357,778,000 7 ,521 ,000

2024

218,804,000 5,655,000

(i) (i i)

(i i i)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

2025 3 31

44,857,000

2 0 2 4

30,693,000 2024

14,164,000 46.1%

59.8% 2024

88.5%

2025 3 31

0.81

0.81 2024

2.42 2.42

2025 3 31

2024

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of Eminence Enterprise 

Limited (the “Company”) is pleased to announce the audited annual results 

of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year 

ended 31 March 2025 (the “Financial Year”) together with comparative 

figures. These annual results have been reviewed by the audit committee of 

the Company (the “Audit Committee”).

FINAL RESULTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group’s consolidated loss attributable 

to shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) was approximately 

HK$365,299,000 as compared with loss of approximately HK$213,149,000 

last financial year (2024). The consolidated loss from continuing operations and 

discontinued operation for the year ended 31 March 2025 were approximately 

HK$357,778,000 and HK$7,521,000 respectively as compared with loss of 

approximately HK$218,804,000 and profit of approximately HK$5,655,000 

last financial year (2024) respectively. The increase in consolidated loss for the 

Financial Year was mainly attributable to, among other things, (i) the increase in 

loss on changes in fair value of investment properties; (ii) the increase in loss on 

disposal of investment properties; (iii) the increase in write-down on properties 

held for development for sale and properties held for sale; (iv) the increase in the 

net loss on changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss; (v) the increase in loss on modification of terms of convertible note; and 

(vi) the increase in finance costs, which were partially offset by the decrease in 

taxation expenses.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group’s revenue from continuing 

operations amounted to approximately HK$44,857,000 as compared with 

last financial year (2024) of approximately HK$30,693,000, which represented 

an increase of approximately HK$14,164,000 or approximately 46.1% as 

compared with last financial year (2024). The Financial Year’s gross profit 

margin was approximately 59.8% (2024: approximately 88.5%).

The basic and diluted loss per share of the Company (the “Share(s)”) from 

continuing and discontinued operations for the year ended 31 March 2025 

were HK$0.81 and HK$0.81 (2024: restated basic and diluted loss per share 

of HK$2.42 and HK$2.42) respectively.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year 

ended 31 March 2025 (2024: nil).
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BUSINESS REVIEW

During the Financial Year, the Group was principally engaged in property 

development, property investment (comprising ownership and rental of 

investment properties), investment in securities and others and loan financing 

business which property development and property investment are the core 

businesses of the Group. The review of each business segment of the Group 

is set out below.

(i) Property Development

One of the Group’s core businesses is property development. The 

Group has extensive experience on property redevelopment, in 

particular, acquisition of old buildings for renewal and redevelopment. 

Below are the major projects of the Group.

(a) Project Matheson Street

As at 31 March 2025, the Group, through its indirect wholly-

owned subsidiary, owned the property at No. 11 Matheson 

Street, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong, named as “THE HEDON”. 

The total site area of the property is approximately 2,857 square 

feet with a gross floor area of approximately 42,854 square feet 

of 27-storeys brand new Ginza-style building. Occupation permit 

was obtained in February 2024.

(b) Project King Lam Street

As at 31 March 2025, the Group, through its indirect wholly-

owned subsidiary, owned the property located at No. 121 King 

Lam Street, Kowloon, Hong Kong, named as “One Two One”. 

The total gross floor area of the property is approximately 7,326 

square metres. The property is a brand new grade-A industrial 

building 28-storeys with a total of 47 units. Occupation permit 

was obtained in May 2024.

(i) 

(a) 

2025 3 31

11

THE HEDON

2,857

42,854

27

2024 2

(b) 

2025 3 31

121 One 

Two One

7,326

28

47 2024 5
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(c) 

2025 3 31

(i)

1B 1C

1D 1E (ii)

93 95

7,122

2025

(d) 

2025 3 31

646 648 648A

9,206

(c) Project Kennedy Town

As at 31 March 2025, the Group, through its indirect wholly-

owned subsidiaries, owned all the units of (i) Nos. 1B and 1C 

and Nos. 1D and 1E of Davis Street, Kennedy Town, Hong Kong 

(“Davis Street”); and (ii) Nos. 93 and 95 Catchick Street, Hong 

Kong (“Catchick Street”). The combined site area of Davis Street 

and Catchick Street is approximately 7,122 square feet which 

will be developed into a commercial and/or residential mixed use 

development to maximize its usage. Superstructure works have 

been commenced and the project is expected to complete in the 

last quarter of 2025.

(d) Project Fung Wah

As at 31 March 2025, the Group, through its indirect wholly-

owned subsidiaries, owned the site at Nos. 646, 648 and 648A 

Castle Peak Road, Kowloon. The total site area is approximately 

9,206 square feet. In light of the current market condition, a 

change of development plan may be considered.
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(ii) 

3 2 , 3 5 4 , 0 0 0 2 0 2 4
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(ii) Property Investment

The Group’s other core business is property investment.

During the Financial Year, the total rental income of the Group recorded 

from continuing operations was approximately HK$32,354,000 

(2024: approximately HK$28,751,000), representing an increase of 

approximately 12.5% over the last financial year.

Hong Kong

In Hong Kong, the Group owns residential, commercial and industrial 

units, and land with attached structure with a total carrying amount 

of approximately HK$1,057,900,000 as at 31 March 2025 (2024: 

approximately HK$1,176,600,000). For the year ended 31 March 

2025, the Group recorded property rental income and building 

management fee income from continuing operations of approximately 

HK$31,558,000 (an increase of approximately 15.1% as compared 

with 2024) and HK$816,000 respectively (2024: approximately 

HK$27,423,000 and HK$12,000 respectively), which is primarily 

attributable to the rental income from the Project Matheson Street.

Singapore

In Singapore, the Group owns nil (2024: one) residential unit with a 

carrying amount of nil as at 31 March 2025 (2024: approximately 

HK$73,843,000). For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group 

received property rental income from continuing operations of 

approximately HK$796,000 (2024: approximately HK$1,328,000), 

representing a decrease of approximately 40.1% over the last financial 

year, due to the disposal of the sole remaining property in October 

2024.

The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)

Pursuant to a land resumption agreement signed on 5 October 2022 

by the Group and the municipal government, the lands and buildings in 

Huzhou were resumed by the municipal government.

The financial results of the property investment in the PRC was 

classified as discontinued operation. The compensation amount 

was received by the Group in full in February 2024, and the Huzhou 

Properties were resumed by the Huzhou Government, and accordingly, 

the Huzhou Properties were no longer accounted for in the financial 

statements of the Group as at 31 March 2025.

Further information can be found in the joint announcement issued by 

Easyknit International Holdings Limited (“Easyknit”) (stock code: 1218) 

and the Company dated 5 October 2022, and circular of the Company 

dated 18 October 2023 respectively.
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(iii) 

20,427,000 2024

4,391,000 2025 3 31

2024 204,000

20,530,000 2024

4,600,000 2025 3 31

37,000 2024 1,373,000

2025 3 31

41,531,000

2024 47,124,000

2024

(a )

5,753,000

(b)

7,565,000

(iii) Investment in Securities and Others

The Group adopted a prudent attitude in its well-diversified securities 

investment. During the Financial Year, the Group had acquired and 

disposed of listed securities and other investment products. The 

Group recorded fair value loss in securities and other investments from 

continuing operations of approximately HK$20,427,000 (2024: loss of 

HK$4,391,000). During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group did 

not record fair value gain in investment in securities and others from 

discontinued operation (2024: gain of approximately HK$204,000). As 

a result, the Group reported a segment loss from continuing operations 

of approximately HK$20,530,000 (2024: segment loss of approximately 

HK$4,600,000) during the Financial Year. The Group received 

dividend income from the listed securities investments from continuing 

operations of approximately HK$37,000 (2024: approximately 

HK$1,373,000) during the year ended 31 March 2025.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s investment in equity securities listed 

in Hong Kong amounted to approximately HK$41,531,000 (2024: 

approximately HK$47,124,000). This value represented an investment 

portfolio comprising eight (2024: eight) equity securities which are listed 

on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). 

The movements during the Financial Year were (a) net purchase 

of securities investments which had a fair value of approximately 

HK$5,753,000; and (b) net decrease in market value of securities 

investments in the amount of approximately HK$7,565,000.

For further information, please refer to “MATERIAL NOTIFIABLE 

TRANSACTIONS AND EVENTS” section below.



Management Discussion and Analysis

11高山企業有限公司   2024/2025 年報

2025 3 31

* GEM

The Group held significant securities investments as at 31 March 2025 

as below:

Company name (stock code)

Number of 

shares held

Approximate 

percentage 

held to the 

total issued 

share capital of 

the company/

investment

Investment 

cost/cost of 

acquisition

Dividend 

income

for the year

ended 

31 March 2025

Fair value 

(loss)/gain for 

the year ended 

31 March 2025

Fair value at 

31 March 2025

Approximate 

percentage of 

total assets of 

the Group at 

31 March 2025

2025

3 31

2025

3 31

2025

3 31

2025

3 31

% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 %

        

Best Food Holding Company Limited (1488)

(1488) 33,126,000 2.10 38,195 – (6,625) 26,501 0.55

Pacific Legend Group Limited (8547) 14,270,000 5.21 1,504 – 380 1,884 0.04

Symphony Holdings Limited (1223)

(1223) 7,170,000 0.24 6,494 35 (72) 5,664 0.12

Capital Estate Limited (193)

(193) 6,240,000 2.68 1,666 – 892 2,558 0.05

Easyknit International Holdings Limited (1218)

(1218) 2,243,000 3.03 7,532 – (1,911) 3,813 0.08

Other listed shares*

* 1,126,600 N/A 2,514 2 (229) 1,111 0.02        

Grand total:

57,905 37 (7,565) 41,531 0.86
        

* Other listed shares included one company whose shares are listed on the GEM 

of the Stock Exchange and two companies whose shares are listed on the Main 

Board of the Stock Exchange respectively.
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(iv) 

163

2025 3

31

1,329,000 2024

1,930,000

31.1%

2024

2025 3 31

72,000 2024

190,000 2025

3 31

29,578,000 2024

31,023,000

55,000

2024 473,000

2024

The Group considers the prospects in respect of the investments 

in securities and others remain cautiously optimistic. The Group 

understands that the performance of the investments may be affected 

by global economic uncertainties and degree of volatility in the 

Hong Kong financial market and subject to other external factors. 

Accordingly, the Group will continuously maintain a diversified portfolio 

of investment of different segments of markets to minimise the possible 

financial risks. The Group will also closely monitor the performance 

progress of the investment portfolio in a prudent and balanced risk 

management approach from time to time.

(iv) Loan Financing

The loan financing business of the Group is primarily operated by City 

China International Limited (“City China”), an indirect wholly-owned 

subsidiary of the Company which is a licensed money lender carrying 

on business under the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the 

Laws of Hong Kong). The borrowers of the loan financing business 

are individuals and corporate entities that have short-term funding 

needs and could provide sufficient collaterals, if needed, for their 

borrowings. The borrowers are primarily acquired through business 

referrals and introductions. City China’s source of funding is financed 

by the Group’s internal resources. During the year ended 31 March 

2025, the Group recorded interest income from loan financing business 

from continuing operations amounting to approximately HK$1,329,000 

(2024: approximately HK$1,930,000), representing a decrease of 

approximately 31.1% as compared with last financial year. During the 

Financial Year, the Group had not recorded any interest income from 

loan financing business from discontinued operation (2024: nil). The 

segment loss of loan financing business from continuing operations 

was approximately HK$72,000 for the year ended 31 March 2025 

(2024: segment profit of approximately HK$190,000). The outstanding 

principal amount of loans receivable as at 31 March 2025 was 

approximately HK$29,578,000 (2024: approximately HK$31,023,000). 

During the Financial Year, reversal of impairment loss of approximately 

HK$55,000 was recognised in profit or loss in its loan financing 

business from continuing operations amounting (2024: HK$473,000). 

During the Financial Year, no reversal of impairment loss (2024: nil) 

was recognized in profit or loss in its loan financing business from 

discontinued operation.
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The Group has credit policies, guidelines and procedures in place 

which cover key internal controls of a loan transaction including due 

diligence, credit appraisal, proper execution of documentations, 

continuous monitoring and collection and recovery. Before entering into 

loan agreements, the Group focuses on the due diligence procedures 

and credit risk assessment work, including but not limited to meeting 

with each borrower, conducting research on their backgrounds, 

evaluating their current business operations and financial conditions 

(such as income and assets proof), market reputation and creditability, 

conducting financial and recoverability analysis, and reviewing on 

repayment history (including recent settlement records, and any 

litigations and winding up or bankruptcy searches) and change in 

career or business background and financial position of each borrower 

in order to better understand the circumstances of each borrower. 

The Group regularly assesses the value of the collaterals or pledges 

and guarantees of the borrowers for their credit quality, and defines 

credit limits to be granted to the borrowers. To minimize credit risks, 

the Group may require guarantees, including collaterals or pledges 

with expected realized value exceeding the loan amount, post-dated 

cheques and/or personal or corporate guarantee(s). The Group closely 

monitors on an ongoing review of credit risks of loans recoverability and 

collection to ensure that follow-up actions (including issue of demand 

letters and/or taking legal actions, if necessary) are taken to recover 

overdue debts.

The Group continues to adopt stringent loan review procedures 

and remains prudent approach on sufficiency of loan security 

by strengthening its overall credit risk management and control 

mechanism in its loan financing business. For collection of overdue 

loans, the Group discussed settlement plans with certain borrowers, 

issued demand letters and subsequently initiated legal actions and 

court proceedings in order to recover the loans. During the Financial 

Year, the Group closely monitored and regularly reviewed its loan 

portfolio and assessed the sufficiency of loan security for the loans 

receivable.
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During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group provided short-

term loans of maturity of not more than three years. The repayment 

terms and conditions were determined by factors including the 

repayment ability of the borrowers, the Group’s funding and cash flows 

management strategies, and the terms and rates of the prevailing 

market.

The Group has concentration of credit risk in relation to loans 

receivable, amounting to approximately HK$29,578,000 as at 31 March 

2025 (2024: approximately HK$31,023,000), from a few borrowers with 

approximately 55% (2024: approximately 55%) of the balance were 

secured by properties with estimated fair values of HK$18,595,000 

(2024: HK$17,745,000).

The Group is not permitted to sell or repledge the collaterals in 

the absence of default by the borrowers. There have not been any 

significant changes in the quality of the collateral held for the loans 

receivable. In addition, the unsecured loans receivable as at 31 March 

2025 amounting to HK$13,421,000 (2024: HK$14,052,000). The 

largest borrower of the Group by itself and together with the other 

four largest borrowers of the Group accounted for approximately 

33% (2024: approximately 31%) and approximately 94% (2024: 

approximately 93%) respectively of the loans receivable of the Group 

as at 31 March 2025. During the Financial Year, the range of interest 

rates on the fixed-rate loans receivable of the Group was 0% (including 

an one-off upfront fee, representing 9% of the loan amount for three-

year loan period paid in one lump sum at drawdown date) to 8% (2024: 

0% to 14%) per annum, and the total number of the borrowers of the 

loan financing business of the Group is nine.

In view of the foreseeable increase in risk of default by the borrowers 

as economic uncertainties continued, the Group reassessed the 

credit ratings of individual borrowers and made necessary provisions 

for potential impairment loss. As at 31 March 2025, allowance for 

loans receivable amounted to approximately HK$1,022,000 (2024: 

approximately HK$1,077,000). Except for those credit-impaired loans 

receivable, there was no loans receivable which was past due as at 31 

March 2025.
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9

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit 

loss (“ECL”) model on loans receivable which are subject to impairment 

assessment under Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard 9 

“Financial Instruments” issued by Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to 

reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In particular, the 

following information is taken into account when assessing whether 

credit risk has increased significantly:

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the loans 

receivable’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

• significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit 

risk, such as a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit 

default swap prices for the borrower;

• existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or 

economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant 

decrease in the borrower’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating 

results of the borrower; and

• an actual or expected significant adverse change in the 

regulatory, economic, or technological environments of the 

borrower that results in a significant decrease in the borrower’s 

ability to meet its debt obligations.

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding 

loans receivable to minimize credit risk. Impairment allowances on 

outstanding loans receivable are determined by an evaluation of 

financial backgrounds, financial conditions and historical settlement 

records, including past due rates and default rates, of the borrowers 

and relevant information from public domain at the end of each 

reporting period. The borrowers are assigned different grading under 

internal credit ratings to calculate ECL, taking into consideration the 

estimates of expected cash shortfalls which are driven by estimates of 

possibility of default and the amount and timing of cash flows that are 

expected from foreclosure on the collaterals (if any) less the costs of 

obtaining and selling the collaterals.

In prior years, the management assessed, taking into account the 

relevant information from public domain, such balances became credit-

impaired. Since then, the management has taken various actions 

(including legal actions) against the Borrower to recover the balances.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 March

3 31

2025 2024 Change

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 %

      

Continuing operations

Revenue 44,857 30,693 14,164 46%

Gross profit 26,834 27,173 (339) (1%)

Gross profit margin 59.8% 88.5% – (29%)

Administrative expenses (48,680) (58,483) 9,803 (17%)

Finance costs (92,555) (55,074) (37,481) 68%

Loss before taxation (370,973) (205,319) (165,654) 81%

Taxation credit (charge) 13,195 (13,485) 26,680 N/A

Loss for the year from continuing operations

(357,778) (218,804) (138,974) 64%

Net loss margin (797.6%) (712.9%) – 85%

Discontinued operation

(Loss) profit for the year from discontinued 

operation (7,521) 5,655 (13,176) N/A

Loss for the year attributable to owners of the 

Company

 

(365,299) (213,149) (152,150) 71%
      

For the year ended 31 March

3 31

2025 2024 Change

2025 2024

HK$ HK$ HK$ %

(Restated)

      

Loss per share

From continuing and discontinued  

operations
– Basic – (0.81) (2.42) 1.61 (67%)
– Diluted – (0.81) (2.42) 1.61 (67%)

From continuing operations
– Basic – (0.79) (2.49) 1.7 (68%)
– Diluted – (0.79) (2.49) 1.7 (68%)
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20,525,000 2024 17,941,000

Revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group’s revenue from continuing 

operat ions increased by approx imate ly 46.1% to approx imate ly 

HK$44,857,000 as compared with last financial year of approximately 

HK$30,693,000 which was mainly due to increase in properties sales and 

rental income. For the year ended 31 March 2025, no revenue was recorded 

from discontinued operation by the Group (2024: nil).

Gross Profit/Margin

Gross profit from continuing operations of the Group for the year ended 31 

March 2025 was approximately HK$26,834,000, representing a decrease 

of approximately 1.2% or approximately HK$339,000 as compared to 

approximately HK$27,173,000 in 2024. Gross profit margin for the Financial 

Year decreased to approximately 59.8% (2024: approximately 88.5%).

Loss before Taxation

Loss before taxation from continuing operations of the Group for the year 

ended 31 March 2025 was approximately HK$370,973,000, as compared 

with loss before taxation of approximately HK$205,319,000 for the last 

financial year. Loss before taxation from discontinued operation of the Group 

for the year ended 31 March 2025 was approximately HK$3,752,000, as 

compared with profit before taxation of approximately HK$42,980,000 for the 

last financial year.

Administrative expenses from continuing operations of the Group decreased 

by approximately 16.8% to approximately HK$48,680,000 as compared with 

last financial year of approximately HK$58,483,000. Administrative expenses 

from discontinued operation of the Group increased by approximately 

HK$2,836,000 to approximately HK$4,194,000 as compared with last 

financial year of approximately HK$1,358,000.

During the Financial Year, there was net loss on changes in fair value of 

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss from continuing operations 

amounting to approximately HK$20,427,000 (2024: loss of approximately 

HK$4,391,000). During the Financial Year, no gain on changes in fair value 

of financial assets from discontinued operation was recorded (2024: gain of 

approximately HK$204,000).

Finance costs from continuing operations of the Group for the Financial 

Year were approximately HK$92,555,000, representing an increase of 

approximately HK$37,481,000 or approximately 68.1% from approximately 

HK$55,074,000 in 2024, of which approximately HK$20,525,000 (2024: 

approximately HK$17,941,000) was the effective interest expense on 

convertible note.
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Loss Attributable to the Shareholders and Loss per Share

The consolidated loss from continuing operations for the year ended 31 

March 2025 was approximately HK$357,778,000 (2024: loss of approximately 

HK$218,804,000) while the consolidated loss from discontinued operation 

was approximately HK$7,521,000 (2024: a profit of approximately 

HK$5,655,000).

Taxation credit from continuing operations for the year ended 31 March 

2025 was approximately HK$13,195,000 (2024: taxation charge of 

HK$13,485,000).

Basic and diluted loss per Share from continuing and discontinued operations 

for the year ended 31 March 2025 were approximately HK$0.81 and HK$0.81 

respectively (2024: restated basic and diluted loss per Share of approximately 

HK$2.42 and HK$2.42 respectively). Basic and diluted loss per Share from 

continuing operations for the Financial Year were approximately HK$0.79 

and HK$0.79 respectively (2024: restated basic and diluted loss per Share of 

approximately HK$2.49 and HK$2.49 respectively).

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2025, total assets of the Group amounted to approximately 

HK$4,842,030,000 (2024: approximately HK$5,408,807,000). In terms of 

financial resources as at 31 March 2025, the Group’s total bank balances 

and cash was approximately HK$57,266,000 (2024: approximately 

HK$299,717,000). Such decrease was mainly due to the repayment of bank 

borrowings and interest paid.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has total bank borrowings of approximately 

HK$1,892,260,000 (2024: approximately HK$2,066,734,000). The Group’s 

gearing ratio, which is calculated as a ratio of total bank borrowings to 

Shareholders’ equity, was approximately 0.7 (2024: approximately 0.7). As 

at 31 March 2025, the Group’s current ratio was approximately 2.3 (2024: 

approximately 3.2).

The Group financed its operations primarily with recurring cash flow generated 

from its operations, proceeds raised from the capital market and bank 

financing. For details of secured bank borrowings, please refer to note 27 to 

the consolidated financial statements.
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2023 2023

2023

70,000,000

* 2023 ( i ) 2025

2 4 2023

0.18 0.14

(i i)

2023

70,000,000 2023

0.14

500,000,000

Set out below are the particulars of the outstanding convertible note of the 

Company as at 31 March 2025:

2023 Convertible Note (the “2023 Convertible Note”)

Holder of the 2023 Convertible Note : Goodco Development Limited (“Goodco”)

2023 :

Principal amount : HK$209,000,000

: 209,000,000

Outstanding principal amount : HK$70,000,000

: 70,000,000

Interest : 5% per annum

: 5

Issue date : 20 February 2023

: 2023 2 20

Maturity date : 19 February 2028

: 2028 2 19

Conversion price : HK$0.14* (subject to adjustments)

: 0.14*

During the Financial Year, no exercise of the conversion rights under the 2023 

Convertible Note was made and the outstanding principal amount as at the 

date of this annual report is HK$70,000,000.

* With respect to the 2023 Convertible Note, (i) upon completion of the rights issue of 

the Company on 4 February 2025, the conversion price of the 2023 Convertible Note 

was adjusted from HK$0.18 to HK$0.14 per conversion share; and (ii) upon completion 

of partial redemptions during the Financial Year, the outstanding principal amount of 

2023 Convertible Note was reduced to HK$70,000,000. Based on the adjusted current 

conversion price of the 2023 Convertible Note of HK$0.14 per conversion share, the 

number of conversion shares decreased to 500,000,000.

For further information, please refer to the section headed “MATERIAL 

NOTIFIABLE TRANSACTIONS AND EVENTS” below.
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Capital Structure

As at 31 March 2025, the total number of issued ordinary Shares was 

1,014,444,348 (2024: 103,148,116 Shares) and the nominal value per Share 

was HK$0.01 (31 March 2024: HK$0.01). As at the date of this annual report, 

the total number of issued ordinary Shares was 1,014,444,348.

For movement of the total number of issued Shares during the Financial 

Year, please refer to the sub-sections headed “Placing of New Shares under 

Specific Mandate” and “The Rights Issue” below.

Charges of Assets

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had bank loans amounting to approximately 

HK$1,892,260,000 (2024: approximately HK$2,066,734,000) which were 

secured by the Group’s properties with an aggregate net book value of 

approximately HK$1,057,900,000 (investment properties), approximately 

HK$1,846,612,000 (propert ies held for development for sale) and 

approximately HK$1,712,654,000 (properties held for sale) respectively 

(2024: approximately HK$1,211,443,000, HK$2,520,754,000 and 

HK$1,065,891,000 respectively).

Exposure on Foreign Exchange Fluctuations

All bank borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong dollars. Most of the 

Group’ s revenues and payments are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, 

United States dollars, Singapore dollars and Renminbi. During the Financial 

Year, the Group did not have significant exposure to the fluctuation in 

exchange rates and thus, no financial instrument for hedging purposes 

was employed. The Group considered the risk of exposure to the currency 

fluctuation to be minimal.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31 March 

2025 (2024: nil).
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Capital Expenditures and Capital Commitments

Capital Expenditures

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group of approximately HK$10,000 

invest in the purchase of property, plant and equipment (2024: approximately 

HK$681,000). These capital expenditures were financed from internal 

resources and funds from previous fund raising activities of the Company.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had no capital commitment in respect of 

capital expenditures contracted for but not provided (2024: approximately 

HK$4,418,000).

Changes in Fair Value of Investment Properties

During the Financial Year, there was a loss of approximately HK$28,700,000 

on changes in fair value of investment properties from continuing operations 

(2024: loss of approximately HK$9,563,000). During the Financial Year, the 

loss on changes in fair value of investment properties from discontinued 

operation was nil (2024: nil).

Finance Costs

Finance costs from continuing operations were approximately HK$92,555,000 

for the year ended 31 March 2025, representing an increase of approximately 

HK$37,481,000 or approximately 68.1% from approximately HK$55,074,000 

for the previous financial year. Included in the finance costs, approximately 

HK$20,525,000 (2024: approximately HK$17,941,000) was the effective 

interest expense on the convertible note.
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MATERIAL NOTIFIABLE TRANSACTIONS AND EVENTS

Placing of New Shares under Specific Mandate

Unless otherwise stated, capitalized terms used herein this section shall 

have the same meanings as those defined in Company’s announcements 

dated 23 January and 17 April 2024, and the Company’s circular dated 29 

February 2024. On 23 January 2024, the Company entered into a conditional 

placing agreement pursuant to which a total of 235,000,000 placing shares 

will be placed by the placing agent to not less than six placees at the placing 

price of HK$0.18 per placing share, representing approximately 69.5% of 

the issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by the allotment and 

issue of the placing shares. The Placing Shares under the Placing rank pari 

passu in all respects with the Shares in issue on the date of allotment and 

issue of the Placing Shares. The aggregate nominal value of the maximum 

number of the Placing Shares under the Placing is HK$2,350,000. The 

Placing Price represents a discount of approximately 4.76% to the closing 

price of HK$0.1890 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the 

Last Trading Day. The net proceeds from the placing, after deduction of the 

placing commission and other related costs and expenses of the placing, 

amounted to HK$41,877,000 would be used for repayment of the Group’s 

bank borrowings and general working capital of the Group. The placing was 

completed on 17 April 2024. As at the date of this annual report, the net 

proceeds has been utilised as intended. Further information can be found in 

the Company’s announcements dated 23 January and 17 April 2024, and the 

Company’s circular dated 29 February 2024.

Connected Transaction – Proposed Alterations of terms of the 2023 

Convertible Note and Proposed Grant of Specific Mandate to Issue 

Conversion Shares

On 23 January 2024, the Company entered into a deed of amendment with 

Goodco pursuant to which the conversion price of the 2023 Convertible 

Note issued by the Company with principal amount of HK$209,000,000 

would be adjusted from HK$3.70 to HK$0.18 per conversion share and an 

early redemption provision was altered to give the Company and Goodco 

the right to redeem the 2023 Convertible Note at any time, in whole or in 

part. The number of conversion shares would be adjusted from 56,486,486 

to 1,161,111,111. The aforesaid placing of new shares was approved in 

the special general meeting of the Company on 27 March 2024 and the 

conditions precedent under the deed of amendment were fulfilled on 17 April 

2024. Accordingly, the placing of new shares and amendment of terms of the 

2023 Convertible Note were completed on 17 April 2024. The modification 

of the terms is determined to be substantial and hence will result in the 

extinguishment of the original liability component of the 2023 Convertible 

Note and the recognition of new liability and equity components. Accordingly, 

the difference between the fair value of the new liability component and the 

carrying amount of the original liability component will be recognised in profit 

or loss during the year ended 31 March 2025. Further information can be 

found in the Company’s announcements dated 23 January and 17 April 2024, 

and the Company’s circular dated 6 March 2024.
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Major Transaction – Disposal of Limited Partnership Interest

On 31 May 2024, the Group entered deeds of assignment with independent 

third parties pursuant to which the Group agreed to assign and transfer all 

of the rights, title and interests in a limited partnership at a consideration of 

USD3,700,000 (equivalent to HK$28,971,000). The disposal was approved 

by the Shareholders at a special general meeting of the Company held on 

17 July 2024. During the Financial Year, all the conditions precedent to the 

disposal had been fulfilled and completion of the disposal took place in July 

2024. Further information can be found in the Company’s announcement and 

circular dated 31 May 2024 and 24 June 2024 respectively.

Major Transaction – Disposal of Property in Hong Kong

On 28 June 2024, the Group, entered into a preliminary sale and purchase 

agreement with an independent third party, pursuant to which the Group 

agreed to sell, and the independent third party agreed to purchase, the 

property at a consideration of HK$36,000,000, subject to fulfilment of the 

conditions precedent as stipulated in the preliminary sale and purchase 

agreement. The property situated at Ground Floor, No. 148 Johnston 

Road, Hong Kong which comprises a shop on the ground floor in a fifteen-

storey residential and commercial composite building with a saleable area 

of approximately 516 sq. ft. (equivalent to approximately 47.94 sq. m.) plus 

a yard of approximately 62 sq. ft. (equivalent to approximately 5.76 sq. m.). 

The disposal was approved by the Shareholders at a special general meeting 

of the Company held on 13 August 2024. During the Financial Year, all the 

conditions precedent to the disposal had been fulfilled and completion of the 

disposal took place in September 2024. Further information can be found in 

the Company’s announcement and circular dated 28 June 2024 and 22 July 

2024 respectively.

Major Transaction – Disposal of Property in Singapore

An agreement was entered into between the Group (as vendor) and an 

independent third party (as purchaser), in relation to the grant and exercise 

of the option on 24 July 2024 to purchase the four-bedroom residential 

apartment units with a gross floor area of approximately 268 sq. m. (equivalent 

to approximately 2,885 sq. ft.) located on the eighteenth storey of a thirty-

storey block within a condominium development of 15 Ardmore Park  

#18-02, Ardmore Park, Singapore 259959 at a sale price of S$12,000,000 

(equivalent to approximately HK$72,216,000). The disposal was approved 

by the Shareholders at a special general meeting of the Company held on 3 

September 2024.

During the Financial Year, all the conditions precedent to the disposal had 

been fulfilled and completion of the disposal took place in October 2024. 

Further information can be found in the Company’s announcement and 

circular dated 24 July 2024 and 12 August 2024 respectively.
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The Rights Issue

Unless otherwise stated, capitalized terms used herein this section shall have 

the same meanings as those defined in the announcement and circular of the 

Company dated 15 October 2024 and 29 November 2024 respectively.

On 15 October 2024, the Company announced that it proposed to raise up 

to approximately HK$62.2 million before expenses by way of the issue to 

the Qualifying Shareholders of a maximum of 676,296,232 Rights Shares 

(assuming no change in the number of Shares in issue on or before the 

Record Date) at the Subscription Price of HK$0.092 per Rights Share, 

representing a discount of approximately 8.00% to the closing price of 

HK$0.100 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the Last Trading 

Day, on the basis of two Rights Shares for every one existing Share held on 

the Record Date. The Rights Issue, which is on a non-underwritten basis, is 

available only to the Qualifying Shareholders and will not be extended to the 

Non-Qualifying Shareholders. The Rights Shares, when allotted, fully-paid 

and issued, shall rank pari passu in all respects with Shares then in issue, 

including as to the right to receive all future dividends and distributions which 

may be declared, made or paid on or after the date of allotment of the Rights 

Shares. The aggregate nominal value of the Rights Shares is HK$6,762,962. 

The net price per Rights Share (after deducting the relevant estimated 

expenses) is approximately HK$0.0905. The purpose of the Rights Issue 

is to repay the Group’s bank loans and obtain additional general working 

capital. Approximately HK$47.0 million of the net proceeds was planned 

for repayment of the Group’s bank loan(s) and the remaining balance of 

approximately HK$14.2 million was planned for general working capital of the 

Group.

In accordance with Rule 7.19A(1) of the Rules Governing the Listing of 

Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), as the Rights Issue 

will increase the number of Shares by more than 50%, the Rights Issue is 

subject to the approval of the Independent Shareholders at the SGM by way 

of poll.

A SGM regarding the Rights Issue was held on 19 December 2024 and the 

prospectus was despatched on 8 January 2025. On 3 February 2025, the 

Company announced the results of the Rights Issue and the conversion price 

adjustment as a result of the Rights Issue that reduced the conversion price 

from HK$0.18 to HK$0.14 per conversion Share of the 2023 Convertible 

Note. The dealings in the fully-paid Rights Shares on the Stock Exchange 

commenced on 5 February 2025. As at the date of this annual report, the net 

proceeds has been utilised as intended.

Further information can be found in the Company’s announcements dated 15 

October 2024 and 3 February 2025, the circular dated 29 November 2024 

and the prospectus dated 8 January 2025.

Change of Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar and Transfer office

On 26 February 2025, the Company announced the change of the 

Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office with effect 

from 31 March 2025. Further information can be found in the Company’s 

announcement dated 26 February 2025.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Compliance is an integral part of the Group’s corporate governance. As far 

as the Board is aware, the Group has complied in material respects with the 

relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on its businesses 

and operations of the Group. During the year ended 31 March 2025, there 

was no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and 

regulations by the Group that caused material adverse impact on the Group’s 

business operation.

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE

The Group is embedded with a strong corporate culture for corporate 

social responsibilities that forms an integral part of its business strategies. 

Being a responsible corporate citizen, the Group is committed to the long-

term sustainability of the environment in which it operates and support the 

environmental protection initiatives to conserve the natural resources. The 

Group understands global implications of climate change and is committed 

to place a high priority on reducing the potential impact on the environment 

by its business operations through building awareness of environmental 

conservation, minimizing carbon footprints, employing green office initiatives 

and enhancing environmental awareness among employees and other key 

stakeholders. Acting in an environmentally responsible manner, the Group 

endeavours to comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental 

protection and to adopt effective measures in achieving efficient use of 

resources, energy-saving and waste management. Details will be disclosed in 

the environmental, social and governance report of the Company pursuant to 

the Listing Rules in due course.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s businesses, financial condition, results of operations and 

prospects are subject to a number of directly or indirectly business risks 

and uncertainties. In general, volatility in the worldwide financial markets, 

fluctuations in commodity prices and increasing energy costs, uncertain 

inflationary pressures, uncertain interest rate movement, political turbulence, 

international trade competition and supply chain disruptions have all 

contributed to the increased uncertainty of global economic prospects.

Climate change poses different risks to the Group’s businesses. Apart from 

physical risks such as rising earth’s temperature and sea level, increasing 

greenhouse gas and extreme weather condition, have already created 

and will continue to create, resulting in a number of negative effects to 

the environment and the Group’s assets, businesses and supply chain 

management which may pose increased risks for the Group’s stakeholders 

such as employees, customers and suppliers.

Faced with such daunting macro-economic and geo-political risks and 

uncertainties, the Group devotes considerable effort to focus on developing 

its core businesses and to explore new market opportunities in order to create 

and realize long-term values to the Shareholders and its key stakeholders.
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EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had 38 employees (2024: 40). Staff 

costs (including the Directors’ emoluments) amounted to approximately 

HK$32,050,000 for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: approximately 

HK$40,218,000). The Group regards human resources as its valuable 

assets. The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance, 

experience and prevailing industry practice. The Group has participated 

in the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for all eligible employees of the 

Group in Hong Kong as required under the Mandatory Provident Fund 

Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and has made 

contributions to the state-sponsored pension scheme operated by the PRC 

government for the PRC employees, if needed. Other benefits to employees 

include medical and dental scheme and insurance coverage.

PROSPECTS

The Group will continue focusing its efforts on the development of its existing 

principal businesses, including property development, property investment, 

investment in securities and others and loan financing business while 

exploring other potential opportunities and projects with a view to providing 

steady and favourable returns to the Shareholders and bringing increased 

values to the Group’s stakeholders.

Despite the existing uncertainties on global economic growth in the 

macroenvironment associated with uncertain inflation rate and interest rate 

movements, and ongoing geopolitical tensions, the Group continuously and 

closely monitors the current situation and remains prudently optimistic about 

the prospects of the property and securities markets in Hong Kong and 

believes these markets will continue to grow over the longer term.

In line with its investment strategy and policy, the Company will continue to 

seize and identify appropriate investment and divestment opportunities during 

this challenging period that fit the objective and investment criteria of the 

Company, and will continue to seek attractive opportunities to replenish its 

property portfolio as an ongoing business exercise. The Board would exercise 

utmost caution so as to bring long-term benefits to the operating and financial 

results to the Company in the foreseeable future.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Board is committed to maintaining and upholding a high standard of 

corporate governance practices and procedures by integrating social and 

environmental concerns into business operations of the Group, such that the 

interests of the Shareholders and its stakeholders as well as the long-term 

sustainable development of the Company can be safeguarded.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the principles 

and the code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the 

“CG Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. During the year 

ended 31 March 2025, the Company has fully complied with all the applicable 

code provisions of the CG Code, thereby ensuring that the Company is up to 

the requirements as being diligent, accountable and professional, except for 

the deviations with considered reasons disclosed in this annual report.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
MR. LAI LAW KAU
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Lai Law Kau, aged 64, is the chairman, chief executive officer, an 

executive director (the “Director”), the chairman of the executive committee (the 

“Executive Committee”) of the Company, and a member of the remuneration 

committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee 

(the “Nomination Committee”) of the Company. Mr. Lai has been involved in 

the textiles industry over 20 years and has extensive experience in design, 

manufacturing, marketing and distribution of apparel. He is a brother-in-law 

of Ms. Lui Yuk Chu, the deputy chairman and an executive Director; and the 

vice president and an executive director of Easyknit International Holdings 

Limited (stock code: 1218) (“Easyknit”). Mr. Lai is also an uncle of Ms. Koon 

Ho Yan Candy (“Ms. Candy Koon”), the president and chief executive officer, 

and an executive director of Easyknit. In August 2020, he was appointed 

as an executive Director and a member of the Executive Committee, the 

Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. In October 2020, 

Mr. Lai was re-designated from an executive Director and a member of 

the Executive Committee to the chairman, chief executive officer, and the 

chairman of the Executive Committee.

MS. LUI YUK CHU
Deputy Chairman

Ms. Lui Yuk Chu, aged 67, is the deputy chairman, an executive Director and   

authorised representative of the Company, and a member of the Executive 

Committee. She is also an executive director and vice president, and a 

member of the executive committee of Easyknit. Ms. Lui has been involved in 

the textiles industry for over 30 years and has extensive experience in design, 

manufacturing, marketing and distribution of apparel. She serves as director 

of various subsidiaries of the Company and Easyknit. Ms. Lui was appointed 

to the board of the Company (the “Board”) as an executive Director in 2003 

and was appointed as deputy chairman in 2006. She is a sister-in-law of Mr. 

Lai Law Kau, the chairman, chief executive officer, and an executive Director 

of the Company. Ms. Lui is also the mother of Ms. Candy Koon.
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MR. KWONG JIMMY CHEUNG TIM

Mr. Kwong Jimmy Cheung Tim, aged 82, is an executive Director and 

authorised representative of the Company, and a member of the Executive 

Committee. Mr. Kwong graduated from The University of Hong Kong in 1965 

and was admitted as Barrister-at-Law in the United Kingdom in 1970 and 

in Hong Kong in 1973 respectively. He has over 30 years of experience in 

the legal field. Mr. Kwong was appointed to the Board as an independent 

non-executive Director in 2003, and was subsequently re-designated as 

an executive Director in 2007. In 2007, he was appointed as chairman and 

chief executive officer of the Company. Mr. Kwong also serves as director of 

various subsidiaries of the Company and a subsidiary of Easyknit. In October 

2020, he was re-designated from the chairman and chief executive officer of 

the Company and the chairman of the Executive Committee of the Company 

to an executive Director and a member of the Executive Committee; and 

resigned as a member of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration 

Committee.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
MR. KAN KA HON

Mr. Kan Ka Hon, aged 74, is an independent non-executive Director since 

2003. Mr. Kan is also the chairman and a member of the audit committee of 

the Company (the “Audit Committee”), and a member of the Remuneration 

Committee and the Nomination Committee. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree 

in Science from The University of Hong Kong and is a fellow member of The 

Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of The Hong 

Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Kan has over 30 years of 

experience in accounting and finance.

MR. LAU SIN MING

Mr. Lau Sin Ming, aged 63, is an independent non-executive Director since 

2004. Mr. Lau is also the chairman and a member of the Remuneration 

Committee, a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination 

Committee. He is a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified 

Accountants and a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants. Mr. Lau has over 30 years of experience in accounting and 

auditing and is now working as a tax consultant.

MR. WU KOON YIN WELLY

Mr. Wu Koon Yin Welly, aged 40, is an independent non-executive Director 

since 2017. Mr. Wu is also the chairman and a member of the Nomination 

Committee, and a member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration 

Committee. He holds a Master in Finance degree from the University of Essex 

and a Bachelor of Commerce degree in the University of Sydney, Australia. 

He has over 16 years of extensive experience in the brokerage industry.
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of the Company is 

dedicated to maintaining and developing a good standard of corporate 

governance within a sensible and practical framework with key practices 

and procedures by integrating social and environmental concerns into the 

business operations of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”). The 

Board firmly believes that the principles of transparency, accountability and 

independence are essential for upholding the interests of the stakeholders and 

maximizing the shareholders’ value. The Board is committed to excellence 

in corporate governance. It is responsible for developing and reviewing 

the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance as well as 

complying with statutory and regulatory requirements.

CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

Corporate Culture

The Board and the management of the Group set the tone and shape 

the corporate culture of people-centered, risk-prevention-oriented, legally 

compliant and steady progress, which is underpinned by the core values of 

acting lawfully, ethically and responsibly across all levels of the Group. The 

Board leads the management in defining the purpose, values and strategic 

direction of the Group and in fostering a corporate culture that is building a 

long-term sustainable business models where customers, partners, investors, 

suppliers and employees can benefit in the shared value of corporate success. 

The desired culture is developed and reflected consistently in the Group’s 

business operations, workplace policies and practices as well as relationships 

with the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholder(s)”) and other 

stakeholders. The Board, together with the management of the Group, create 

an organizational culture of maintaining and developing an effective corporate 

governance framework with stringent corporate governance practices and 

procedures through workforce engagement, employee retention and training, 

robust financial reporting, whistleblowing, data privacy and anti-corruption 

policies, and legal and regulatory compliance. The Group promotes its culture 

continuously by setting out various policies, including but not limited to, 

the whistleblowing policy, the anti-corruption policy and the Shareholders’ 

communication policy. Taking into account the corporate culture in a range 

of contexts, the Board has reviewed and considered that the Group’s culture, 

purpose, values and strategy are aligned as at the date of this annual report.
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Corporate Strategy
In order to achieve the Group’s principal objective of enhancing long-term 
values and interests to the Shareholders and other stakeholders, the Group 
focuses on achieving sustainable growth in both financial and environmental, 
social and governance (“ESG”) performance. The Group executes disciplined 
management of revenue and profitability, margin and costs, capital and 
investment return and other financing activities. The Group’s core competency 
in operational excellence in its various properties projects is a key initiative 
to capture continuing cost and revenue opportunities in its core businesses. 
The “CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT” and the “MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION 
AND ANALYSIS” in this annual report include discussions and analyses of the 
Group’s performance, the basis on which the Board directs to generate the 
Group’s core values in the longer term and delivers the Group’s corporate 
culture, strategy and objectives. The Group is increasingly conscious on ESG 
and focusing on supporting the global low-carbon and sustainable future 
transition. Further details on the Group’s ESG initiatives and relationships with 
its key stakeholders are disclosed in the “ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 
GOVERNANCE REPORT” of this annual report.

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND 
ESG

The Group recognizes the significance of sound ESG practices and is 
committed to the environment protection, provision of quality workplace, and 
serving our community. The ESG considerations are reflected in the policies, 
procedures and processes that are relevant to the Group’s daily operations. 
The Board plays a key role in ESG strategy and oversight in order to create 
long-term growth and sustainable value for the Group’s stakeholders. The 
Group had established a ESG governance structure to advise and oversee 
the Group’s sustainability and ESG-related issues and risks. The ESG 
management approach and policies are overseen by the Board. The Board 
identifies and evaluates the material ESG issues related to the Group’s internal 
and external stakeholders, including risks to the Group’s businesses. With the 
ever-changing ESG-related risks and the growing prominence of ESG-related 
issues to the Group’s stakeholders, the Group will uphold and strengthen its 
risk management system in order to cope with the ever-changing ESG-related 
risks and opportunities. The ESG policies and performance of the Group are 
contained in the “ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT” 
of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the principles 
and the code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the 
“CG Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of 
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 
(the “Stock Exchange”). During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company 
has fully complied with the code provisions of the CG Code, thereby ensuring 
that the Company is up to the requirements as being diligent, accountable and 
professional except for the deviations with considered reasons disclosed herein.
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Code Provision C.2.1

The roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not 
be performed by the same individual.
Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of chairman 

(the “Chairman”) and chief executive should be separate and should not be 

performed by the same individual. During the year ended 31 March 2025, Mr. 

Lai Law Kau (“Mr. Lai”) served as the Chairman as well as the chief executive 

officer of the Company (the “Chief Executive Officer”). This dual leadership 

role has been adopted by the Company for a number of years and is deemed 

appropriate as it is considered to be more efficient to have one single person 

to be the Chairman as well as to discharge the executive functions of the 

Chief Executive Officer thereby enabling more effective planning and better 

execution of long-term strategies. In addition, the Board considers that a 

balance of power and authority is adequately ensured by the operations and 

governance of the Board which comprises experienced and high-calibre 

individuals, with half of them being independent non-executive Directors. The 

Directors also meet regularly to consider major matters affecting the Group’s 

operations. As such, the Board believes that with the support of other 

executive Directors and senior management of the Group, vesting the roles 

of both the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer in Mr. Lai can facilitate 

the execution of the Group’s business strategies and boost effectiveness 

of its operations. The Board will review the current structure when and as it 

becomes appropriate.

Code Provision D.2.5

The issuer should have an internal audit function.
Code provision D.2.5 of the CG Code stipulates that the Group should 

have an internal audit function. The Group does not have an internal audit 

function. During the year ended 31 March 2025, the audit committee of the 

Company (the “Audit Committee”) and the Board reviewed the effectiveness of 

the Group’s risk management and internal control systems and considered 

that the systems are effective and adequate, and there were no major issues 

but areas for improvement have been identified by the Audit Committee and 

appropriate measures have been taken. In addition, the Board has put in 

place adequate measures to perform the internal control functions in relation 

to the Group’s critical operational cycles including the establishment of 

arrangements to apply financial reporting and internal control principles in 

accounting and financial matters to ensure compliance with the Listing Rules 

and relevant laws and regulations. The Board considers that the existing 

organization structure and close supervision by the executive Directors and 

senior management of the Group can maintain sufficient risk management 

and internal control of the Group. As such, the Board was of the view that 

there is no immediate need to set up an internal audit function within the 

Group in light of the size, nature and complexity of the Group’s business. An 

annual review will be conducted.
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B.2.2

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The overall management of the business of the Group is vested in the Board, 

who assumes the responsibility for leadership and control of the Company 

and oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and operational 

performances, interests of all Shareholders and that all issues are considered 

in an objective manner.

BOARD COMPOSITION

During the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this annual 

report, the Board comprised six Directors, including three executive Directors 

and three independent non-executive Directors.

Details of the Board are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lai Law Kau (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Lui Yuk Chu (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Kwong Jimmy Cheung Tim

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Kan Ka Hon 

Mr. Lau Sin Ming

Mr. Wu Koon Yin Welly

Mr. Lai Law Kau and Ms. Lui Yuk Chu, both being executive Directors, are 

family members. Details of background and qualifications of all Directors are 

set out in the section headed “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS” 

of this annual report. Each of the Directors is subject to retirement by rotation 

at the annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) for a term of up 

to three years pursuant to bye-law 99 of the bye-laws of the Company (the 

“Bye-laws”) and code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code.

The Board possesses a balance of skills, experience and diversity which are 

appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Group. A balanced 

composition of executive and independent non-executive Directors also 

generates a strong independent element on the Board, which allows 

independent and objective decision making process for the best interest of 

the Group. The Company will review the composition of the Board regularly to 

ensure the Board possesses the appropriate and necessary expertise, skills 

and experience to meet the needs of the business development of the Group.
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Board Independence

The independent non-executive Directors bring to the Board independent 

views and judgment on issues relating to the Group’s strategy, policy, 

performance, accountability, resources, key appointments and standards 

of conducts, and enhance the Board’s balance of skills, experience and 

diversity of perspectives. The established governance framework and effective 

mechanisms are kept under annual review by the independent Board to 

ensure their effectiveness.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company has complied with 

the requirements under Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the Listing Rules regarding 

the appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors, 

representing at least one-third of the Board and with at least one of them 

having appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial 

management expertise as required under the Listing Rules.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors was appointed for a term of 

up to three years and subject to retirement by rotation at the AGM pursuant 

to the Bye-laws. The Company has received written annual confirmation 

of independence from each of the independent non-executive Directors 

pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Despite the fact that each of 

Mr. Kan Ka Hon and Mr. Lau Sin Ming has served as an independent non-

executive Director on the Board for more than nine years, the Board is of 

the view that their duration of service will not interfere with their exercise of 

independent judgement in carrying out their duties and responsibilities as 

the independent non-executive Directors and believes that their valuable 

knowledge and experience in the Group’s business will continually benefit the 

Company and the Shareholders as a whole. Accordingly, the Board considers 

that all independent non-executive Directors have met the independence 

guidelines of Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Re-election of the retiring 

Directors will be subject to a separate resolution at the AGM to be approved 

by the Shareholders by way of poll.

The Chairman meets at least annually with the independent non-executive 

Directors without the presence of other Directors in compliance with code 

provision C.2.7 of the CG Code.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The appointment of a new Director is made on the recommendation of 

the Nomination Committee to the Board and then by the approval of the 

Shareholders in a general meeting of the Company. Pursuant to the Bye-

laws, all Directors, including those appointed for a specific term, are subject 

to retirement by rotation at the AGM no later than the third AGM since the last 

re-election. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall 

hold office only until the next following AGM after his or her appointment, or 

any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall 

hold office only until the next following AGM after his or her appointment and 

shall then be eligible for re-election.
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Board Meetings
Regular Board meetings are held at least four times a year with at least 
fourteen days’ prior notice being given to all the Directors to facilitate fullest 
possible attendance. Additional meetings, if necessary, are arranged and 
will be held as and when required. All Directors or Board Committee(s) 
members will receive the meeting agenda and accompanying Board or 
Board Committee(s) papers at least three days before the date of the regular 
Board or Board Committee(s) meeting(s) pursuant to code provision C.5.8 
of the CG Code; and may attend Board or Board Committee(s) meeting(s) 
either in person or through electronic means of communication. A total of 
five Board meetings (including four regular Board meeting(s) were held and 
written resolutions of the Directors were circulated and passed for approving 
significant matters during the year ended 31 March 2025. Pursuant to code 
provision C.5.5 of the CG Code, draft and final versions of minutes are 
circulated to all Directors or Board Committee(s) members for comments 
and records respectively. The attendance records of the Directors are set out 
as below section headed “ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS AND 
BOARD COMMITTEE(S) MEMBERS”.

The Board is responsible for the approval and monitoring of the Group’s 
overall strategies and policies, approval of business plans, evaluating the 
performance of the Group and oversight of management. It is also responsible 
for promoting the success of the Company and its businesses by directing 
and supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board focuses on overall strategies and policies with particular attention 
paid to the growth and financial performance of the Group.

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to the executive 
Directors and senior management of the Group of every business segment, 
while reserving certain key matters for its approval. Decisions of the Board 
are communicated to the management through executive Directors who have 
attended the Board meetings.

All Directors have been provided, on a monthly basis, with the Group’s 
management information updates to give them aware of the Group’s affairs 
and facilitates them to discharge their duties under the relevant requirements 
of the Listing Rules.

Directors’ Induction and Continuous Professional Development
Every newly appointed Director receives a comprehensive induction 
package to ensure that he or she has a proper understanding of the Group’s 
operations, business and governance policies. In addition, our external legal 
adviser meets with the new Director to ensure that he or she is fully aware 
of the responsibilities as a Director under the Listing Rules, applicable legal 
requirements and other regulatory requirements.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company provides regular updates 
on the business performance of the Group to the Directors. The Directors are 
regularly updated on the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and 
other applicable statutory requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of 
good corporate governance practices.
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(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

(d) 

(e) 

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional 

development (the “Continuous Professional Development”) regarding the 

Directors’ duties and responsibilities, and the latest updates on rules and 

regulations to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that 

their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant in compliance 

with code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code. According to the training records 

confirmations received from all the existing Directors, all Directors have 

participated in the Continuous Professional Development for the year ended 

31 March 2025 in the following manner:

Name Type of Training

(Note)
( )

   

Executive Directors

Mr. Lai Law Kau ✓

Ms. Lui Yuk Chu ✓

Mr. Kwong Jimmy Cheung Tim ✓

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Kan Ka Hon ✓

Mr. Lau Sin Ming ✓

Mr. Wu Koon Yin Welly ✓

Note:

Continuous Professional Development through attending briefings/seminars/webcast/

conferences/forums/online training/reading relevant materials

Corporate Governance Functions

With the requirement set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code in 

respect of the responsibilities for performing the corporate governance duties, 

the Board has delegated its following responsibilities to the Audit Committee:

(a) To develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on 

corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

(b) To review and monitor the training and continuous professional 

development of the Directors and senior management;

(c) To review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on 

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance 

manual (if any) applicable to employees and the Directors; and

(e) To review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure 

in the “CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT” of the Company’s 

annual report.
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3.21

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Audit Committee had performed 

the abovementioned corporate governance functions by reviewing the 

Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and compliance 

with legal and regulatory requirements.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance and Indemnity

The Company has appropriate insurance cover for the Directors’ and officers’ 

liabilities in respect of any claims against the Directors and officers of the 

Group arising out of corporate activities of the Group.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Board Committees (the “Board Committee(s)”)

The Board has established four Board Committees, namely, the Audit 

Committee, the remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration 

Committee”), the nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination 

Committee”) and the executive committee of the Company (the “Executive 

Committee”), to assist in the execution of the Board’s responsibilities and 

to oversee particular aspect of the Group’s affairs. Each Board Committee 

is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties properly, and 

holds meetings in accordance with the Bye-laws, its specific written terms of 

reference and, where applicable, the proceedings of the Board Committees 

meetings. The terms of reference of the Board Committees are reviewed and 

updated regularly to ensure that they are aligned with prevailing governance 

practices. Each Board Committee is required to report to the Board on its 

decisions and recommendations, where appropriate. The terms of reference 

of each of the Board Committees are available on the Company’s website. 

The attendance records of each member of the Board Committees are set 

out as below section headed “ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS 

AND BOARD COMMITTEE(S) MEMBERS”.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises all three independent non-executive 

Directors, namely, Mr. Kan Ka Hon (chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. 

Lau Sin Ming and Mr. Wu Koon Yin Welly and held two meetings during the 

year ended 31 March 2025.

The chairman of the Audit Committee, Mr. Kan Ka Hon, possesses 

appropriate professional qualifications in finance and accounting and meets 

the requirements of Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. No member of the Audit 

Committee is a former partner of the existing auditing firm of the Company 

during two years after he ceases to be partner of the audit firm.
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The principal functions of the Audit Committee included:

– to oversee the relationship with the external auditor;

– to review the interim and annual financial statements before publication;

– to oversee the Group’s financial reporting system, risk management 

and internal control systems;

– to review the financial controls, and risk management and internal 

control systems of the Company with particular regard to their 

effectiveness;

– to perform the corporate governance functions;

– to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on 

corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

– to review and monitor the training and continuous professional 

development of the Directors and senior management of the Group;

– to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices in 

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; and 

– to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure 

in the “CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT” of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Audit Committee members met 

twice with senior management of the Group and the Company’s auditor to 

review (i) the reports from the Company’s auditor, accounting principles and 

practices adopted by the Group, management representation letters, and 

management’s response in relation to the annual results for the year ended 31 

March 2024 and the interim results for the six months ended 30 September 

2024; (ii) the draft consolidated financial statements of the Group in relation to 

the annual results for the year ended 31 March 2024 and the interim results 

for the six months ended 30 September 2024 and recommended the same 

to the Board for approval; and (iii) the effectiveness of risk management and 

internal control systems of the Company. The Audit Committee reviewed and 

satisfied with the independence and objectivity of the Company’s auditor and 

the audit fees including non-audit services, if any, provided by the Company’s 

auditor to the Group and recommended to the Board the re-appointment of 

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) as the Company’s auditor for 

the ensuing year at the forthcoming AGM.

The Audit Committee reviewed the 2024/2025 consolidated financial 

statements in conjunction with the Company’s auditor. Based on this review 

and discussions with senior management of the Group, the Audit Committee 

was satisfied that the consolidated financial statements were prepared in 

accordance with applicable accounting standards, and fairly present the 

Group’s financial position and results for the year ended 31 March 2025.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three independent non-

executive Directors, namely Mr. Lau Sin Ming (chairman of the Remuneration 

Committee), Mr. Kan Ka Hon and Mr. Wu Koon Yin Welly, and one executive 

Director, namely Mr. Lai Law Kau.

The principal functions of the Remuneration Committee included:

– to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and 

structure for the remuneration of the Directors and senior management 

of the Group;

– to review and determine and make recommendations to the Board, 

with delegated responsibility, on the remuneration packages of 

individual executive Directors and senior management of the Group, 

including, but not limited to, benefits in kind, pension rights and 

compensation payments for loss or termination of their office or 

appointment;

– to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-

executive Directors, if any;

– to review and approve the compensation arrangements in connection 

with any loss or termination of their office or appointment, or 

dismissal or removal for misconduct to executive Directors and senior 

management of the Group which shall be fair and not excessive; and

– to review and/or approve matters relating to any share scheme(s) under 

Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Remuneration Committee held one 

meeting to review and approve the remuneration packages of the Directors 

and senior management of the Group by reference to factors such as salaries 

paid by comparable companies, time commitment, responsibilities and 

employment conditions elsewhere within the Group and in the market; and to 

make recommendations to the Board on the Directors’ fee for independent 

non-executive Directors. No Director was involved in deciding his or her own 

remuneration. Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out in note 

8 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Remuneration Committee has discharged or will continue to discharge 

its major roles to, among other things, approve the terms of the service 

agreements of the Directors and senior management of the Group, make 

recommendations to the Board regarding the remuneration and policies 

of the Directors and senior management of the Group and to review and 

recommend to the Board the remuneration package including salaries, 

bonuses and incentive awards for the Directors and senior management of 

the Group.
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(i)

(ii)

(i i i)

(iv)

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises three independent non-

executive Directors, namely Mr. Wu Koon Yin Welly (chairman of the 

Nomination Committee), Mr. Kan Ka Hon and Mr. Lau Sin Ming, and one 

executive Director, namely Mr. Lai Law Kau.

The principal functions of the Nomination Committee included:

– to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills, 

knowledge and experience) of the Board;

– to identify and nominate suitable candidates of the Directors for the 

Board’s consideration;

– to assess the independence of the independent non-executive 

Directors; and

– to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to 

the succession planning for the Chairman and the chief executive of the 

Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Nomination Committee held one 

meeting to review and make recommendations to the Board for approval on (i) 

the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board; (ii) the nomination 

policy and the Board diversity policy of the Company; (iii) the assessment 

of the independence of the existing independent non-executive Directors; 

and (iv) the nomination of the retiring Directors for retirement by rotation and 

re-appointment at the AGM. The Nomination Committee reviewed that the 

current composition of the Board satisfied the Board diversity policy of the 

Company which considered to be effective.

Nomination Policy and Board Diversity Policy

The nomination policy of the Company sets out the nomination procedures 

for the nomination, appointment or re-appointment, and succession planning 

of the Directors. This policy provides the key selection criteria and principles 

of the Nomination Committee in making any such recommendations. In 

assessing the suitability for directorship of any proposed candidate, factors 

which would be considered by the Nomination Committee include, inter 
alia , reputation for integrity, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge 

and experience that are relevant to the Group’s businesses and corporate 

strategies, commitment in respect of t ime to discharge Director’s 

duties, diversity of the Board, and such other perspectives appropriate 

to the Company’s businesses. The Nomination Committee shall make 

recommendations for the Board’s consideration and approval.
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The Board also adopted a Board diversity policy which sets out the 

approach to achieving Board diversity in the Company in order to enhance 

the effectiveness of the Board and its corporate governance standard. The 

Company recognizes the importance of having a diverse team of Board 

members, which is an essential element in maintaining a competitive 

advantage. The Nomination Committee has been delegated the authority 

to review and assess the diversity of the Board and its skills and experience 

by way of consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to, 

gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, 

industry experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Nomination 

Committee will give consideration to the Board diversity policy when 

identifying and selecting suitably qualified candidates. The policy has been 

and will be reviewed annually taking into account the Group’s structure, 

business models and corporate strategy to ensure its effectiveness.

The following chart shows the diversity profile of the Board as at 31 March 

2025:

6

5

4

3

2

1

0

Number of
Directors
董事人數

Gender Designation Age
group

Length of
service

(number of
year(s))

Directorship
with other listed

companies
(number of

company(ies))

Area of
experience

性別 職銜 年齡組別 董事任期 於其他上市公司
出任董事

經驗範圍
(年期數目)

(公司數目)

Trading and
brokerage

> 70
交易及經紀

INED
Accounting
and �nance

獨董

Male
> 20

會計及
財務

男 0

61-70
Legal
法律

ED
執董

1-10 Textiles

Female
35-40 1

紡織

女

Remarks:

ED – executive Director

INED – independent non-executive Director

Further information on the biography of the Directors is set out in the section 

headed “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS” of this annual report.
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54% 46%

2024

2025

2025 3 31

1,650,000

The Board currently has one female Director out of six Directors and is 

committed to maintaining gender diversity at the Board level. At present, the 

Board considers an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the Board 

is maintained and has not set any other measurable objectives. The Company 

has also taken, and continues to take steps to promote diversity at all levels 

of its workforce. As at 31 March 2025, total workforce of the Company 

comprised 54% female and 46% male. The Group has achieved the objective 

of maintaining a relatively balanced gender ratio. Based on the Board’s 

review, there was no mitigating factor or circumstance which makes achieving 

gender diversity across the workforce (including senior management) more 

challenging or less relevant. The Company will continue to strive to achieve an 

appropriate balance of gender diversity in the workforce as well as the Board 

according to business needs and future development so as to develop a 

pipeline of potential successors to the Board in the future.

Both the nomination policy and the Board diversity policy of the Company are 

available on the Company’s website.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee currently comprises all the executive Directors, 

namely Mr. Lai Law Kau (chairman of the Executive Committee), Ms. Lui Yuk 

Chu and Mr. Kwong Jimmy Cheung Tim.

It meets as and when required between regular Board meetings of the 

Company, and operates as a general management committee under the 

direct authority of the Board. Within the parameters of authority delegated by 

the Board, the Executive Committee is committed to the implementation of 

the Group’s strategy set by the Board, monitors the Group’s investment and 

trading performance, funding and financing requirements, and reviews the 

management performance.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Deloitte has been re-appointed as the external auditor of the Company at the 

2024 AGM until the conclusion of the forthcoming 2025 AGM.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the audit fee paid or payable to 

the Company’s external auditor, Deloitte, represented annual audit fee of 

approximately HK$1,650,000, and no non-audit fees.
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3.29

C.6.1

ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS AND BOARD 
COMMITTEE(S) MEMBERS

Details of the attendance records of each individual Director at the Board 

meetings (including regular Board meetings), the Board Committee(s) 

meetings, the AGM and the special general meeting of the Company (the 

“SGM”) held during the year ended 31 March 2025 are as follows:

Attended/Eligible to attend

 

Name

Board 

meeting

Audit 

Committee 

meeting

Remuneration 

Committee 

meeting

Nomination 

Committee 

meeting AGM SGM

        

Executive Directors

Mr. Lai Law Kau 4/5* 2/2 1/1 1/1 1/1 4/4

Ms. Lui Yuk Chu 5/5 N/A N/A N/A 1/1 4/4

Mr. Kwong Jimmy Cheung Tim 5/5 N/A N/A N/A 1/1 4/4

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Kan Ka Hon 4/5 2/2 * 1/1 1/1 1/1 4/4

Mr. Lau Sin Ming 4/5 2/2 1/1 * 1/1 1/1 4/4

Mr. Wu Koon Yin Welly 4/5 2/2 1/1 1/1 * 1/1 4/4

* Chairman of the Board/Board Committee(s)

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year ended 31 March 2025, Mr. Lee Po Wing (“Mr. Lee”) who is 

not an employee of the Company and is an external service provider of Paul 

Kwong & Company, was engaged by the Company as the company secretary 

of the Company; and Mr. Lee has confirmed that Mr. Lee has taken no less 

than fifteen hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 

of the Listing Rules. Mr. Kwong Jimmy Cheung Tim, the executive Director 

is the contact person of Mr. Lee at the Company pursuant to code provision 

C.6.1 of the CG Code.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Board leads and maintains effective controls over the Group’s activities, 

with executive responsibility for the running of the Group’s business being 

delegated to management. The management provides all members of the 

Board with monthly updates in order to give a balanced and understandable 

assessment of the Group’s performance, position and prospects to enable 

them to discharge their duties.
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature and 

extent of the risks and it is willing to take in achieving the Group’s strategic 

objectives and ensuring that the Group establishes and maintains appropriate 

and effective risk management and internal control systems and reviewing 

their effectiveness. The Board is also responsible for overseeing the design, 

implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal control 

systems. The risk management and internal control systems are designed 

to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material 

misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure in 

operating systems or in achievement of the Group’s business objectives.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducts a review of the 

effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems 

annually by requiring all department managers to undergo a detailed self-risk 

assessment process using a common risk management framework. It covers 

all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls, 

on an annual basis. It also considers the adequacy of resources, staff 

qualifications and experience, training programs and budget of the Group’s 

accounting and financial reporting function.

Under the enterprise risk management framework, policies and procedures 

are in place to identify, assess, manage, control and report risks. Such 

risks include strategic, credit, operational (including but not limited to, 

administrative, system, human resources and reputation), market, liquidity, 

legal and regulatory risks. Exposure to these risks is continuously monitored 

by the Board through the Audit Committee. The internal control system 

includes a defined management structure with specified limits of authority. 

The Board has clearly defined the authorities and key responsibilities of each 

division to ensure adequate checks and balances.

The internal control system has been designed to safeguard the Group’s 

assets against unauthorized use of disposition, to ensure the maintenance of 

proper accounting records for producing reliable financial information, and to 

ensure compliance with applicable laws, regulations and industry standard.

The Group does not have an internal audit function. During the year under 

review, the Audit Committee and the Board reviewed the effectiveness of the 

risk management and internal control systems of the Group and considered 

that the systems are effective and adequate, and there were no major issues 

but areas for improvement have been identified by the Audit Committee and 

appropriate measures have been taken. The Board is of the view that the 

enterprise risk management and internal control systems in place for the year 

and up to the date of this annual report is effective and adequate. In addition, 

the Board is currently of the view that there is no immediate need to set up 

an internal audit function within the Group in light of the size, nature and 

complexity of the Group’s business. An annual review will be conducted.
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Whistleblowing Policy

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining a high standard of 

openness, probity and accountability. The Company encourages reporting 

of concerns and actual or suspected misconduct or malpractice or unethical 

acts by employees and/or external parties in any matters related to the 

Company. In this regard, the Company has adopted the whistleblowing 

policy which aims to provide reporting channels and guidance on reporting 

possible improprieties and concerns, in confidence and anonymity. The 

Board delegated the authority to the Audit Committee, which is responsible 

for ensuring that proper arrangements are in place for fair and independent 

investigation of any matters raised and appropriate follow-up actions are 

taken.

Anti-corruption Policy

The Company takes a zero-tolerance approach towards all forms of bribery 

and corruption and is committed to observing and upholding high standards 

of business integrity, honesty, fairness, impartiality and transparency in all its 

business dealings at all times. The Company has adopted the anti-corruption 

policy which sets out the basic standard of conduct which applies to all 

directors, officers and employees at all levels of the Group who must conduct 

their activities in full compliance with this policy and all other applicable laws 

relating to bribery or corruption.

Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities for the preparation of 

the financial statements of the Group which give a true and fair view of the 

financial position of the Group and the Group’s financial performance and 

cash flows for the relevant accounting periods, and in compliance with all 

the relevant statutory requirements, the Listing Rules requirements and 

applicable accounting standards. In preparing the financial statements of the 

Group, the appropriate accounting policies are selected, applied consistently 

and in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and 

appropriate and reasonable judgment and estimates are made. The Directors 

have prepared the financial statements for the reporting year on a going 

concern basis.

The Board is committed to present a clear, balanced and understandable 

assessment of the Group’s performance and financial positions in all its 

financial reporting and to ensure relevant publications in a timely manner.

Auditor’s Statement

The statement by the Company’s external auditor about their reporting 

responsibilities on the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 

is set out in the “INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT” on pages 86 to 91 of 

this annual report.
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(i)

(ii)

 

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

(iv) 

(v) 

(vi) 

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES 
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by 

Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the 

Listing Rules as its own code of conduct for the Directors in their dealings in 

the Company’s securities. Having made specific enquiries by the Company, 

all the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the required 

standards as set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 

2025. The Company has also adopted the Model Code to regulate the 

dealings in the Company’s securities by its employees and directors of the 

subsidiaries of the Group who are likely to possess inside information relating 

to the Company’s securities.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) which 

sets out the guidelines for the Board and the Company to determine (i) 

whether dividends are to be declared and paid, and (ii) the level of dividend to 

be paid to the Shareholders.

The Dividend Policy is to allow the Shareholders to participate in the 

Company’s profit whilst to retain adequate cash reserves for its working 

capital requirements and future growth.

In determining or recommending the frequency, amount and form of any 

dividend in any financial year or period, the Board shall, inter alia, consider the 

following factors:

(i) the actual and expected financial performance of the Group;

(ii) economic conditions and other internal or external factors that may 

have an impact on the business or financial performance and position 

of the Group;

(iii) the Group’s business strategies and operations, including future cash 

commitments and investment needs to sustain the long-term growth 

aspect of the business;

(iv) the current and future liquidity position and capital requirements of the 

Group;

(v) the interests of the Shareholders; and

(vi) any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

The dividend payout ratio will vary from year to year. There is no assurance 

that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for any given period.
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(b) 100

Subject to the Bye-laws and the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the 

Laws of Hong Kong), the Company may declare and pay dividends by way of 

cash or scrip or by other means that the Board considers appropriate.

The Board may determine and pay to the Shareholders interim dividends as it 

considers appropriate. Any final dividends declared by the Company must be 

approved by the Shareholders at general meetings and must not exceed the 

amount recommended by the Board.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Convening a SGM

Shareholders shall have the right to request the Board to convene a SGM. 

Shareholders holding in aggregate of not less than one-tenth of the paid-up 

capital of the Company as at the date of deposit carries the right of voting at 

general meetings of the Company may send a written request to the Board 

to request for a SGM. The written requisition must state the purposes of the 

meeting, and must be signed by the Shareholder(s) and deposited at the 

Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Block A, 7th Floor, 

Hong Kong Spinners Building, Phase 6, 481–483 Castle Peak Road, Cheung 

Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong (for the attention of Company Secretarial 

Department).

The Company would take appropriate actions and make necessary 

arrangements, and the Shareholders concerned would be responsible for the 

expenses incurred in giving effect thereto in accordance with the requirements 

under Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended) (the 

“Companies Act”) once a valid requisition is received.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at the General Meetings

The following Shareholders are entitled to put forward a proposal (which may 

properly be put to the meeting) for consideration at a general meeting of the 

Company:

(a) any number of the Shareholders representing not less than one-

twentieth of the total voting rights of the Company on the date of the 

requisition; or

(b) not less than 100 Shareholders holding Shares in the Company.
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The requisition specifying the proposal, duly signed by the Shareholders 

concerned, together with a statement of not more than 1,000 words with 

respect to the matter referred to in the proposal or the business to be 

dealt with at the general meeting must be deposited at the Company’s 

principal place of business in Hong Kong at Block A, 7th Floor, Hong Kong 

Spinners Building, Phase 6, 481–483 Castle Peak Road, Cheung Sha Wan, 

Kowloon, Hong Kong. The Company would take appropriate actions and 

make necessary arrangements, and the Shareholders concerned would be 

responsible for the expenses incurred in giving effect thereto in accordance 

with the requirements under Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act once 

valid documents are received.

Proposing a person for Election as a Director

If a Shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a retiring Director for 

election as a Director at a general meeting, the Shareholder should follow the 

“RULES AND PROCEDURES GOVERNING THE ELECTION OF DIRECTORS”, 

which can be found on the website of the Company.

Procedures for Putting Enquiries by the Shareholders to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board 

in writing via the following channel:

Company Secretarial Department 

Block A, 7th Floor

Hong Kong Spinners Building, Phase 6 

481–483 Castle Peak Road

Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon 

Hong Kong

E-mail: info@eminencehk.com

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general meetings 

of the Company.

1,000

481–483

6 7 A

79 80

481–483

6

7 A

info@eminencehk.com
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Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Company considers that effective two-way communication with the 

Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor 

understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The 

Company has in place a Shareholders’ communication policy which aims to 

promote an effective communication with the Shareholders, enabling them to 

exercise their rights in a timely manner so that their views and concerns are 

appropriately addressed, and to furnish the investment community with ready 

and equal information about the Company.

The Company maintains a website at http://www.eminence-enterprise.com, 

where up-to-date information and updates on the Company’s business 

operations and developments, financial information, corporate governance 

practices and other information are posted.

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with its 

Shareholders and in particular, through the AGMs or other general meetings 

to communicate with the Shareholders. During the year ended 31 March 

2025, four physical SGMs were held, and the last AGM was held on 22 

August 2024.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the 

Shareholders’ communication policy during the year ended 31 March 2025. 

Having considered the multiple channels of communication and Shareholders’ 

engagement in the general meetings held during the year ended 31 March 

2025, the Board is satisfied that the Shareholders’ communication policy has 

been properly implemented during this year and is effective.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company has not made any 

changes to its Bye-laws. A consolidated version of the memorandum of 

association of the Company and the Amended and Restated Bye-laws 

are available on the respective websites of the Company and the Stock 

Exchange.

(h t tp: / /www.eminence- 

enterprise.com)

2025 3 31

2024 8 22

2025 3 31

2025 3 31

2025 3 31



Directors’ Report

50 EMINENCE ENTERPRISE LIMITED   Annual Report 2024/2025

2025 3 31

39

2025 3 31

92 93

622

5

5

27

34

65 85

210

2025 3

31 2024

The directors of the Company (the “Director(s)”) present this annual report 

together with the audited financial statements of Eminence Enterprise Limited 

(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year 

ended 31 March 2025 (the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group are property development, property 

investment, investment in securities and others and loan financing and the 

principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 39 to the consolidated 

financial statements.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in the 

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 

on pages 92 to 93 of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Further discussion and review on the business activities of the Group as 

required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the 

Laws of Hong Kong) including an analysis of the Group’s performance, 

material events that have occurred since the year end date and an indication 

of likely future development in the Group’s business are contained in this 

Directors’ report and the preceding “CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT” and 

“MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS” set out on pages 5 to 27 of 

this annual report.

Details of the Group’s financial risk management are disclosed in note 34 to 

the consolidated financial statements.

In addition, relevant details of the Company’s environmental, social and 

governance policies and performance are reported in the “ENVIRONMENTAL, 

SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT” set out on pages 65 to 85 of this 

annual report.

The Directors were not aware of any non-compliance with the relevant laws 

and regulations that had a significant impact on the Group during the Year.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last 

five financial years is set out on page 210 of this annual report.

DIVIDEND

The board of the Directors (the “Board”) does not recommend the payment of 

a final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).
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(a) 

(b) 

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the Year are set 
out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group 
during the Year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group’s investment properties were revalued as at 31 March 2025 by 
independent firms of qualified professional property valuers and the gain/loss 
arising from changes in fair value of investment properties was recognised 
in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive 
Income. Details of these are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during 
the Year are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity on 
pages 96 to 97 of this annual report and note 40 to the consolidated financial 
statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to its shareholders of 
the Company (the “Shareholder(s)”) as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 are as 
follows:

31 March 2025 31 March 2024

2025 3 31 2024 3 31

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Contributed surplus 458,830 458,830

Accumulated profits 273,371 261,193    

732,201 720,023
    

Under the Companies Act of Bermuda, the contributed surplus shall not be 
distributed to the Shareholders if there are reasonable grounds for believing 
that:

(a) the company is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its 
liabilities as they become due; or

(b) the realizable value of the company’s assets would thereby be less 
than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and 
share premium account.
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780,000

28 29

99

2023/2024

13.51B(1)

DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group made charitable and other donations of 
approximately HK$780,000.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Lai Law Kau (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Lui Yuk Chu (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Kwong Jimmy Cheung Tim 

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Kan Ka Hon
Mr. Lau Sin Ming
Mr. Wu Koon Yin Welly

The biographical details of the Directors as at the date of this report are set 
out on pages 28 to 29 of this annual report.

Pursuant to bye-law 99 of the Bye-laws, Ms. Lui Yuk Chu (“Ms. Lui”), an 
executive Director and Mr. Lau Sin Ming (“Mr. Lau”), an independent non-
executive Director, shall retire from office by rotation at the annual general 
meeting (the “AGM”). Ms. Lui and Mr. Lau, being eligible, have offered 
themselves for re-election at the AGM.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

There is no change in information of the Directors required to be disclosed 
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules since the date of the 
Company’s latest published 2023/2024 annual report and up to the date of 
this report.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received annual written confirmation pursuant to Rule 3.13 

of the Listing Rules from each of the independent non-executive Directors 

as regards their independence to the Company for the year ended 31 March 

2025. Despite the fact that each of Mr. Kan Ka Hon and Mr. Lau Sin Ming  

has served as an independent non-executive Director on the Board for more 

than nine years, the Board is of the view that their duration of service will not 

interfere with their exercise of independent judgement in carrying out their 

duties and responsibilities as the independent non-executive Directors and 

believes that their valuable knowledge and experience in the Group’s business 

will continually benefit the Company and the Shareholders as a whole. 

Accordingly, the Company considers all the independent non-executive 

Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Directors is subject to retirement by rotation at the AGM for a 

term of up to three years under bye-law 99 of the Bye-laws.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming 

AGM has a service contract with the Group which is not determinable by the 

Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory 

compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts for the management and administration of the whole or any 

substantial part of any business of the Company was entered into or existed 

during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS 
OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements headed 

“Related Party Transactions/Connected Transactions” of this annual report, 

there were no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation 

to the Group’s business, to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was 

a party and in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a 

material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at any time during 

the Year or at the end of the Year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS 
OF SIGNIFICANCE

There was no contracts of significance between the Company or any of its 

subsidiaries and a controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries subsisting 

during or at the end of the Year, and there was no contracts of significance 

for the provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a 

controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, 
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors or chief executive of the 

Company (the “Chief Executive”) had any interests or short positions in the 

shares of the Company (the “Share(s)”), underlying Shares and debentures 

of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning 

of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)), which were 

required to be (i) notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong 

Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part 

XV of the SFO (including interests which the Directors or the Chief Executive 

were taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or 

(ii) entered in the register kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of 

the SFO, or (iii) notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to 

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as 

set out in Appendix C3 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the 

Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT 
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2025, so far as is known to the Directors and the Chief 

Executive, the following persons or corporations (other than a Director or the 

Chief Executive) had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying 

Shares which fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange 

under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were 

required to be entered in the register kept by the Company under Section 336 

of the SFO:

Long Positions in Ordinary Shares and Underlying Shares

Name of substantial Shareholder Notes Capacity

Number of 
ordinary 

Shares held

Number of 
underlying 

Shares held Total

Approximate 
percentage of 

the total 
issued Shares

       

Goodco Development Limited (“Goodco”) (i), (iii) and 
(iv)

Beneficial owner
42,167,397 500,000,000 542,167,397 53.44%

(i) (iii)
(iv)

Easyknit Properties Holdings Limited (i), (iii) and 
(iv)

Interest of controlled corporation
42,167,397 500,000,000 542,167,397 53.44%

(i) (iii)
(iv)
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Name of substantial Shareholder Notes Capacity

Number of 
ordinary 

Shares held

Number of 
underlying 

Shares held Total

Approximate 
percentage of 

the total 
issued Shares

       

Easyknit International Holdings Limited 
(“Easyknit”)

(i), (iii) and 
(iv)

Interest of controlled corporation
80,261,811 500,000,000 580,261,811 57.20%

(i) (iii)
(iv)

Beneficial owner 2,025,000 – 2,025,000 0.20%

    

82,286,811 500,000,000 582,286,811 57.40%

Magical Profits Limited (ii), (iii) and 
(iv)

Interest of controlled corporation
82,286,811 500,000,000 582,286,811 57.40%

(ii) (iii)
(iv)

Accumulate More Profits Limited (ii) and (iv) Interest of controlled corporation 82,286,811 500,000,000 582,286,811 57.40%
(ii) (iv)

The Winterbotham Trust Company Limited (ii) and (iv) Interest of controlled corporation 82,286,811 500,000,000 582,286,811 57.40%
(ii) (iv)

Winterbotham Holdings Limited (ii) and (iv) Interest of controlled corporation 82,286,811 500,000,000 582,286,811 57.40%
(ii) (iv)

Christopher Geoffrey Douglas Hooper (ii) and (iv) Interest of controlled corporation 82,286,811 500,000,000 582,286,811 57.40%
(ii) (iv)

Markson International Holding Limited (ii) and (iv) Interest of controlled corporation 82,286,811 500,000,000 582,286,811 57.40%
(ii) (iv)

Ivan Geoffrey Douglas Hooper (ii) and (iv) Interest of controlled corporation 82,286,811 500,000,000 582,286,811 57.40%
(ii) (iv)

Chu Nin Yiu, Stephen Beneficial owner 161,325,339 – 161,325,339 15.90%

Law Sai Hung Beneficial owner 98,897,825  –  98,897,825 9.75%

Chan Lo Chiu Angus Beneficial owner 80,210,717 – 80,210,717 7.90%
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(i) 80,261,811 36,340,362*

1,754,052 42,167,397

Landmark Profits Limited

Easyknit Properties Holdings Limited

2,025,000

(ii) 2025 3 31

Magical Profits Limited

39 .43%

Accumulate More Profits Limited

Accumulate More Profits Limited

Delacroix Limited

The Magical 2000 Trust

Winterbotham Holdings Limited 60%

Christopher Geoffrey Douglas Hooper

Winterbotham Holdings Limited 99.99%

Markson International Holding Limited

40% Ivan Geoffrey Douglas Hooper

Markson International Holding Limited

99.99%

(iii) Easykn i t 

Properties Holdings Limited Magical 

Profits Limited

(iv) 2025 2 7 2025 3 28

2 2023 2 20

209,000,000

2023

(a) 2025 2 4

(b) 2023

2023

0.18 0.14

2023

70,000,000

0.14 500,000,000

57.40%

* 2021 7 2

2 2021 6 25 300,000,000

2023 7 19

300,000,000 7,500,000

2025 3 31 0.74%

Notes:

(i) In the 80,261,811 Shares, 36,340,362* Shares, 1,754,052 Shares and 42,167,397 

Shares were registered in the name of and beneficially owned by Ace Winner Investment 

Limited, Landmark Profits Limited and Goodco (which was wholly-owned by Easyknit 

Properties Holdings Limited) respectively, all of which were wholly-owned subsidiaries 

of Easyknit. 2,025,000 Shares were also beneficially owned by Easyknit.

(ii) As at 31 March 2025, to the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief 

having made all reasonable enquiries, Magical Profits Limited, which was interested in 

approximately 39.43% of the issued share capital of Easyknit, was wholly-owned by 

Accumulate More Profits Limited which in turn was wholly-owned by Delacroix Limited 

and beneficially owned by The Winterbotham Trust Company Limited as trustee of 

The Magical 2000 Trust. The Winterbotham Trust Company Limited was owned as to 

60% by Winterbotham Holdings Limited, which in turn was owned as to approximately 

99.99% by Mr. Christopher Geoffrey Douglas Hooper, and 40% by Markson 

International Holding Limited, which in turn was owned as to approximately 99.99% by 

Mr. Ivan Geoffrey Douglas Hooper, respectively.

(iii) Ms. Lui Yuk Chu, a Director, was also a director of Goodco, Easyknit Properties 

Holdings Limited, Easyknit and Magical Profits Limited and a substantial shareholder of 

Easyknit.

(iv) According to two Forms 2 filed on 7 February 2025 and 28 March 2025 by Easyknit, 

in respect of the 5% per annum coupon rate convertible note issued to Goodco by the 

Company on 20 February 2023 in the original principal amount of HK$209,000,000 

(the “2023 Convertible Note”), (a) upon completion of rights issue of the Company on 

4 February 2025; and (b) upon completion of partial redemptions of 2023 Convertible 

Note by the Company, the conversion price of the 2023 Convertible Note has been 

revised from HK$0.18 to HK$0.14 per conversion Share and the outstanding principal 

amount of 2023 Convertible Note has been reduced to HK$70,000,000 which is 

convertible into 500,000,000 Shares at an adjusted conversion price of HK$0.14 per 

conversion Share. Therefore, Easyknit’s shareholding interest in the Company has 

decreased to 57.40%.

* According to Form 2 filed on 2 July 2021 by Ace Winner Investment Limited, on 25 

June 2021, 300,000,000 Shares were pledged to Hang Seng Bank Limited. Upon 

completion of the capital reorganisation of the Company on 19 July 2023, the number 

of pledged Shares has reduced from 300,000,000 to 7,500,000 Shares, representing 

approximately 0.74% equity interest of total issued Shares as at 31 March 2025.
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Apart from Ms. Lui Yuk Chu, no Director was also a director or an employee 

of any substantial Shareholders. 

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Directors and the Chief 

Executive were not aware of any other persons (other than a Director or 

the Chief Executive) who had an interest or short position in the Shares and 

underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and 

the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of 

the SFO, or which were required to be recorded in the register kept by the 

Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party 

to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of 

acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body 

corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their spouses or children 

under the age of 18, was granted any right to subscribe for the equity or debt 

securities of the Company or any other body corporate nor had exercised any 

such right.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Interests of the Directors in competing businesses as at 31 March 2025 

required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules were as 

follows:

Name of Director Name of company Nature of competing business Nature of interest

    

Ms. Lui Yuk Chu Easyknit Property development, property 

 investment, investment in securities 

 and others and loan financing

Director of Easyknit and 

 substantial shareholder 

 of Easyknit

 

As the Board is independent of the board of Easyknit and maintains three 

independent non-executive Directors, the Group operates its businesses 

independently of, and at arm’s length from, the businesses of Easyknit.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed 

any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 March 2025.
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32

i 14A

ii 14A

178

77.4%

39.1%

38.7%

23.1%

5%

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions which were undertaken during the financial year 

in the normal course of business are set out in note 32 to the consolidated 

financial statements. For those related party transactions that constituted 

connected transactions or continuing connected transactions (as the 

case may be) under the Listing Rules, these transactions (if any) were (i) 

exempt from reporting, annual review, announcement and the independent 

Shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules; 

or (ii) handled in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Bye-law 178 of the Bye-laws provides that, among others, every Director and 

other officers of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out 

of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs, 

charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them shall or 

may incur sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted 

in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective 

offices and related matters provided that the indemnity shall not extend to any 

matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any of them. 

In this connection, the Company has arranged directors’ and officers’ liability 

insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the Company during the 

Year.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During the Year, the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for 

approximately 77.4% of the Group’s purchases and the largest supplier 

accounted for approximately 39.1% of the Group’s purchases.

During the Year, the five largest customers of the Group accounted for 

approximately 38.7% of the Group’s revenue and the largest customer 

accounted for approximately 23.1% of the Group’s revenue.

During the Year, none of the Directors and their respective close associates 

or any Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more 

than 5% of the Company’s issued Shares) have any interest in the five largest 

suppliers or customers of the Group.
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Edmund Tie 
& Company (SEA) Pte Ltd 

2024/2025
1,057,900,000 2024

1,250,443,000
28,700,000

PROPERTY VALUATION

Property valuations in respect of the Group’s investment properties in 
Hong Kong have been carried out by Vincorn Consulting and Appraisal 
Limited, an independent firm of qualified professional property valuers. 
For the investment property in Singapore, the valuation was carried out by 
Edmund Tie & Company (SEA) Pte Ltd, another independent firm of qualified 
professional property valuers. Their valuations were based on residual value 
approach, income capitalisation approach and/or direct comparison method 
as the valuation methodologies and were used in preparing 2024/2025 final 
results. The Group’s investment properties were valued at approximately 
HK$1,057,900,000 (2024: approximately HK$1,250,443,000). The decrease 
in fair value of approximately HK$28,700,000 was recognized in the 
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
for the financial year. Development properties and non-investment properties 
of the Group were stated at cost less impairment, if any, in these consolidated 
financial statements.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group is exposed to various risks in its businesses and operations. 
Through internal control systems and procedures, the Company has taken 
reasonable steps to ensure that significant risks are monitored and do not 
adversely affect the Group’s operations and performances. The relevant risks 
are managed on an ongoing basis. A non-exhaustive list of principal risks and 
uncertainties facing the Group is set out below.

Market Risk
The Group’s revenue is principally derived from Hong Kong. The conditions of 
the economy as a whole and the property market may have significant impact 
to the Group’s financial results and conditions.

Compliance Risk
The Group’s operations require compliance with local and overseas laws 
(including those of Bermuda and the British Virgin Islands) and regulations, 
including but not limited to property sale, management and construction as 
well as companies and securities laws. The Group has constantly monitored 
its compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant 
impact on the Group.

ACCOUNT OF KEY RELATIONSHIPS

The Group adheres to the standards of business ethics, this underpins how 
we conduct business with our customers, suppliers and contractors.

Employees
The Group value its employees who are the Group’s most important assets. 
Staff are rewarded with competitive remuneration packages and benefits. The 
Group is committed to fostering a conducive, harmonious and discrimination-
free working environment.
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Occupational health and safety is the top priority across the Group’s 

operations. Safety guidelines are established to safeguard the employees 

from any occupational hazards.

Customers

The Group strive to provide high quality and reliable services to its customers. 

The privacy of the Group’s customers are well protected through a privacy 

policy. Any complaints from customers are handled and investigated in a 

thorough and efficient manner.

Suppliers

The Group is committed to forging collaborative partnership with its suppliers 

and have a database of approved suppliers and vendors who are assessed 

on a regular basis.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments policy of employees of the Group is set up by the executive 

Directors on the basis of employee performance, experience and prevailing 

industry practice.

The emolument of the Directors is determined by the Board after review and 

on the recommendation of the Remuneration Committee, having regard to 

factors such as the time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors, the 

Company’s performance and the prevailing market practice.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws although 

there are no restrictions against such rights under the laws in Bermuda where 

the Company is incorporated.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within 

the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient 

public float of more than 25% of the Company’s issued Shares as required 

under the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 March 2025 and as at the date 

of this annual report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) in compliance 
with the requirement of the Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code 
as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The principal responsibilities of 
the Audit Committee is to review and supervise the financial reporting process 
and risk management and internal control systems of the Group. The Audit 
Committee comprises all three independent non-executive Directors as at 31 
March 2025. The Audit Committee has met in person or by electronic means 
the Group’s auditor, Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, and has reviewed 
the audited consolidated financial statements, and risk management and 
internal control systems of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the 
“CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT” from pages 30 to 49 of this annual 
report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company (or “we” or “our”) has prepared an annual environmental, 
social and governance (“ESG”) report for 2024/2025 in compliance with 
the ESG Reporting Code set out in Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules. This 
section highlights the ESG policies and performance of the Group for the 
year ended 31 March 2025. The Company is committed to addressing 
sustainability issues and managing ESG risks through prudent business 
planning and operational implementation. The Board, assisted by the 
management of the Company, has the overall responsibility to review policies, 
oversee sustainability issues and address ESG-related risks. Through this 
internal sustainability governance framework, the Board has developed and 
formulated relevant policies which better align with the Group’s business 
goals and objectives.

Discussion on Environmental Performance
The Group is devoted to the integration of corporate social responsibility 
(“CSR”) into our day-to-day business operations to create long-term positive 
value and contribute to a better future for the community while minimization of 
its operational environmental footprint is resulted. We have focused our efforts 
on environmental stewardship, energy efficiency, resource management 
and cultivation of environmental awareness amongst employees. We remain 
attentive to different energy-saving opportunities and adopt hardware 
upgrades to improve our energy efficiency with a comprehensive approach 
to waste and resource  management, our goal is to create a paperless office 
to minimize our paper usage. Apart from undertaking hardware upgrades 
to further enhance the energy performance of existing infrastructure, we 
apply new technologies to our new properties, including the installation of 
low emissivity or double-glazed windows which help reduce heat loss and 
optimise thermal insulation. Furthermore, we work hard to ensure waste 
materials and other useful resources are reused, recovered and recycled 
whenever possible before the consideration of landfill disposal.
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Account of Key Relationships with Employees, Customers and 

Suppliers

Employees

We make great efforts to create a supportive, inclusive, caring and safe 

work environment which facilitates professional development and protects 

the health, safety and well-being of our employees. We emphasize on equal 

opportunities, and a fair and transparent recruitment process. We reward 

our employees with attractive remuneration packages and benefits, which 

reference industry standards, and are commensurate with individual merit, 

work experience, qualifications and job duties. Tailor-made functional training 

programmes were arranged for our employees to keep abreast with the latest 

professional knowledge and skills. Additionally, we have set safety guidelines 

and systems to protect our employees and minimize potential occupational 

hazards across our operations.

To ensure all staff understand their responsibility to uphold the Group’s ethical 

standards, the employees handbook of the Group specifies clear expectations 

for professional conduct. All relevant anti-discrimination and personal data 

protection regulations are strictly observed.

In support of continual learning and development, the Group encourages 

our employees to pursue different interests and offers internal and external 

opportunities to realise their full potential. We continue to provide internal and 

external training opportunities such as seminars and training courses in order 

to strengthen our workforce and stock our talent pipeline.

We ensure our work environments are free from any potential occupational 

health and safety hazards, our internal safety guidelines were formulated 

in accordance with the requirements set out by the Labour Department to 

minimise risks. During the Year, we fully complied with all relevant health and 

safety regulations and we are pleased to report that there were no work-

related fatalities or lost days due to work injury.

Customers, Suppliers and Subcontractors

The Group has put in place stringent mechanisms and procedures on quality 

assurance, customer service, health and safety requirements, procurement 

procedures, and regulatory compliance. Our management approach stresses 

control measures to ensure our stringent requirements are met, in cases 

where quality concerns may arise, a thorough investigation will be carried out 

and corrective actions will be promptly implemented. A complaint-handling 

mechanism has been formulated to ensure we handle customer complaints in 

a consistent and timely manner.

To promote corporate responsibility along our supply chain, we give 

performance to businesses who share our sustainable practices and ethical 

standards. Regular supplier assessments and audits are conducted to ensure 

their compliance with our requirements.



Directors’ Report

63高山企業有限公司   2024/2025 年報

2025 3 31

65

85

 – 
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5,000,000

1488

0.32% (ii) 2025 5 16

12,000,000

0.76%

17,010,000

1.00

2025 5

16

2023

2025 6 4

2023

2023

0.14

0.07

28.05

28.05

2025 6 4

Operating as a responsible business operator, we strictly adhere to all 

relevant data privacy regulations and maintain a high level of business ethics 

and product responsibility. The Group’s privacy policy is established in 

accordance with local regulations to ensure that all personal data are handled 

in strict confidence.

Compliance Status with Relevant Laws and Regulations that have a 

Significant Impact on the Business

During the Year, there were no reported cases of non-compliance with 

relevant laws and regulations that have had a significant impact on the 

Group’s businesses regarding the environment, employment, occupational 

health and safety, labour standards, product responsibility, anti-corruption, 

data privacy and intellectual properties. 

The ESG policies and performance of the Company for the year ended 

31 March 2025 are set out in the “ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 

GOVERNANCE REPORT” from pages 65 to 85 of this annual report.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

Discloseable Transaction – Disposals of Listed Securities

On 16 May 2025, the Group disposed (i) in a series of transactions for a total 

of 5,000,000 shares in Best Food Holding Company Limited (“Best Food 

Share(s)”) which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock 

code: 1488), representing approximately 0.32% of the total issued Best 

Food Shares, on the open market on 2 May 2025 and 6 May 2025; and (ii) 

12,000,000 Best Food Shares (representing approximately 0.76% of the total 

issued Best Food Shares) by way of cross trade to a buyer on 16 May 2025 

with a gross sales proceeds of approximately HK$17,010,000 (exclusive 

of expenses) (equivalent to an average price of approximately HK$1.00 

per disposed Best Food Share). Further information can be found in the 

Company’s announcement dated 16 May 2025.

Amendment to 2023 Convertible Note

On 4 June 2025, after trading hours, the Company entered into a second 

deed of amendment with the holder of 2023 Convertible Note pursuant to 

which both parties conditionally agreed to amend the conversion price of the 

2023 Convertible Note from HK$0.14 per conversion share to HK$0.07 per 

conversion share. Pursuant to Rule 28.05 of the Listing Rules, any alterations 

in the terms of convertible debt securities after issue must be approved by 

the Stock Exchange, except where the alterations take effect automatically 

under the existing terms of such convertible debt securities. As a result, the 

Company applied for the approval of the Stock Exchange for the aforesaid 

amendment pursuant to Rule 28.05 of the Listing Rules. Further information 

can be found in the Company’s announcement dated 4 June 2025.
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AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 were audited 

by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. A resolution will be proposed at the 

forthcoming AGM to re-appoint them as the auditor of the Company.

The Company’s auditor has not changed for the past three years.

By order of the Board

Lai Law Kau

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025

In case of any inconsistency, the English version of this annual report shall 
prevail over the Chinese version.
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OVERVIEW

This annual environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) report (the “ESG 

Report”) provides an overview of the management approach as well as 

sustainability initiatives and performance of Eminence Enterprise Limited 

(“Eminence”, “we” or “our”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) 

for the reporting period from 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025 (the “Year”). 

The ESG Report was reviewed and approved by the board of directors of 

Eminence (the “Board”) on 27 June 2025.

1. REPORTING STANDARD AND SCOPE

The ESG Report was prepared in accordance with the mandatory 

disclosure requirements and “comply or explain” code provisions of the 

ESG Reporting Code (the “ESG Code”) set out in Appendix C2 to the 

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of 

Hong Kong Limited (the “HKEx”).

Unless otherwise specified, the reporting scope for the Year remained 

the same as last year. The scope of the ESG Report covered the core 

businesses of the Group, including property development, property 

investment (comprising ownership and rental of investment properties), 

investment in securities and others and loan financing business.

For a full list of ESG aspects, respective key performance indicators 

(“KPIs”) and their references within the ESG Report, an ESG Code 

content index is included on pages 77 to 85 of the ESG Report.
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Reporting Principles

Materiality Material ESG issues were identified and prioritized with the Group’s stakeholders for 

disclosure.

Quantitative The Group accounted for and disclosed KPIs in quantitative terms for proper evaluation 

of effectiveness of ESG policies and actions.

Consistency The Group adopted consistent measurement methodology to achieve meaningful 

comparison of ESG performances over time whenever practicable with updates 

disclosure.

Balance The ESG Report aimed to disclose data in an objective way in order to provide the 

Group’s stakeholders with a balanced overview of the overall ESG performances.

Stakeholder Engagement

Stakeholder engagement is an integral part of the Group’s sustainable 

development and business operations. The Group values and 

cherishes the valuable opinions of our key stakeholders. To better 

understand the expectations and suggestions of various stakeholders, 

we maintain close communication through diverse channels with key 

stakeholders, including employees, customers, shareholders, suppliers, 

business partners, government authorities and regulatory bodies. By 

continuously receiving their feedback on the Group, we are able to 

constantly review and optimize our operational performance.
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Key Stakeholders Communication Channels

Employees • New hire orientation
 
• Regular performance reviews
 
• Remuneration and benefits
 
• Meetings and discussions
 
• Training programmes, seminars/webinars and briefings
 
• Internal emails and publications
 
• Employee activities
 

Customers • Company website
 
• Property sales activities
 
• Property management 
 

Suppliers and business partners • Quotation and tendering processes
 
• Screening and assessments
 
• Site inspections, business meetings and work reviews
 

Investors and shareholders • Annual and interim reports
 
• General meetings
 
• Announcements and circulars
 
• Company website
 

Government authorities and 
 regulatory bodies

• Consultations
 
• Laws, regulations and practices
 
• Seminars/webinars
 

Community • Community investment
 
• Donations and sponsorships
 
• Social contribution
 

Media • Press releases
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Materiality Assessment

In the preparation for the ESG Report, the Group conducted a 

materiality review to identify and prioritize a list of material ESG issues 

for disclosures by following a three (3)-step process as below:

Step 1
第一步

Step 2
第二步

Step 3
第三步

Issue Identi�cation 識別議題
• Reviewed ESG disclosures of industry peers to identify common disclosure practices.
• 審閱同業公司的環境、社會及管治披露事項，以識別常見的披露慣例。

Analysis and Prioritization 分析並確定優次排列
• Consolidated and analyzed the results of the peer benchmarking exercise to develop a 

prioritized list of ESG issues of varying materiality levels for con�rmation.
• 綜合並分析同業公司基準測試的結果，以制定一系列不同重要性級別的環境、社會及管治
 事宜的優次排列以供確認。

Results Validation 確認結果
• Revised and validated  a �nalized list of material ESG issues and KPIs for disclosures.
• 修訂及確認一系列最終重要的環境、社會及管治事宜及關鍵績效指標的列表作為披露事項。

( 3 )
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2. 

3. 

3.1 

1

1 

311

354

2. CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

At Eminence, corporate social responsibility (“CSR”) is an integral part 

of our business operations. As part of our CSR philosophy, we are 

committed to creating long-term positive value for our stakeholders and 

the community where we operate while minimizing the environmental 

footprint associated with our operations.

Over the past years, we have continuously strived to maintain 

sound governance practices, cultivate a sustainable and resilient 

workforce, and engage actively in different community programmes. 

A comprehensive framework is a foundation for effective ESG 

management, ensuring compliance with the relevant laws and 

regulations within an organization.

The Board oversees our ESG performance and regularly reviews the 

Group’s CSR policy which sets out its long-term sustainability goals. 

The Board is responsible for identifying, evaluating, prioritizing and 

managing material ESG issues related to the Group’s operations and 

risks, and the overall ESG strategy and reporting. The effectiveness 

of ESG-related measures and the progress made against targets 

are reviewed by the Board in its meeting(s). Meanwhile, the audit 

committee of Eminence at the board-level is responsible for reviewing 

the risk management and internal control framework.

3. OUR ENVIRONMENT

3.1 Introduction

Throughout our operations, Eminence has consistently 

demonstrated our commitment to responsible environmental 

management. Our internal policy identifies and outlines our 

approach to environmental conservation with a focus on 

environmental stewardship, energy efficiency, emission reduction 

and cultivating internal environmental awareness on natural 

resources protection.

During the Year, there were no non-compliance cases relating 

to all applicable legal and regulatory requirements1 regarding air 

and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, 

and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

1 including but not limited to the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 

311 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Waste Disposal Ordinance 

(Chapter 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
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3.2 Energy Consumption and Emissions
As energy consumption in our managed properties and office 
premises represents a relatively significant proportion of our 
carbon footprint, we remain attentive to different energy-
saving opportunities and adopt hardware upgrades to improve 
our energy performance over time. In the future, we target to 
continuously reduce emissions and energy consumption by 
implementing several energy-saving measures and initiatives in 
our daily operations. Aside from our ongoing energy-efficient 
LED light fixture replacement programme, we adopted automatic 
motion sensors and switch-off timers at our properties to avoid 
unnecessary energy consumption, save electricity expenses 
and reduce greenhouse gas emissions. We also adopted air-
conditioning zoning to maintain a controlled indoor temperature 
and turned off electronic appliances when not in use to ensure 
both energy efficiency and comfort in the working environment. 
We have been introducing low emissivity or double-glazed 
windows to our new property projects which helps reduce heat 
loss and optimize thermal insulation. We conducted video and/or 
telephone conferences to maintain the business communications 
smoothly so as to control the energy use and reduce greenhouse 
gas emissions. The Group will continue to promote a “green 
office” and adopt a set of environmental protection and energy-
saving measures to minimize its environmental impacts.

3.3 Waste and Resource Management
As an integral part of our environmental stewardship, Eminence 
has a comprehensive approach to waste and resource 
management. Our goal is to follow the “3R” (Reduce, Reuse and 
Recycle) principle to minimize the environmental  influence in 
managing non-hazardous wastes in our operational practices, 
and to create a paperless office where electronic communication 
and document sharing are widely promoted. As such, we 
use recycled and Forest Stewardship Council certified paper, 
encourage employees to practice double-sided printing and 
reuse paper whenever possible when a hardcopy is necessary. 
We have likewise installed recycling collection points at all our 
major properties, and we encourage employees to separate 
recyclables like paper, glass, aluminum and plastic.

The Group had no issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose 
considering our business nature and geographical locations.
We have put in place various water-saving measures to manage 
our water use efficiently, as to achieve the goal of reducing 
water consumption. We have installed sensor water taps, flow 
restrictors, and dual flush toilets at our managed properties and 
office buildings along with regular inspections of pipes. To further 
reinforce our efforts, we conduct staff awareness programs 
on responsible water use, promoting simple but impactful 
habits such as turning off taps when not in use and minimizing 
unnecessary flushing. Where feasible, we have also replaced live 
plants with decorative alternatives to reduce irrigation needs.

3.2 

3.3 

3R
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3.4 

3.5 

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

(d) 
/

3.4 Cultivating Environmental Awareness
Despite our business does not have a significant environmental 
impact, we remain committed to practice environmental 
protection. We believe driving positive behavioural change is 
conducive to a sustainable future. To build a lasting green culture 
within the Group, we have implemented internal environmental 
policies and programmes at our office and properties, which 
serve as practical guidance for staff on energy conservation, 
waste reduction and resource management. For instance, 
internal signs and notices have been posted in common areas 
and washrooms to encourage responsible consumption of 
energy, water, paper and other resources. We give preference to 
office electronics and light tubes with high energy efficiency.

In the near future, we will keep striving to work towards creating 
an environmentally friendly culture at work.

3.5 Climate Change
Climate change, in particular brought by extreme weather 
conditions due  to global warming, remains a global challenge 
and poses material climate-related risks to the Group’s business 
operations. To address the climate-related impacts and risks 
caused by typhoons, rainstorms and/or floods to our business 
operations, we have been adopting different strategies to 
enhance our governance and improve our resilience to climate 
change. In terms of risk management, we have identified the 
climate-related risks as follows:

Climate-related risks Impacts to our operations

  

Hurricane and other extreme 
weather events

Possible damages to the physical properties and building structure, and disruption 
of utilities supply which may lead to loss in business and revenue.

Change in long-term rainfall 
pattern

Possible damages to the building facilities and structure, and an increase to the 
building operation and maintenance costs.

In terms of precautionary measures to minimize the potential 
damages related to the risks:

(a) Display typhoon signals in an obvious location of the 
buildings.

(b) Remind tenants to shut the windows and lock the doors 
securely.

(c) Inspect the pumping system and remove any blockage of 
drainage outlets and channels.

(d) Ensure routine inspection and/or maintenance on 
buildings and facilities.
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4. 

4.1 

4.2 

 

485

The Group is determined to mitigate the impact of climate 
change on the operations and will constantly review the policy to 
improve the measures and disclosures.

4. OUR PEOPLE

4.1 Introduction
Our business success depends on the dedication of our 
employees. In this regard, we make great efforts to create 
an inclusive and supportive work environment that facilitates 
professional development and protects the health, safety and 
well-being of all employees.

4.2 Caring Company
In addition to providing equal employment opportunities, we 
also ensure our employees receive fair treatment throughout 
the employment process, including recruitment, promotion, 
compensation, dismissal, training and development, regardless 
of nationality, race, religion, gender, disability, age or any other 
basis prohibited by law.

To safeguard and protect human rights, the employment of child 
and forced labour is strictly prohibited within the Group and 
throughout our supply chain. During the recruitment process, the 
Group takes measures (such as background screening, age and 
identity verification) to prevent the employment of child labour 
and forced labour. Immediate action will be taken according 
to the relevant laws and regulations and investigation will be 
conducted if any child or forced labour is found.

Employees are the most important assets for every company. 
In addition to the mandatory provident fund contributions to 
the employees required under the Mandatory Provident Fund 
Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong),  
our competitive remuneration packages include fringe benefits, 
medical health and dental insurance and a range of leave 
entitlements and overtime compensation to attract and retain 
talents. Our human resources department is responsible for 
conducting annual performance appraisals and determining the 
promotion arrangements and salary increments. We encourage 
employees to maintain a work life balance and regular staff 
engagements and activities such as weekly breakfasts, festive 
gifts and lucky draws (that is Christmas, Chinese New Year, 
Tuen Ng Festival and Mid-Autumn Festival), fitness classes were 
arranged for our staff, contributing immensely to the sense of 
belonging and cohesion within the Group. To enable employees 
to share festive joy with their families, early leave for celebration 
is provided on Chinese New Year’s Eve, Mid-Autumn Festival, 
Christmas Eve, Winter Solstice and New Year’s Eve. High levels 
of employee engagement promote retention of talent, foster their 
loyalty and improve organizational performance.
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608

57

57B

4.3 

509

There were no non-compliance cases reported during the Year 

regarding compensation, dismissal, recruitment, working hours, 

rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, 

welfare and relevant legislation, including but not limited to the 

Minimum Wage Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the Laws of Hong 

Kong), Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong 

Kong) and Employment of Children Regulations (Chapter 57B of 

the Laws of Hong Kong).

4.3 Occupational Health and Safety

The Group puts efforts into providing our employees with a 

safe and healthy working environment. Our health and safety 

guidelines and systems are designed to protect employees and 

minimize potential occupational hazards in accordance with 

the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of 

the Laws of Hong Kong). As part of our emergency protocol, 

standard procedures were established to deal with extreme 

weather situations, such as typhoons and rainstorm warnings. 

At our office premises, apart from conducting regular fire drills, 

pest control and carpet cleaning, we ensure a clear indication 

of emergency evacuation routes which are unobstructed at 

all times. Similar control measures have been put in place at 

our managed properties alongside regular inspections of the 

firefighting system, including sprinklers and smoke detectors. 

During the Year, we conducted cleaning of water tower air-

conditioning systems and split-typed air-conditioners, and the 

Group has remained committed to putting health and safety of 

our employees as the priority by ensuring workplace sanitizing 

measures by installing air purifiers in offices which effectively 

eliminate virus to safeguard our employees.

During the Year, there were no reported incidents of non-

compliance with applicable occupational health and safety laws 

and regulations that significantly impacted the Group.
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4.4 

4.5 

201

163

615

(i)

(ii)

4.4 Development and Training

Equipping staff with up-to-date industry trends, knowledge 

and the right skill sets is essential for a business to succeed 

in an ever-changing environment. We tailor functional training 

programmes to meet the needs of our employees across 

different departments and at various career stages. Furthermore, 

we support our staff’s participation in different forms of 

external training, including courses, seminar and workshops to 

enhance their professional knowledge, practical skills as well as 

confidence in their abilities and continuous career development. 

For instance, we have provided training courses to develop 

and refresh the employees’ knowledge and skills in using our 

accounting system.

4.5 Business Ethics

The Group adheres to the highest ethical standards and is 

accountable in all aspects of its operations and has zero-

tolerance for any form of bribery, corruption or malpractice. The 

Employee’s Handbook outlines our expectations for responsible 

business conduct for all our employees. Our staff is also required 

to comply with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 

201 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Money Lenders Ordinance 

(Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Anti-Money 

Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance (Chapter 

615 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

Eminence has provided guidelines to regulate work ethics of the 

Group’s employees and to prevent and detect activities related 

to money-laundering and terrorist financing to ensure compliance 

with relevant laws and regulations and help detecting and 

reporting suspicious activities, including the predicate offences 

of corruption, extortion, fraud, financial crimes, money laundering 

and terrorist financing, such as securities fraud and market 

manipulation.

During the Year, we provided trainings on anti-corruption policy 

for all directors and employees by (i) online seminars organized 

by regulatory and professional bodies and (ii) reading articles and 

materials in respect of regulatory updates.
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5. 

5.1 

5.2 

 

Our whistleblowing channel allows notifications to the Group of 

irregularities of a financial and accounting nature, in addition to 

potential breaches of the code of conduct and unlawful activities 

undertaken in the organization. Whistleblowing complaints 

are investigated thoroughly and treated in strict confidence by 

designated personnel, so whistleblowers can voice concerns 

without fear of reprisal. Whistleblowers will be assured of 

fair treatment including protection against unfair dismissal 

and victimization and their identities will be kept confidential.  

Eminence has adopted the anti-corruption policy and the 

whistleblowing policy; and there were no confirmed cases of 

non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations relating to 

corruption during the Year.

5. OUR VALUE CHAIN

5.1 Supply Chain Management

In l ine with our supply chain management approach, we 

give preference to businesses who share our commitments 

to sustainable practices and ethical standards. A variety of 

factors is considered in the selection process, including but not 

limited to supplier reputation and experience, as well as past 

performance and record with that supplier. Suppliers who have 

obtained reputable environmental-related certifications, use 

environmentally friendly products and services are preferred. 

Before engagement, the Group reviews company information, 

including but not limited to examining their business licences, 

business and product and other materials. To properly manage 

risks, including ESG-related risks, arising from our supply chain, 

we closely monitor supplier performance and conduct regular 

supplier assessments and audits to ensure their compliance with 

our requirements. Suppliers who fail to deliver the committed 

quality are subject to a series of inspections and reviews. This 

holistic approach also enables us to build effective long-term 

relationships with our business partners and suppliers. During 

the Year, all major suppliers were reviewed and evaluated.

5.2 Responsible Services

We have put in place stringent mechanisms and procedures 

which provide our employees with the guiding principles in 

relation to quality assurance, customer service and privacy. For 

instance, to ensure the product quality, we have established 

assurance procedures and conducted checks. Also, we have 

formulated a complaint handling mechanism to handle and 

address customer concerns in a consistent and timely manner.
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486
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6. 

780,000

Moreover, we strive to ensure the confidentiality of personal data 

and information collected from our customers. We have set out 

clear privacy guidelines and procedures covering the use and 

management of data and information in accordance with the 

relevant regulatory requirements, including but not limited to the 

Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the Laws of 

Hong Kong). Only authorized personnel are allowed to access 

customer data on a need-to-know and need-to-use basis. 

Documents containing personal information would be shredded 

before discard.

Intellectual property is an essential asset to the Group. Eminence 

protects its intellectual property by using copyrights, trademarks, 

confidential information, and other applicable forms of legal 

protection. We also work closely with law firms to regularly renew 

and protect our copyrights and trademarks in accordance with 

the requirements of the Copyright Ordinance (Chapter 528 of the 

Laws of Hong Kong). The Group raises employees’ awareness 

of intellectual property protection through work practice.

During the Year, there were no complaint and non-compliance 

cases relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling, privacy, 

copyrights and trademarks matters relating to products and 

services provided and methods of redress.

6. OUR COMMUNITY

Eminence is committed to contributing positively to the community 

where we locate and operate as well as all around the world. We 

have developed long-term partnerships with charitable organizations 

and offered financial and in-kind donations, with special focuses on 

education, health and social welfare to fulfill citizen responsibilities.

During the Year, the Group contributed over HK$780 thousand in 

community investment, supporting non-profit organizations from areas 

of local education, health and social welfare, including  Principal Chan 

Free Tutorial World Limited who provides completely free learning 

support to disadvantaged students facing financial difficulties; J 

Life Foundation Limited who offers immediate food assistance and 

education to underprivileged families living below the poverty line; and 

the Global Chinese Breast Cancer Organizations Alliance Limited who 

is dedicated to serving and supporting breast cancer patients.
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7. HKEX KPI DATA TABLE

FY 2024/25 FY 2023/24 FY 2022/23

HKEx KPI Unit 2024 25 2023 24 2022 23

A. Environmental 
A. 

A1.1 Air emissions

Nitrogen oxides (NOx) Kg 4.57 5.83 5.93

Sulphur oxides (SOx) Kg 0.12 0.15 0.15

Particulate matter (PM) Kg 0.34 0.43 0.44

A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and intensity

Scope 1 emission
1

Tonnes of CO2e 20.97 186.95 187.52

Scope 2 emission
2

Tonnes of CO2e 59.98 56.89 93.82

Scope 3 emissiona

3 a

Tonnes of CO2e 0.39 1.40 1.64

– In total 
– 

Tonnes of CO2e 81.34 243.84 282.98

– By intensity
– 

Tonnes of CO2e/FTE 2.09 6.10 7.45

A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and intensity

Concrete and metal Tonne 6.21 not applicable 1,705.60

Waste paper Tonne 0.67 0.94 0.89

Recycled concrete and metal Tonne not applicable 7.82 907.95

Disposed materials, metal and general 
 refuse in landfill

 

Tonne 982.56 10,375.77 2,300.70

– Total amount of waste generated
– 

Tonne 989.44 10,384.53 4,915.14

– By intensity
– 

Tonne/FTE 25.37 259.61 129.35

a We take into account the greenhouse gas emissions for processing fresh water by 

government departments.

a 

7. 
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FY 2024/25 FY 2023/24 FY 2022/23

HKEx KPI Unit 2024 25 2023 24 2022 23

A2.1 Energy consumption by type and intensity

Direct energy consumption 

– In total
– 

’000 kWh 71.80 91.71 93.66

Indirect energy consumption 

– In total
– 

’000 kWh 153.81 145.88 209.55

Total energy consumption

– In total 
– 

’000 kWh 225.61 237.59 303.21

– By intensity
– 

’000 kWh/FTE 5.78 5.94 7.98

A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity

Water consumption

– In total
– 

m3 1,542 3,227 7,804

– By intensity
– 

m3/FTE 39.54 80.68 205.37
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HKEx KPI Unit FY 2024/25 FY 2023/24 FY 2022/23

2024 25 2023 24 2022 23

B. Social
B. 

B1.1 Total workforce by gender and 
employment type 

Male Female Male Female Male Female

Full-time Number of people 18 21 20 20 18 20

Part-time Number of people 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total workforce by age group and 
geographical region

Under 
30

30

30–50

30
50

Above 
50

50

Under 
30

30

30–50

30
50

Above 
50

50

Under 
30

30

30–50

30
50

Above 
50

50

Hong Kong Number of people 1 19 17 0 20 17 0 17 18

The PRC Number of people 0 1 1 0 1 2 1 0 2

B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender Male Female Male Female Male Female

– By rate
– 

% 16.67 19.05 25.00 35.00 22.00 5.00

Employee turnover rate by age group Under 30
30

30–50
30
50

Above 50
50

Under 30
30

30–50
30
50

Above 50
50

Under 30
30

30–50
30
50

Above 50
50

– By rate
– 

% 0.00 10.00 27.78 0.00 42.86 15.79 0.00 5.00 8.00

Employee turnover rate by geographical 
region

Hong Kong The PRC Hong Kong The PRC Hong Kong The PRC

– By rate
– 

% 13.51 100.00 32.43 0.00 13.00 0.00

B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities

– By number
– 

Number of people 0 0 0

– By rate
– 

% 0.00 0.00 0.00

B2.2 Lost days due to work injury

Lost days % 0 0 0
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HKEx KPI Unit FY 2024/25 FY 2023/24 FY 2022/23

2024 25 2023 24 2022 23

B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category

Male % 27.78 35.00 44.44

Female % 28.57 35.00 35.00

Junior staff % 12.00 26.67 23.53

Middle managers % 44.44 11.76 23.08

Senior managers % 80.00 100.00 100.00

B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee category

Male Number of hours 3.67 6.25 4.75

Female Number of hours 3.95 5.95 4.46

Junior staff Number of hours 0.72 3.00 0.71

Middle managers Number of hours 7.67 1.53 1.54

Senior managers Number of hours 12.40 21.63 17.84

B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region

Hong Kong Number of suppliers 122 110 35

The PRC Number of suppliers 0 0 4

Singapore Number of suppliers 4 8 1

B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received

Number of complaints 0 0 0

B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the company

Number of cases 0 0 0

B8.2 Resources contributed

Donations (HK$’000) 780 1,154 1,322
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8. 8.  HKEX ESG REPORTING CODE CONTENT INDEX

Aspect

HKEx 

KPI Description Page(s)/Remarks

A. Environmental

A. 

A1 

Emissions

A1 General disclosure 69-70

A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data 77

A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse 

gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity 

(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility)

1 2

77

A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where 

appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, 

per facility)

Due to the business 

nature of the 

Group, this KPI 

is considered not 

applicable.

A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, 

where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production 

volume, per facility)

77

A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to 

achieve them

70

A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes 

are handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and 

steps taken to achieve them

70
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Aspect

HKEx 

KPI Description Page(s)/Remarks

A2 

Use of Resources

A2 General disclosure 69-70

A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total 

and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility)

78

A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of 

production volume, per facility)

78

A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps 

taken to achieve them

70

A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water 

that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and 

steps taken to achieve them

70

A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products 

(in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit 

produced

Due to the business 

nature of the 

Group, this KPI 

is considered not 

applicable.

A3

The Environment and 

Natural Resources

A3 General disclosure 71

A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the 

environment and natural resources and the actions taken to 

manage them

71

A4

Climate Change

A4 General disclosure 71

A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which 

have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, 

and the actions taken to manage them

71-72
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Aspect

HKEx 

KPI Description Page(s)/Remarks

B. Social

B. 

B1 

Employment

B1 General disclosure 72-73

B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (e.g. full-time 

or part-time), age group and geographical region

79

B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and 

geographical region

79

B2 

Health and Safety

B2 General disclosure 73

B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each 

of the past three years including the reporting year

79

B2.2 Lost days due to work injury 79

B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures 

adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored 

73

B3 

Development and 

Training

B3 General disclosure 74

B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and 

employee category (e.g. senior management, middle 

management)

80

B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by 

gender and employee category

80
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Aspect

HKEx 

KPI Description Page(s)/Remarks

B4

Labour Standards

B4 General disclosure 72

B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to 

avoid child and forced labour

72

B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when 

discovered

72

B5 

Supply Chain 

Management

B5 General disclosure 75

B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region 80

B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, 

number of suppliers where the practices are being 

implemented, and how they are implemented and 

monitored

75

B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental 

and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are 

implemented and monitored

75

B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally 

preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, 

and how they are implemented and monitored

75
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Aspect

HKEx 

KPI Description Page(s)/Remarks

B6

Product Responsibility

B6 General disclosure 75-76

B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to 

recalls for safety and health reasons

Due to the business 

nature of the 

Group, this KPI 

is considered not 

applicable.

B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints 

received and how they are dealt with

75, 80

B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting 

intellectual property rights

76

B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall 

procedures

75

B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy 

policies, and how they are implemented and monitored

76

B7 

Anti-corruption

B7 General disclosure 74-75

B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt 

practices brought against the issuer or its employees during 

the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases

75, 80

B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing 

procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored

75

B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors 

and staff

74

B8 

Community Investment

B8 General disclosure 76

B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental 

concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport)

76

B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus 

area

80
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TO THE MEMBERS OF EMINENCE ENTERPRISE LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Eminence 

Enterprise Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to 

as the “Group”) set out on pages 92 to 209, which comprise the consolidated 

statement of financial position as at 31 March 2025, and the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated 

statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows 

for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, 

including material accounting policy information and other explanatory 

information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view 

of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2025, and 

of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for 

the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as 

issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) 

and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure 

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on 

Auditing (“HKSAs”) as issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 

the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We 

are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of 

Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), as applicable to audits of 

financial statements of public interest entities. We have also fulfilled our other 

ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit 

evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were 

of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements 

of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 

audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

92 209

2025 3 31
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of investment properties

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key 

audit matter due to the significance of the balance to the 

consolidated financial statements as a whole, combined with 

the estimations and assumptions made by management of the 

Group in determining the fair value.

 

At 31 March 2025, the fair value of investment properties was 

approximately HK$1,058 million with a fair value loss recognised 

in profit or loss of approximately HK$29 million.

2025 3 31 1,058,000,000

29,000,000

The Group’s investment properties are stated at fair value based 

on valuations performed by an independent firm of qualified 

professional property valuer (the “Valuer”). Details of the 

valuation techniques and key inputs used in the valuations are 

disclosed in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

17

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment 

properties included:

• Obtaining an understanding from the Valuer and 

management o f the Group about the va luat ion 

techniques, key inputs and data used in the valuations;

  

• Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of 

the Valuer;

 

• Assessing the accuracy of information provided by 

management of the Group to the Valuer by comparing, 

on a sample basis, details of rentals to the respective 

underlying existing lease agreements; and

 

 

• Assessing reasonableness of key inputs used by the 

Valuer and management of the Group by comparing 

relevant market information of similar properties.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Assessment of net realisable value of properties held for 

development for sale (“PUD”) and properties held for sale 

(“PHS”)

We identified the assessment of the net realisable value of 

PUD and PHS as a key audit matter due to the significance 

of the balance to the consolidated financial statements as a 

whole, combined with the estimations and assumptions made 

by management of the Group in determining the net realisable 

value.

 

The Group’s PUD and PHS were stated at the lower of cost 

and net realisable value. The estimates of net realisable value 

are determined based on best available information and with 

reference to valuations made, less the estimated costs to 

completion and costs necessary to make the sales, if applicable. 

The selling prices are estimated by reference to the market 

prices of similar properties in prevailing market environment with 

adjustments to reflect different locations or conditions for the 

properties. The costs to completion of the PUD are estimated 

by reference to the development budget, actual development 

cost of similar completed properties with adjustments based on 

current market data.

At 31 March 2025, the carrying amounts of PUD and PHS were 

approximately HK$1,847 million and HK$1,713 million, with 

impairment loss on PUD and PHS recognised in profit or loss 

of approximately HK$129 million and HK$20 million during the 

year ended 31 March 2025, respectively.

2025 3 31

1,847,000,000 1,713,000,000 2025

3 31

129,000,000 20,000,000

Our procedures in relation to the net realisable value of PUD 

and PHS included:

• Obtaining an understanding from the Valuer and 

management o f the Group about the va luat ion 

techniques, key inputs and data used in the valuations;

  

• Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of 

the Valuer;

 

• Assessing, on a sample basis, the reasonableness 

and appropriateness of the management’s estimated 

costs of completion by reviewing terms and conditions 

of the signed construction contracts, inspecting the 

contract sum and budget information, and assessing 

the appropriateness of changes in the estimated costs 

of completion by inspecting the supporting documents 

including signed construction contracts and certificates; 

and

 

• Assessing reasonableness of key inputs used by the 

Valuer and management of the Group by comparing 

relevant market information of similar properties.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The 

other information comprises the information included in the annual report, 

but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s 

report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other 

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our 

responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider 

whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 

financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 

appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, 

we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 

we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED 
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the 

consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance 

with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA and the 

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for 

such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 

preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are 

responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, 

disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to 

liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but 

to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s 

financial reporting process.
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• 

• 
 

• 

• 

 

 

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 
90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not 
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the 
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made 
by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going 
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to 
cease to continue as a going concern.
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• 

• 

P05731

•
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 

consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and 

whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit 

evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 

units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group 

financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision 

and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the group 

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among 

other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 

identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we 

have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, 

and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 

actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we 

determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the 

consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the 

key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless 

law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 

extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 

communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so 

would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s 

report is Leung Chui Shan (practising certificate number: P05731).

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 June 2025
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2025 2024
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Continuing operations
Revenue 5

Sales of property 10,358 –

Rental income 32,354 28,751
Building management 816 12
Interest income from loan financing 1,329 1,930     

44,857 30,693
Cost of properties and services rendered (18,023) (3,520)     

Gross profit 26,834 27,173
Other income 7 9,717 8,101
Other losses (4,896) (9,241)
Other expenses (21) (1,175)
Distribution and selling expenses (2,619) –

Administrative expenses (48,680) (58,483)
Finance costs 9 (92,555) (55,074)
Share of result of a joint venture 327 142
Loss on changes in fair value of investment 

properties 17 (28,700) (9,563)
Loss on disposal of investment properties (29,211) –

Loss on modification of terms of convertible 
note 26 (31,369) –

Write-down on properties held for 
development for sale and properties held 
for sale, net 21 (149,428) (102,937)

Net loss on changes in fair value of financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss 
(“FVTPL”) (20,427) (4,391)

Reversal of impairment loss on financial 
assets, net:

 

– Loans receivable – 18 55 473
– Debt instruments at fair value through 

other comprehensive income 
(“FVTOCI”)

–  
  
 – 1,775

Release on disposal of debt instruments at 
FVTOCI – (2,119)     

Loss before taxation (370,973) (205,319)
Taxation credit (charge) 10 13,195 (13,485)     

Loss for the year from continuing 
operations 12 (357,778) (218,804)     

Discontinued operation
(Loss) profit for the year from discontinued 

operation
 

11 (7,521) 5,655     

Loss for the year attributable to owners of 
the Company (365,299) (213,149)     
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2025 2024
NOTE HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Other comprehensive income (expense)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently 

to profit or loss:
 

Exchange differences arising on translation 
of financial statements of foreign 
operations 8,012 1,078

Change in fair value of debt instruments at 
FVTOCI (20) (993)

Release on disposal of debt instruments at 
FVTOCI – 2,119

Reversal of impairment loss on debt 
instruments at FVTOCI included in profit 
or loss – (1,775)     

Other comprehensive income for the year 7,992 429     

Total comprehensive expense for the year 
attributable to owners of the Company (357,307) (212,720)

     

Total comprehensive expense attributable 
to owners of the Company:
– from continuing operations – (355,585) (207,012)
– from discontinued operation – (1,722) (5,708)     

Total comprehensive expense for the year 
attributable to owners of the Company (357,307) (212,720)

     

HK$ HK$

(Restated)

Loss per share
From continuing and discontinued 

operations
 

– Basic – 14 (0.81) (2.42)
     

– Diluted – (0.81) (2.42)
     

From continuing operations
– Basic – 14 (0.79) (2.49)

     

– Diluted – (0.79) (2.49)
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2025 2024

NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 15 4,032 4,669

Right-of-use assets 16 3,372 5,634

Investment properties 17 1,057,900 1,250,443

Investment in a joint venture 582 255

Loans receivable 18 – 13,639

Financial assets at FVTPL  

23 8,625 6,264

Debt instruments at FVTOCI

19 – 100

Debt instrument at amortised cost 20 – 22,576

Amount due from a related party 32(f) – 30,000

Deferred tax assets 29 319 328     

1,074,830 1,333,908     

Current assets

Properties held for sale 21 1,712,654 1,065,891

Properties held for development for sale 21 1,846,612 2,520,754

Trade and other receivables 22 49,235 33,567

Loans receivable 18 29,578 17,384

Amount due from a joint venture 7,850 1,850

Financial assets at FVTPL  

23 41,589 104,553

Debt instruments at FVTOCI

19 80 –

Debt instrument at amortised cost 20 22,336 –

Time deposits over three months 24 – 31,183

Cash and cash equivalents 24 57,266 299,717     

3,767,200 4,074,899     

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 25 74,551 93,750

Contract liabilities 25 5,197 –

Tax payable 731 19,511

Secured bank borrowings 27 1,575,285 1,161,664

Lease liabilities 28 2,447 2,335     

1,658,211 1,277,260     

Net current assets 2,108,989 2,797,639     

Total assets less current liabilities 3,183,819 4,131,547     
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2025 2024

NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 29 3,756 7,936

Convertible note 26 47,226 167,954

Secured bank borrowings 27 316,975 905,070

Lease liabilities 28 1,077 3,391     

369,034 1,084,351     

2,814,785 3,047,196
     

Capital and reserves

Share capital 30 10,144 1,031

Reserves 2,804,641 3,046,165     

2,814,785 3,047,196
     

The consolidated financial statements on pages 92 to 209 were approved 

and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 June 2025 and are 

signed on its behalf by:

Lai Law Kau Lui Yuk Chu

DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

2025 6 27
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Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Convertible 
note equity 

reserve
Capital 
reserve

Contributed 
surplus

Exchange 
reserve

Investment 
revaluation 

reserve

Property 
revaluation 
reserve for 

assets held 
for sale

Accumulated 
profits 

(losses) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note i) (Note ii) (Note iii)
i ii iii

            

At 1 April 2023 2023 4 1 21,259 2,531,694 47,493 53,194 438,102 (4,031) 3,698 40,624 103,133 3,235,166
Exchange differences arising on 

translation of financial statements of 
foreign operations – – – – – 1,078 – – – 1,078

Change in fair value of debt 
instruments at FVTOCI

 

– – – – – – (993) – – (993)
Release on disposal of debt 

instruments at FVTOCI
 

– – – – – – 2,119 – – 2,119
Reversal of impairment loss on debt 

instruments at FVTOCI included in 
profit or loss

 
– – – – – – (1,775) – – (1,775)

Loss for the year – – – – – – – – (213,149) (213,149)            

Total comprehensive income 
(expense) for the year

 
– – – – – 1,078 (649) – (213,149) (212,720)

Reduction of share capital upon 
capital reorganisation (note 30(i))

 
30(i) (20,728) – – – 20,728 – – – – –

Issue of shares upon placing  
(note 30(ii))

 
30(ii) 500 24,250 – – – – – – – 24,750

Release of property revaluation 
reserve upon disposal of the 
properties – – – – – – – (40,624) 40,624 –            

At 31 March 2024 2024 3 31 1,031 2,555,944 47,493 53,194 458,830 (2,953) 3,049 – (69,392) 3,047,196
Exchange differences arising on 

translation of financial statements of 
foreign operations – – – – – 8,012 – – – 8,012

Change in fair value of debt 
instruments at FVTOCI

– – – – – – (20) – – (20)
Loss for the year – – – – – – – – (365,299) (365,299)            
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Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Convertible 
note equity 

reserve
Capital 
reserve

Contributed 
surplus

Exchange 
reserve

Investment 
revaluation 

reserve

Property 
revaluation 
reserve for 

assets held 
for sale

Accumulated 
profits 

(losses) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note i) (Note ii) (Note iii)
i ii iii

            

Total comprehensive income 
(expense) for the year

 
– – – – – 8,012 (20) – (365,299) (357,307)

Issue of shares upon placing  
(note 30(iii))

 
30(iii) 2,350 39,527 – – – – – – – 41,877

Rights issue of shares (note 30(iv)) 30(iv) 6,763 55,456 – – – – – – – 62,219
Transfer upon modification of terms of 

convertible note
 

– – (103,265) – – – – – 16,691 (86,574)
Deferred tax liabilities released upon 

modification of terms of convertible 
note

 

– – 17,040 – – – – – – 17,040
Recognition upon modification of 

terms of convertible note
 

– – 161,265 – – – – – – 161,265
Deferred tax liability on recognition 

of equity component upon 
modification of terms of convertible 
note

 
 

– – (26,609) – – – – – – (26,609)
Transfer upon partial redemption of 

convertible note
 

– – (92,111) – – – – – 32,507 (59,604)
Deferred tax liabilities released upon 

partial redemption of convertible 
note – – 15,198 – – – – – – 15,198

Release on disposal of debt 
instrument at FVTOCI

 

– – – – – – 84 – – 84            

At 31 March 2025 2025 3 31 10,144 2,650,927 19,011 53,194 458,830 5,059 3,113 – (385,493) 2,814,785
            

Notes:

(i) The capital reserve of the Group represents the credit arising from the reduction of 

share capital of the Company in March 2004 and September 2005 and can be applied 

in the future for distribution to the shareholders.

(ii) The contributed surplus of the Group represents the credit arising from the reduction 

of share capital of the Company. The balance may be utilised by the directors in 

accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws and all applicable laws, including to eliminate 

the accumulated losses of the Company.

(iii) The property revaluation reserve of the Group represented the gain on revaluation of 

certain leasehold properties and land use rights of the Group when these leasehold 

properties and land use rights were transferred to investment properties. These 

investment properties were reclassified as held for sale as at 31 March 2023 and 

disposed during the year ended 31 March 2024, accordingly the property revaluation 

reserve was released to accumulated losses. Details are set out in note 11.

(i) 2004 3

2005 9

(ii) 

(iii) 

2023 3 31

2024 3 31

11
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2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Operating activities
Loss before taxation (374,725) (162,339)
Adjustments for:

Bank and other interest income (4,530) (6,701)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 647 700
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 2,413 2,470
Dividend income from investments (37) (1,373)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and 

equipment – (10)
Interest expense 92,555 55,074
Interest income from debt instruments at 

amortised cost (1,869) (1,884)
Interest income from loan financing (1,329) (1,930)
Loss (gain) on disposal of investment 

properties 29,211 (66,611)
Loss on changes in fair value of financial 

assets at FVTPL 20,427 4,187
Loss on changes in fair value of investment 

properties 28,700 9,563
Loss on modification of terms of convertible 

note 31,369 –

Loss on write-off of property, plant and 
equipment – 38

Release on disposal of debt instruments at 
FVTOCI – 2,119

Reversal of impairment loss on debt 
instruments at FVTOCI – (1,775)

Reversal of impairment loss on loans 
receivable, net (55) (473)

Share of result of a joint venture (327) (142)
Written-down on PUD and PHS, net

149,428 102,937
Written-off of other payables (2,998) –    

Operating cash flows before movements in 
working capital

 
(31,120) (66,150)

Decrease (increase) in financial assets at FVTPL
39,838 (47,012)

Increase in PUD and PHS
(70,623) (313,646)

(Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables (15,291) 37,249
Decrease in loans receivable 1,500 21,700
(Decrease) increase in trade and other payables (16,201) 8,484
Increase in contract liabilities 5,197 –    
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2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Cash used in operations (86,700) (359,375)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (60) (452)
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded 209 –

People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) Enterprise 
Income Tax (“EIT”) paid (15,797) (32,559)

Dividend received from financial assets at FVTPL
37 1,373

Interest received from loan financing 952 2,028    

Net cash used in operating activities (101,359) (388,985)    

Investing activities
Net proceeds from disposal of investment 

properties 135,017 75,323
Decrease (increase) in time deposit over three 

months 31,183 (31,522)
Interest received 6,399 9,297
Advance to a related party (50,000) (30,000)
(Advance to) repayment from a joint venture (6,000) 71
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (10) (681)
Proceeds from/deposits received for disposal of 

assets classified as held for sale
 

– 202,426
Proceeds from disposal/maturity of financial 

assets at FVTPL – 18,857
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and 

equipment
 

– 10    

Net cash from investing activities 116,589 243,781    

Financing activities
Repayment of bank borrowings (393,674) (111,256)
Interest paid (132,203) (115,085)
Partial redemption of convertible note (59,000) –

Repayment of lease liabilities (2,353) (2,410)
Payment of loan arrangement fee (1,879) (500)
Bank borrowings raised 221,079 306,798
Net proceeds from issue of shares upon placing 41,877 24,750
Net proceeds from rights issue of shares 62,219 –    

Net cash (used in) from financing activities (263,934) 102,297    

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (248,704) (42,907)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the 

year 299,717 354,002
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 6,253 (11,378)    

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year, 
represented by bank balances and cash 57,266 299,717
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Eminence Enterprise Limited (the “Company”; the Company and its 

subsidiaries are collectively referred to as the “Group”) is incorporated 

in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and its 

shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 

(the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office and 

the principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the 

“Corporate Information” section of the annual report.

As at 31 March 2024, the Company was a subsidiary of Easyknit 

International Holdings Limited (“Easyknit International”), an exempted 

company incorporated in Bermuda with its shares also listed on the 

Stock Exchange. On 17 April 2024, the Company completed the 

placing of 235,000,000 shares, resulting in a dilution of shareholding 

held by Easyknit International, and the Company became an associate 

of Easyknit International since then. 

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal 

activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note 39.  

The Group also operated in the PRC which was discontinued in prior 

years (see note 11).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong 

dollars (“HK$” or “HKD”) which is also the functional currency of the 

Company.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS 
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are 

mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments 

to HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute 

of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which 

are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual periods beginning on 

or after 1 April 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated financial 

statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or 

Non-current and related amendments 

to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7 and 

HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

1. 

2024 3 31

2024 4 17

235,000,000

39

11

2. 
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16
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5

2020

1

7

7
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS 
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are 

mandatorily effective for the current year (Continued)

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to 

HKFRS Accounting Standards in the current year had no material 

impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the 

current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these 

consolidated financial statements.

2.1 Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 

“Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current” and 

related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) 

(the “2020 Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-

current Liabilities with Covenants” (the “2022 Amendments”) 

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the 

current year.

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional 

guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for 

at least twelve months from reporting date for classification of 

liabilities as current or non-current, which:

• specify that the classification of liabilities as current 

or non-current should be based on rights that are in 

existence at the end of the reporting period. Specifically, 

the classification should not be affected by management 

intentions or expectations to settle the liability within 12 

months.

• clarify that the settlement of a liability can be a transfer 

of cash, goods or services, or the entity’s own equity 

instruments to the counterparty. If a liability has terms 

that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in 

its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own equity 

instruments, these terms do not affect its classification 

as current or non-current only if the entity recognises the 

option separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 

32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation”.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS 
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are 

mandatorily effective for the current year (Continued)

2.1 Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 

“Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current” and 

related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) 

(the “2020 Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-

current Liabilities with Covenants” (the “2022 Amendments”) 

(Continued) 

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from 

reporting date which are conditional on the compliance with 

covenants, the 2022 Amendments specifically clarify that 

only covenants that an entity is required to comply with on or 

before the end of the reporting period affect the entity’s right 

to defer settlement of a liability for at least twelve months after 

the reporting date, even if compliance with the covenant is 

assessed only after the reporting date. The 2022 Amendments 

also specify that covenants with which an entity must comply 

after the reporting date (i.e. future covenants) do not affect 

the classification of a liability as current or non-current at the 

reporting date. However, if the entity’s right to defer settlement 

of a liability is subject to the entity complying with covenants 

within twelve months after the reporting period, an entity 

discloses information that enables users of financial statements 

to understand the risk of the liabilities becoming repayable within 

twelve months after the reporting period. This would include 

information about the covenants, the carrying amount of related 

liabilities and facts and circumstances, if any, that indicate that 

the entity may have difficulties complying with the covenants.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS 
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are 

mandatorily effective for the current year (Continued)

2.1 Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 

“Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current” and 

related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) 

(the “2020 Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-

current Liabilities with Covenants” (the “2022 Amendments”) 

(Continued) 

In accordance with the transition provision, the Group has 

applied the new accounting policy to the classification of liability 

as current or non-current retrospectively. The application of the 

amendments in the current year had no material impact on the 

consolidated financial statements.

Borrowings which are subject to meeting certain conditions/
covenants within 12 months from reporting date
The Group’s right to defer settlement for borrowings of 

HK$905,070,000 and HK$316,975,000 as at 1 April 2024 and 

31 March 2025, respectively are subject to compliance with 

certain financial ratios only after the reporting period. Upon the 

application of the 2022 Amendments, such borrowings are still 

classified as non-current as the covenants which the Group is 

required to comply with only after the reporting period do not 

affect whether that right exists at the end of the reporting date.

The application of the 2020 and 2022 Amendments has no 

other material impact on the classification of the Group’s other 

liabilities. The change in accounting policy does not have impact 

to the Group’s profit or loss or earnings per share for the current 

and prior years presented.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS 
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards in issue 

but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments 

to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have been issued but are not yet 

effective:

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in 

Financial Statements4

Amendments to HKFRS 

Accounting Standards

Annual Improvements to HKFRS 

Accounting Standards –  

Volume 113

Amendments to HKFRS 9  

and HKFRS 7

Amendments to the Classification 

and Measurement of Financial 

Instruments3

Amendments to HKFRS 9  

and HKFRS 7

Contracts Referencing Nature-

dependent Electricity3

Amendments to HKFRS 10  

and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets 

between an Investor and its 

Associate or Joint Venture1

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability2

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

Except for the new HKFRS Accounting Standard mentioned below, 

the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all the 

amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards will have no material 

impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable 

future.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS 
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards in issue 

but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements” 

HKFRS 18, which sets out requirements on presentation and 

disclosures in financial statements, will replace HKAS 1 “Presentation 

of Financial Statements”. This new HKFRS Accounting Standard, while 

carrying forward many of the requirements in HKAS 1, introduces new 

requirements to present specified categories and defined subtotals in 

the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on management-

defined performance measures in the notes to the financial statements 

and improve aggregation and disaggregation of information to be 

disclosed in the financial statements. In addition, some HKAS 1 

paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 “Accounting Policies, 

Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors” and HKFRS 7 “Financial 

Instruments Disclosures”. Minor amendments to HKAS 7 “Statement of 

Cash Flows” and HKAS 33 “Earnings per Share” are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective 

for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with 

early application permitted. The application of the new standard is 

expected to affect the presentation of the statement of profit or loss 

and disclosures in the future financial statements. The Group is in the 

process of assessing the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s 

consolidated financial statements.



For the year ended 31 March 2025 2025 3 31

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

106 EMINENCE ENTERPRISE LIMITED   Annual Report 2024/2025

3. 
 

3.1 

2

2

16

2

36

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 

accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by 

the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated 

financial statements, information is considered material if such 

information is reasonably expected to influence decisions 

made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial 

statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules 

Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange 

(“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on 

the historical cost basis except for investment properties and 

certain financial instruments which are measured at fair values 

or revalued amounts, at the end of the reporting period, as 

explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the 

consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset 

or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 

market participants at the measurement date, regardless of 

whether that price is directly observable or estimated using 

another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value 

of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the 

characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants 

would take those characteristics into account when pricing 

the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for 

measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated 

financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for 

share-based payment transactions that are within the scope 

of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that 

are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 “Leases”, and 

measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are 

not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” 

or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into 

account a market participant’s ability to generate economic 

benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by 

selling it to another market participant that would use the asset 

in its highest and best use.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements 

(Continued)

For financial instruments and investment properties which 

are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that 

unobservable inputs are to be used to measure fair value in 

subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so 

that the results of the valuation technique equals the transaction 

price.

In addit ion, for f inancial report ing purposes, fair value 

measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the 

degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are 

observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value 

measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 

markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can 

access at the measurement date;

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices 

included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset 

or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or 

liability.

3.2 Material accounting policy information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial 

statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Group. 

Control is achieved when the Company:

• has power over the investee;

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 

involvement with the investee; and

• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if 

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one 

or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains 

control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses 

control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses 

of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are 

included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control 

until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial 

statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in 

line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses 

and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the 

Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Information about the Group’s accounting policies relating to 

contracts with customers is provided in note 5.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group 

entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional 

currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the 

rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At 

the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated 

in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at 

that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are 

denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates 

prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. When 

a fair value gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised 

in profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is 

also recognised in profit or loss. When a fair value gain or loss 

on a non-monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive 

income, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also 

recognised in other comprehensive income. Non-monetary items 

that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 

are not retranslated.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, 

and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in 

profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial 

statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign 

operations are translated into the presentation currency of the 

Group (i.e. HKD) using exchange rate prevailing at the end of 

each reporting period. Income and expenses are translated at 

the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange 

rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case the 

exchange rates at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange 

differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive 

income and accumulated in equity under the heading of 

exchange reserve.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attr ibutable to the acquisit ion, 

construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets 

that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for 

their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets 

until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their 

intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related 

asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the 

general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on 

general borrowings. Investment income earned on the temporary 

investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on 

qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible 

for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the 

period in which they are incurred.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefits costs
Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are 

recognised as an expense when employees have rendered 

service entitling them to the contributions.



For the year ended 31 March 2025 2025 3 31

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

110 EMINENCE ENTERPRISE LIMITED   Annual Report 2024/2025

3. 
 

3.2 

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Short-term employee benefits
Shor t-te rm employee benef i ts a re recogn ised at the 

undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and 

when employees rendered the services. All short-term employee 

benefits are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS 

Accounting Standards requires or permits the inclusion of the 

benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees after 

deducting any amount already paid.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently 

payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable (loss)/profit for 

the year. Taxable profit differs from (loss)/profit before taxation 

because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in 

other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The 

Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that 

have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 

reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between 

the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated 

financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the 

computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally 

recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax 

assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary 

differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits 

will be available against which those deductible temporary 

differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and 

liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises 

from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) 

of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the 

taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of the 

transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible 

temporary differences. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are 

not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial 

recognition of goodwill.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary 

differences associated with investments in subsidiaries or 

interest in a joint venture except where the Group is able to 

control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable 

that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable 

future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary 

differences associated with such investments and interest are 

only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be 

sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of 

the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in 

the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the 

end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is 

no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available 

to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates 

that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is 

settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) 

that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of 

the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects 

the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in 

which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to 

recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment 

properties that are measured using the fair value model, the 

carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be 

recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is 

rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment 

property is depreciable and is held within a business model 

whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic 

benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather 

than through sale.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a 

legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against 

current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied 

to the same taxation entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, 

except when they relate to items that are recognised in other 

comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, 

the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other 

comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held 

for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for 

administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment are 

stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost 

less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent 

accumulated impairment losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of 

properties which includes both leasehold land and building 

elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the 

leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to 

the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the 

allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably, interest 

in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the 

consolidated statement of financial position except for those 

that are classified and accounted for as investment properties 

under the fair value model and PUD that are carried at the lower 

of cost and net realisable value. When the consideration cannot 

be allocated reliably between non-lease building element and 

undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land, the entire 

properties are classified as property, plant and equipment.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items 

of property, plant and equipment less their residual values over 

their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The 

estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method 

are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect 

of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective 

basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon 

disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 

to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss 

arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, 

plant and equipment is determined as the difference between 

the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is 

recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the 

carrying amount of its assets with finite useful live to determine 

whether there is any indication that these assets have suffered 

an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 

amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine 

the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of asset is estimated individually. When 

it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an asset 

individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the 

cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporates 

assets are allocated to relevant cash-generating unit when a 

reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established, 

or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash 

generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation 

basis can be established. The recoverable amount is determined 

for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units 

to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the 

carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of 

cash-generating units.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs 

of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 

estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 

value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 

assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 

the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of 

future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) 

is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 

amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced 

to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of 

corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable 

and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group 

compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating 

units, including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets 

or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-

generating units, with the recoverable amount of the group of 

cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the 

impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount 

of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on 

a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset 

in the unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying 

amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair 

value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if 

determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that 

would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated 

pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-

generating units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately 

in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued 

amount under another standard, in which case the impairment 

loss is treated as a revaluation decrease under that standard.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying 

amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of 

cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate 

of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying 

amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 

been determined had no impairment loss been recognised 

for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-

generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss 

is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant 

asset is carried at a revalued amount under another standard, 

in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a 

revaluation increase under the standard.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or 

for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including 

any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial 

recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair 

values, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating 

lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of 

investment properties are included in profit or loss in the period 

in which they arise.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an 

investment property because its use has changed as evidenced 

by end of owner-occupation, any difference between the 

carrying amount and the fair value of that item is recognised 

in other comprehensive income and accumulated in property 

revaluation reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the 

asset, the relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly 

to accumulated profits.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Investment properties (Continued)

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when 

the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and 

no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any 

gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated 

as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 

carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the 

period in which the property is derecognised.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated 

statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand 

deposits; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally 

with original maturity of three months or less), highly 

liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known 

amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant 

risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are held for the 

purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather 

than for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, 

cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents 

as defined above.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Properties held for development for sale

PUD which are intended to be sold upon completion of 

development are classified as current assets. Except for the 

leasehold land element which is measured at cost model in 

accordance with the accounting policies of right-of-use assets, 

PUD are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 

Cost is determined on a specific identification basis including 

allocation of the related development expenditure incurred and 

where appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable 

value represents the estimated selling price for the properties 

less estimated cost to completion and costs necessary to make 

the sales. Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental 

costs directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs 

which the Group must incur to make the sale.

PUD are transferred to PHS upon completion.

Properties held for sale

PHS are completed properties and are classified under current 

assets. They are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 

value.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a 

group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 

instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets 

are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular 

way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets 

that require delivery of assets within the time frame established 

by regulation or convention in the market place.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at 

fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts 

with customers which are initially measured in accordance 

with HKFRS 15 “Revenue From Contracts with Customers”. 

Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition 

or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than 

financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to or 

deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial 

liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction 

costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or 

financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit 

or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the 

amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and 

of allocating interest income and interest expense over the 

relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 

discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including 

all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of 

the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums 

or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or 

financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the 

net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income which is derived from the Group’s ordinary 

course of business is presented as revenue.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the fol lowing condit ions are 

subsequently measured at amortised cost:

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose 

objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash 

flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on 

the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the fol lowing condit ions are 

subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose 

objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash 

flow and selling the financial assets; and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash 

flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on 

the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, 

except that at the date of initial recognition of a financial asset 

the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes 

in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive 

income if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor 

contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business 

combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” 

applies.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets 

(Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling 

in the near term; or

• on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified 

financial instruments that the Group manages together 

and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; 

or

• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a 

hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial 

asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost 

or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or 

significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest 

method for financial assets measured subsequently 

at amortised cost and debt instruments subsequently 

measured at FVTOCI. Interest income is calculated by 

applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying 

amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets 

that have subsequently become credit-impaired. For 

financial assets that have subsequently become credit-

impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the 

effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial 

asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on 

the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that 

the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest 

income is recognised by applying the effective interest 

rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset 

from the beginning of the reporting period following the 

determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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(iii) 

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets 

(Continued)

(ii) Debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for debt 

instruments classified as FVTOCI as a result of interest 

income calculated using the effective interest method, and 

foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit 

or loss. All other changes in the carrying amount of these 

debt instruments are recognised in other comprehensive 

income and accumulated under the heading of investment 

revaluation reserve. Impairment allowances are recognised 

in profit or loss with corresponding adjustment to other 

comprehensive income without reducing the carrying 

amounts of these debt instruments. When these debt 

instruments are derecognised, the cumulative gains or 

losses previously recognised in other comprehensive 

income are reclassified to profit or loss.

(iii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being 

measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as 

FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value 

at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value 

gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain 

or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any interest 

but excludes any dividend earned on the financial asset 

and is included in the “net loss on changes in fair value of 

financial assets at FVTPL” line item.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets 

(Continued)

(iii) Financial assets at FVTPL (Continued)

Film right investment is the Group’s investment in a film 

production project which entitles the Group to share 

certain percentage of income to be generated from the 

related film based on the Group’s investment portion as 

specified in respective film right investment agreement 

but the Group has no control nor joint control over the 

investment. Film right investment is classified as financial 

asset at FVTPL.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected 

credit loss (“ECL”) model (including trade and other receivables, 

amount due from a joint venture, amount due from a related 

party, loans receivable, debt instruments at FVTOCI, debt 

instrument at amortised cost, time deposits over three months 

and cash and cash equivalents) which are subject to impairment 

assessment under HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”. The amount 

of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in 

credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible 

default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. 

In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion 

of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events 

that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. 

Assessments are done based on the Group’s historical credit 

loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the 

debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of 

both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the 

forecast of future conditions.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables 

and lease receivables.

For all other assets, the Group measures the loss allowance 

equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a significant increase 

in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group 

recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL 

should be recognised is based on significant increases in the 

likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased 

significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares 

the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument 

as at the reporting date with the r isk of a default 

occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of 

initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group 

considers both quantitative and qualitative information 

that is reasonable and supportable, including historical 

experience and forward-looking information that is 

available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into 

account when assessing whether credit risk has increased 

significantly:

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in 

the financial instrument’s external (if available) or 

internal credit rating;

• significant deterioration in external market indicators 

of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the 

credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the 

borrower or debtor;
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(i) (i i)

(iii)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

• existing or forecast adverse changes in business, 

financial or economic conditions that are expected 

to cause a significant decrease in the borrower’s or 

debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the 

operating results of the borrower or debtor;

• an actual or expected significant adverse change 

in the regulatory, economic, or technological 

environment of the borrower or debtor that results 

in a significant decrease in the borrower’s or 

debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, 

the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased 

significantly since initial recognition when contractual 

payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the 

Group has reasonable and supportable information that 

demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the 

credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased 

significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument 

is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. 

A debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if 

(i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) the borrower has a strong 

capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in 

the near term and (iii) adverse changes in economic and 

business conditions in the longer term may, but will not 

necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its 

contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers 

the credit risk of the debt instrument mainly with reference 

to external credit rating of “investment grade” as per 

globally understood definitions.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of 

the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 

significant increase in credit risk and revises them as 

appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 

identifying significant increase in credit risk before the 

amount becomes past due.

(ii) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers 

an event of default occurs when information developed 

internally or obtained from external sources indicates that 

the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the 

Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals 

held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that 

default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 

90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and 

supportable information to demonstrate that a more 

lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more 

events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 

future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. 

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes 

observable data about the following events:

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the 

borrower;

• a breach of contract, such as a default or past due 

event;
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

• the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or 

contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s 

financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a 

concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise 

consider;

• it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter 

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

• the disappearance of an active market for that 

financial asset because of financial difficulties.

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is 

information indicating that the counterparty is in severe 

financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of 

recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been 

placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy 

proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be 

subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s 

recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice 

where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition 

event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit 

or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability 

of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the 

loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The 

assessment of the probability of default and loss given 

default is based on historical data and forward-looking 

information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and 

probability-weighted amount that is determined with the 

respective risks of default occurring as the weights.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference between 

all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in 

accordance with the contract and the cash flows that 

the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective 

interest rate determined at initial recognition. For a lease 

receivable, the cash flow used for determining the ECL 

is consistent with the cash flows used in measuring the 

lease receivable in accordance with HKFRS 16.

For col lect ive assessment, the Group takes into 

considerat ion the fol lowing character ist ics when 

formulating the grouping:

• Past-due status;

• Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

• External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to 

ensure the constituents of each group continue to share 

similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying 

amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset 

is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is 

calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Except for investments in debt instruments that are 

measured at FVTOCI, the Group recognises an impairment 

gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments 

by adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception 

of loans receivable and debt instrument at amortised 

cost where the corresponding adjustment is recognised 

through a loss allowance account. For investments in 

debt instruments that are measured at FVTOCI, the loss 

allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income 

and accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve 

without reducing the carrying amount of these debt 

instruments. Such amount represents the changes in the 

investment revaluation reserve in relation to accumulated 

loss allowance.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the 

contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised 

cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 

sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised 

in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument 

classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously 

accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is reclassified 

to profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial 

liabilities or as equity instruments in accordance with the 

substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of 

a financial liability and an equity instrument.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual 

interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its 

liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are 

recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables, the liability 

component of convertible note and secured bank borrowings) 

are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective 

interest method.

Convertible note containing liability and equity components

The component parts of the convertible note issued by the 

Company are classified separately as financial liabilities and 

equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual 

arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an 

equity instrument. A conversion option that will be settled by the 

exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for 

a fixed number of the Company’s own equity instruments is an 

equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is 

estimated by measuring the fair value of similar liability that does 

not have an associated equity component.

A conversion option classified as equity is determined by 

deducting the amount of the liability component from the fair 

value of the compound instrument as a whole. This is recognised 

and included in equity, net of income tax effects, and is not 

subsequently remeasured. In addition, the conversion option 

classified as equity will remain in equity until the conversion 

option is exercised, in which case, the balance recognised 

in equity will be transferred to share premium. Where the 

conversion option remains unexercised at the maturity date of 

the convertible note, the balance recognised in equity will be 

transferred to accumulated profits. No gain or loss is recognised 

in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of the conversion 

option.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Convertible note containing liability and equity components 

(Continued)

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible note 

are allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion 

to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs 

relating to the equity component are charged directly to equity. 

Transaction costs relating to the liability component are included 

in the carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised 

over the lives of the convertible note using the effective interest 

method.

When the Group modifies the terms of convertible note, the 

equity portion of the original convertible note is transferred to 

accumulated profits (losses) in equity. When such modification 

results in the discounted present value of the cash flows under 

the new terms including any fees paid net of any fees received 

is at least 10% different from the discounted present values 

of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability, it 

is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial 

liability and a recognition of a new financial liability or equity 

instrument or compound instrument with the difference, being 

the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished and the 

fair value of the financial liability, equity instrument, compound 

instrument issued and/or hybrid instrument, recognised in profit 

or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only 

when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have 

expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the 

financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and 

payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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4.  4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES 
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the directors 

of the Company are required to make judgments, estimates and 

assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 

that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and 

underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and other 

factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ 

from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing 

basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period 

in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, 

or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects 

both current and future periods.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

The followings are the critical judgments, apart from those involving 

estimations (see below), that the directors of the Company have made 

in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that 

have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 

consolidated financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising from investment 

properties that are measured using the fair value model, the directors 

of the Company have reviewed the Group’s investment properties 

portfolios and concluded that the Group’s investment properties 

located in Hong Kong and Singapore are not held under a business 

model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic 

benefits embodied in the investment properties over time. Therefore, 

in determining the deferred taxation on investment properties located 

in Hong Kong and Singapore, the directors of the Company have 

determined that presumption that the carrying amounts of investment 

properties measured using the fair value model are recovered through 

sale is not rebutted.
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4. 
 

1

17

2025 3 31
1,846,612,000

2024 2,520,754,000
1 , 7 1 2 , 6 5 4 , 0 0 0 2 0 2 4

1,065,891,000

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES 
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future, and 
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 
period, that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets within the next financial year.

Fair values of investment properties
The Group’s investment properties are measured at fair value for 
financial reporting purposes. The Group has a designated team to 
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and key inputs for fair 
value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of the Group’s investment properties, the 
Group uses market-observable data to the extent they are available. 
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages independent 
firms of qualified professional property valuers to perform valuation of 
the Group’s investment properties. At the end of the reporting period, 
the management works closely with the independent firm of qualified 
professional property valuer to establish and determine the appropriate 
valuation techniques and key inputs for fair value measurements. 
Where there is a material change in the fair value of the assets, the 
causes of the fluctuations will be reported to the directors of the 
Company. Information about the valuation techniques and key inputs 
used in determining the fair value of the Group’s investment properties 
is disclosed in note 17.

Determination of net realisable value of PUD and PHS 

Management regularly reviews the recoverability of the Group’s 
PUD and PHS, which are situated in Hong Kong and amounted to 
HK$1,846,612,000 (2024: HK$2,520,754,000) and HK$1,712,654,000 
(2024: HK$1,065,891,000), respectively, as at 31 March 2025, with 
reference to current market environment whenever events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may 
exceed its net realisable value. The estimates of net realisable value 
of PUD/PHS are determined based on estimated selling prices less 
estimated costs to completion and the estimated costs necessary 
to make the sale of these properties, if applicable. The selling prices 
are estimated by reference to the market prices of similar properties 
in prevailing market environment with adjustments to reflect different 
locations or conditions for those properties. The costs to completion of 
the PUD are estimated by reference to the development budget, actual 
development cost of similar completed properties with adjustments 
based on current market data. Actual realised amount may differ from 
estimates, resulting in a decrease or an increase in the net realisable 
value of the PUD/PHS and additional write-down or reversal of write-
down previously recognised may be required.
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5. 

2025 3 31

66,513,000

2024

41,936,000

24,577,000 2024

15

15

2025 3 31

11,174,000 2024 12,000

5. REVENUE

Revenue from continuing operations represents the aggregate of the 

amounts received or receivable in respect of rental income and building 

management from property investment, interest income from loan 

financing and property sale from property development during the year. 

An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

Revenue from sales of properties was recognised at a point in time 

when the completed property was transferred to customers, being 

at the point that the customer obtained the control of the completed 

property and the Group had present right to payment and collection 

of the consideration was probable. The Group received deposits from 

customers pursuant to the payment terms of the sale and purchase 

agreement. The transaction price allocated to the remaining unsatisfied 

performance obligations was HK$66,513,000 (2024: nil) as at 31 

March 2025 and the expected to recognised as revenue within one 

year and over one year are HK$41,936,000 and HK$24,577,000 (2024: 

nil), respectively.

For building management services, the Group bills a fixed rate for 

services provided on a monthly basis and recognises as revenue in 

the amount to which the Group has a right to issue the invoice and 

that corresponds directly with the value to the customers of Group’s 

performance completed. The Group acts as principal and is primarily 

responsible for providing the building management services to the 

property owners, who simultaneously receives and consumes the 

benefit provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs, 

the Group recognises the fee received or receivable from property 

owners as its revenue over time and all related building management 

costs as its cost of services. The Group elected to apply the practical 

expedient by recognising revenue in the amount to which the Group 

has right to invoice. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction 

price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

Rental income and interest income from loan financing fall outside the 

scope of HKFRS 15 and the revenue from contracts with customers 

from continuing operations for the year ended 31 March 2025 

amounted to HK$11,174,000 (2024: HK$12,000).
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Group’s chief executive officer, being the 

chief operating decision maker (“CODM”), for the purposes of resource 

allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on types 

of goods delivered or services provided. This is also the basis of 

organisation, whereby the management has chosen to organise the 

Group around differences in products and services.

The Group’s operating and reportable segments under HKFRS 8 

“Operating Segments” are: (a) property investment, (b) property 

development, (c) investment in securities and others and (d) loan 

financing.

Operation in the PRC, including the property investment, investment in 

securities and others and loan financing were classified as discontinued 

operation in the prior year.  The segment information reported does 

not include any amounts for the discontinued operation, which are 

described in more detail in note 11. 

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results from 

continuing operations by reportable segments:

6. 

8

(a)

(b) (c)

(d)

11
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2025

Property 

investment

Property 

development

Investment 

in securities 

and others

Loan 

financing Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note) (Note)

       

Segment revenue

External 33,170 10,358 – 1,329 44,857
       

Segment loss (56,834) (161,284) (20,530) (72) (238,720)
      

Other losses (4,896)

Other expenses (21)

Finance costs (92,555)

Other income 9,717

Loss on modification of terms of 

convertible note (31,369)

Share of result of a joint venture  

327

Unallocated corporate expenses (13,456)       

Loss before taxation from continuing 

operations (370,973)
       

6. 

2025 3 31
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6. 

2024 3 31

 

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2024

Property 

investment

Property 

development

Investment 

in securities 

and others

Loan 

financing Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note) (Note)

       

Segment revenue

External 28,763 – – 1,930 30,693
       

Segment (loss) profit (23,254) (104,880) (4,600) 190 (132,544)
      

Other losses (9,241)

Other expenses (1,175)

Finance costs (55,074)

Other income 8,101

Share of result of a joint venture 142

Unallocated corporate expenses (15,528)       

Loss before taxation from continuing 

operations (205,319)
       

Note: Rental income generated from PHS was included in the property investment 

segment.

Segment (loss) profit represents the result from continuing operations 

of each segment without allocation of other losses, other expenses, 

finance costs, other income, loss on modification of terms of convertible 

note, shares of result of a joint venture and unallocated corporate 

expenses. There are asymmetrical allocations to operating segments 

because the Group allocates all fair value changes of financial assets 

at FVTPL to segment of investment in securities and others without 

allocating relevant financial instruments to those segment assets. This 

is the measure to the Group’s CODM for the purposes of resource 

allocation and performance assessment.
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6. 

• 

• 

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by 
reportable segments:

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Segment assets
Continuing operations
Property investment 1,068,264 1,261,392
Property development 3,583,865 3,599,366
Investment in securities and others 73,590 119,797
Loan financing 38,344 70,222    

Total segment assets 4,764,063 5,050,777
Unallocated financial assets at FVTPL  

8,683 20,961
Right-of-use assets 3,372 5,634
Time deposits over three months – 31,183
Cash and cash equivalents 57,266 299,717
Unallocated corporate assets 8,646 535    

Consolidated assets 4,842,030 5,408,807
    

Segment liabilities
Continuing operations
Property investment 11,681 21,871
Property development 64,605 72,313
Investment in securities and others 72 98
Loan financing 211 306    

Total segment liabilities 76,569 94,588
Secured bank borrowings 1,892,260 2,066,734
Convertible note 47,226 167,954
Lease liabilities 3,524 5,726
Unallocated corporate liabilities 7,666 26,609    

Consolidated liabilities 2,027,245 2,361,611
    

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and allocating 
resources between segments:

• all assets are allocated to operating and reportable segments 
other than assets relating to discontinued operation, unallocated 
financial assets at FVTPL, right-of-use assets, time deposits over 
three months, cash and cash equivalents and other assets.

• all liabilities are allocated to operating and reportable segments 
other than secured bank borrowings, l iabil ity portion of 
convertible note, lease liabilities and other liabilities.
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6. 

2025 3 31

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Other segment information

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or segment 

assets from continuing operations:

For the year ended 31 March 2025

Property 

investment

Property 

development

Investment 

in securities 

and others

Loan 

financing Unallocated Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        

Capital additions – – – – 161 161

Depreciation of property, plant and 

equipment – 283 – – 364 647

Loss on changes in fair value of 

investment properties

 

28,700 – – – – 28,700

Loss on disposal of investment properties 29,211 – – – – 29,211

Write-down on PUD and PHS, net
– 149,428 – – – 149,428

Reversal of impairment loss on loans 

receivable, net – – – 55 – 55

Net loss on changes in fair value of 

financial assets at FVTPL
– – 20,427 – – 20,427

Loss on modification of terms of 

convertible note

 
– – – – 31,369 31,369
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6. 

2024 3 31

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Other segment information (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2024

Property 

investment

Property 

development

Investment 

in securities 

and others

Loan 

financing Unallocated Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        

Capital additions – – – – 7,557 7,557

Depreciation of property, plant and 

equipment 6 416 – – 278 700

Loss on changes in fair value of 

investment properties

 

9,563 – – – – 9,563

Write-down on PUD, net  
– 102,937 – – – 102,937

Reversal of impairment loss on loans 

receivable, net – – – 473 – 473

Net loss on changes in fair value of 

financial assets at FVTPL
– – 4,391 – – 4,391

Reversal of impairment loss on debt 

instruments at FVTOCI
– – 1,775 – – 1,775

        

Geographical information

The Group’s continuing operations are located in Hong Kong (place of 

domicile) and Singapore.

The Group’s revenue from external customers based on location of 

its customers for segments and information about its non-current 

assets (excluding deferred tax assets and financial instruments) by 

geographical locations of the assets are detailed below:

Revenue from 

external customers Non-current assets

2025 2024 2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Hong Kong (place of domicile) 44,061 29,365 1,065,886 1,187,158

Singapore 796 1,328 – 73,843      

44,857 30,693 1,065,886 1,261,001
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6. 

10%

1 

7. 

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding year contributing over 

10% of the total revenue of the Group from continuing operations is as 

follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Customer A1 A1 10,358 –
    

1 Revenue from property development.

7. OTHER INCOME

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Continuing operations

Bank and other interest income 5,901 6,067

Dividend income from investments 37 1,373

Services charge 276 414

Written-off of other payables 2,998 –

Others 505 247    

9,717 8,101
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8. 

(a) 

(i) 

(ii) 

8. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(a) Information regarding directors’ emoluments

Details of emoluments to the directors of the Company were as 

follows:

Executive directors (Note i) Independent non-executive directors (Note ii)

i ii

Lai Law Kau

Kwong 

Jimmy 

Cheung Tim Lui Yuk Chu Kan Ka Hon Lau Sin Ming

Wu Koon Yin 

Welly Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

         

Year ended 31 March 2025 2025 3 31

Fees – – – 155 155 155 465

Other emoluments
– Salaries and other benefits – 480 600 6,878 – – – 7,958
– Contributions to retirement 

benefits schemes

– 

18 – – – – – 18         

Total directors’ emoluments 498 600 6,878 155 155 155 8,441
         

Year ended 31 March 2024 2024 3 31

Fees – – – 155 155 155 465

Other emoluments
– Salaries and other benefits – 480 600 5,580 – – – 6,660
– Contributions to retirement 

benefits schemes

– 

18 – – – – – 18         

Total directors’ emoluments 498 600 5,580 155 155 155 7,143
         

Notes:

(i) The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their 

services in connection with the management of the affairs of the 

Company and the Group.

(ii) The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above 

were for their services as directors of the Company.
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8.  

(b) 

2024

2024

2024

8. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 
(Continued)

(b) Information regarding employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included one (2024: 

one) director whose emoluments was included above for both 

years. The emoluments of the remaining four (2024: four) highest 

paid individuals, not being directors, are as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Salaries and other benefits 5,638 6,701

Contributions to retirement benefits 

schemes 65 47    

5,703 6,748
    

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

2025 2024

Number of 

individuals

Number of 

individuals

    

Nil to HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 2 –

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 1,500,000 1 2

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 2,000,000 – 1

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 2,500,000 1 1    

4 4
    

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group 

to the directors and the other four (2024: four) highest paid 

individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or 

as compensation for loss of office. In addition, during both years, 

no director waived or agree to waive any emoluments.
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9. 

10. 

16.5%

9. FINANCE COSTS

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Interest on bank borrowings 123,193 104,931

Interest on lease liabilities 263 218

Effective interest expense on convertible note 20,525 17,941    

143,981 123,090

Less: Amount capitalised in the cost of 

qualifying assets

  

 (51,426) (68,016)    

92,555 55,074
    

10. TAXATION (CREDIT) CHARGE

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Continuing operations

The tax (credit) charge comprises:

Current tax:

Hong Kong – 1

PRC withholding tax on dividend – 8,241

Other jurisdiction 8 8    

8 8,250    

Overprovision in prior years:

Hong Kong – (2,003)

PRC Enterprise Income Tax (6,413) –

Other jurisdiction – (88)    

(6,413) (2,091)    

Deferred tax (6,790) 7,326    

(13,195) 13,485
    

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated 

assessable profit for both years.
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10. 10. TAXATION (CREDIT) CHARGE (Continued)

Taxation arising in other jurisdiction is calculated at the rates prevailing 

in the relevant jurisdiction.

Taxation (credit) charge for the year can be reconciled to the results 

from continuing operations per the consolidated statement of profit or 

loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Loss before taxation (370,973) (205,319)    

Tax credit at the applicable rate of 16.5% 

(2024: 16.5%)

16.5% 2024 16.5%

(61,211) (33,878)

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax 

purposes (1,303) (10,821)

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax 

purposes 12,248 9,856

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 19,909 25,005

Tax effect of deductible temporary 

differences not recognised

 

24,656 16,985

Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses 

previously not recognised

 

(763) (61)

Tax effect of share of result of a joint venture

(54) (23)

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries 

operating in other jurisdictions (10) 122

Withholding tax paid on dividend – 8,241

Overprovision in prior years (6,413) (2,091)

Others (254) 150    

Taxation (credit) charge for the year (13,195) 13,485
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11. 

2022 10 5

2024 2 7

2023 3 31

11. DISCONTINUED OPERATION

Pursuant to a land resumption agreement signed on 5 October 2022 

by the Group and the municipal government, the lands and buildings 

in Huzhou were resumed by the municipal government. The legal title 

of the land was transferred to municipal government on 7 February 

2024. Other than the property investment business, the management 

also abandoned the investment in securities and others and loan 

financing businesses in the PRC during the year ended 31 March 

2023. Accordingly, the operation in the PRC was considered to be a 

discontinued operation.

The (loss) profit for the year from the discontinued operation is set out 

below.

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Other income 498 2,518

Other expense, gains and losses (56) 41,616

Administrative expenses (4,194) (1,358)

Net gain on changes in fair value of financial 

assets – 204    

(Loss) profit before taxation (3,752) 42,980

Taxation charge (3,769) (37,325)    

(Loss) profit for the year (7,521) 5,655
    

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

(Loss) profit for the year from discontinued 

operation has been arrived at after 

charging (crediting):

Staff costs, including retirement benefits 

costs 1,746 288

Bank and other interest income (498) (2,518)

Net exchange loss 56 –

Auditors’ remuneration – 54

Loss on write-off of property, plant and 

equipment – 38

Gain on disposal of investment properties – (66,611)
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11. 

15,747,000 2024

43,100,000

161,541,000 2024

174,100,000

12. 

13. 

2025 2024 3 31

11. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued)

During the year, the operation in the PRC contr ibuted a net 

cash outflow from operating activities of HK$15,747,000 (2024: 

HK$43,100,000) and a net cash outflow from investing activities of 

HK$161,541,000 (2024: net cash inflow HK$174,100,000) to the 

Group.

12. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Continuing operations

Loss for the year has been arrived at after 

charging (crediting):

Directors’ emoluments (note 8(a)) 8(a) 8,441 7,143

Other staff costs, including retirement 

benefits costs 21,863 32,787    

Total staff costs (including directors’ 

emoluments) 30,304 39,930    

Auditors’ remuneration
– audit services – 1,650 1,700
– non-audit services – – 57

Depreciation of property, plant and 

equipment 647 700

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 2,413 2,470

Gain on disposal of property, plant and 

equipment – (10)

Net exchange loss 4,896 10,078
    

13. DIVIDENDS

No dividends were paid or proposed for the years ended 31 March 

2025 and 2024, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of 

the reporting period.
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14. 14. LOSS PER SHARE

For continuing operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share from continuing 

operations attributable to owners of the Company is based on the 

following data:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Loss for the year attributable to owners of 

the Company (365,299) (213,149)

Less: Loss (profit) for the year from 

discontinued operation

  

 7,521 (5,655)    

Loss for the purpose of basic loss per share 

from continuing operations (357,778) (218,804)

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:

Interest on convertible note  

(net of income tax) – –    

Loss for the purpose of diluted loss per share 

from continuing operations (357,778) (218,804)
    

Number of shares

2025 2024

’000 ’000

(Restated)

    

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 

for the purpose of basic loss per share 450,371 88,014

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:

Convertible note – –    

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 

for the purpose of diluted loss per share 450,371 88,014
    



For the year ended 31 March 2025 2025 3 31

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

148 EMINENCE ENTERPRISE LIMITED   Annual Report 2024/2025

14. 

0.02 2024

0.06

0.02 2024

0.06

7,521,000

2024 5,655,000

30(i) (iv)

2023 7 19

2025 2 4

2025 2024 3 31

26

14. LOSS PER SHARE (Continued)

For continuing and discontinued operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share from continuing 

and discontinued operations attributable to owners of the Company is 

based on the following data:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Loss for the purpose of basic loss per share (365,299) (213,149)

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:

Interest on convertible note (net of income 

tax) – –
    

Loss for the purpose of diluted loss per share (365,299) (213,149)
    

The denominators used are the same as those detailed above for both 

basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share.

Basic loss per share for the discontinued operation is HK$0.02 per 

share (2024: earnings per share of HK$0.06 per share) and diluted loss 

per share for the discontinued operation is HK$0.02 per share (2024: 

earnings per share of HK$0.06 per share), based on the loss for the 

year from the discontinued operation of HK$7,521,000 (2024: profit for 

the year HK$5,655,000) and the denominators detailed above for both 

basic and diluted earnings per share.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of 

basic and diluted loss per share for both years have been adjusted 

for the consolidation of shares on 19 July 2023 and rights issue on 4 

February 2025 as disclosed in note 30 (i) and (iv), respectively.

The computation of diluted (loss) earnings per share for the years 

ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 does not assume the exercise of the 

Company’s certain convertible note listed in note 26 as the exercise 

would result in decrease in loss per share in both years.
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15. 

3 10

5

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Owned 

properties

Furniture, 

fixtures and 

equipment

Motor 

vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

COST

At 1 April 2023 2023 4 1 3,650 3,921 3,108 10,679

Exchange adjustments – (2) (41) (43)

Additions – 43 638 681

Write-off/disposal – (32) (1,010) (1,042)      

At 31 March 2024 2024 3 31 3,650 3,930 2,695 10,275

Additions – 10 – 10      

At 31 March 2025 2025 3 31 3,650 3,940 2,695 10,285      

DEPRECIATION

At 1 April 2023 2023 4 1 421 3,665 1,865 5,951

Exchange adjustments – (2) (39) (41)

Provided for the year 133 112 455 700

Eliminated on write-off/disposal – (32) (972) (1,004)      

At 31 March 2024 2024 3 31 554 3,743 1,309 5,606

Provided for the year 133 104 410 647      

At 31 March 2025 2025 3 31 687 3,847 1,719 6,253      

CARRYING VALUES

At 31 March 2025 2025 3 31 2,963 93 976 4,032
      

At 31 March 2024 2024 3 31 3,096 187 1,386 4,669
      

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on 

a straight-line basis after taking into account the residual value over the 

following useful lives:

Owned properties Over the lease term

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3 to 10 years

Motor vehicles 5 years
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16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Leased 

properties

HK$’000

   

As at 31 March 2025 2025 3 31

Carrying amount 3,372
   

As at 31 March 2024 2024 3 31

Carrying amount 5,634
   

For the year ended 31 March 2025 2025 3 31

Depreciation charge 2,413
   

For the year ended 31 March 2024 2024 3 31

Depreciation charge 2,470
   

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Total cash outflow for leases 2,616 2,628

Additions to right-of-use assets 151 6,876
    

The right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the 

lease term.

For both years, the Group leases offices for its operations. Lease 

contracts are entered into for fixed terms of 2 to 3 years (2024: 3 years) 

without extension and termination option. Lease terms are negotiated 

on an individual basis and contain different terms and conditions. 

In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-

cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and 

determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

16. 
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out various residential, commercial and industrial 

units under operating leases with rentals payable monthly, quarterly 

or semi-annually. The leases typically run for an initial period of 1 

to 3 years (2024: 1 to 3 years), with unilateral rights to extend the 

lease beyond initial period held by lessees only. Majority of the lease 

contracts contain market review clauses in the event the lessee 

exercises the option to extend.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the 

lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the respective 

functional currencies of group entities. The lease contracts do not 

contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to purchase 

the property at the end of lease term.

Completed

investment

properties

HK$’000

   

FAIR VALUE

At 1 April 2023 2023 4 1 1,707,555

Exchange adjustments (19,470)

Disposal (428,079)

Decrease in fair value recognised in profit or loss (9,563)   

At 31 March 2024 2024 3 31 1,250,443

Exchange adjustments 385

Disposal (164,228)

Decrease in fair value recognised in profit or loss (28,700)   

At 31 March 2025 2025 3 31 1,057,900
   

17. 
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties as at 31 March 

2025 and 31 March 2024 have been arrived at on the basis of valuation 

carried out on the respective dates by the following independent firms 

of qualified professional property valuers not connected with the Group:

Name of valuers

Location of 

investment properties

Vincorn Consulting and Appraisal Limited 

(2024: Vigers Appraisal and Consulting 

Limited)

Hong Kong

Edmund Tie & Company (SEA) Pte Ltd Singapore

The unrealised loss relating to investment properties held at the end of 

the reporting period of HK$28,700,000 (2024: HK$18,299,000) was 

recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31 March 2025.

All investment properties of the Group are under the Level 3 fair value 

hierarchy. There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the 

year.

17. 

2025 3 31

2024 3 31

  

2024

Edmund Tie & Company 

(SEA) Pte Ltd

28,700,000 2024

18,299,000 2025 3 31
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The following table gives information about how the fair values of 

the investment properties are determined (in particular, the valuation 

techniques and key inputs used), as well as the fair value hierarchy 

into which the fair value measurements are categorised (Levels 

1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value 

measurements is observable.

Investment properties 

held by the Group

Fair value at 

31 March

Fair value 

hierarchy

Valuation techniques 

and key inputs

Significant 

unobservable inputs Sensitivities

3 31

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Commercial units in Hong 

Kong

389,300 89,300 Level 3 Income approach  
– term yield

Term yield, taking into account 

of yield generated by market 

average selling price and the 

market average rental from 

comparable properties and 

adjustment to reflect the 

conditions of the building, 

which is 1.3% to 3.6% (2024: 

3.1%)

The higher the term yield, the 

lower the fair value

3

 – 

1.3% 3.6%

2024 3.1%

– reversionary yield Reversionary yield, taking into 

account of yield generated by 

market average selling price 

and the market average rental 

from comparable properties 

and adjustment to reflect the 

risk associated with the future 

rental, which is 2.5% (2024: 

3.1%)

The higher the reversionary 

yield, the lower the fair 

value

– 

2.5% 2024

3.1%

17. 
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Investment properties 

held by the Group

Fair value at 

31 March

Fair value 

hierarchy

Valuation techniques 

and key inputs

Significant 

unobservable inputs Sensitivities

3 31

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Commercial units in Hong 

Kong (Continued)

– monthly term rental Monthly term rental for each unit 

is derived from the average 

of the rental as stated in the 

existing rental agreements, 

which is ranged from HK$29.7 

to HK$254.1 (2024: HK$29.7 

to HK$115.3) per square foot

The higher the monthly term 

rental rate, the higher the 

fair value

– 

29.7

254.1 (2024 29.7

115.3

– reversionary market unit rate Reversionary market unit rate 

and price for each unit is 

compared with direct market 

comparables and taking into 

account of character, location 

and other individual factor, 

which is from HK$29.7 to 

HK$254.1 (2024: HK$26 to 

HK$130) and HK$8,666 to 

HK$88,477 per square foot, 

respectively.

The higher the reversionary 

market unit rate and price 

the higher the fair value

– 

29.7

254.1 (2024

26 130 8,666

88,477

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 17. 
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Investment properties 

held by the Group

Fair value at 

31 March

Fair value 

hierarchy

Valuation techniques 

and key inputs

Significant 

unobservable inputs Sensitivities

3 31

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Commercial units in Hong 

Kong (Continued)

– 373,000 Level 3 Direct comparison method  
– based on market 

observable transactions 

of similar properties and 

adjusted to reflect the 

locations and conditions of 

the subject property

Price per square foot, using 

market direct comparables 

and taking into account of 

character, location and other 

individual factors such as road 

frontage, size of property, 

etc., which is ranged from 

HK$92,155 to HK$381,714 

per square foot

The higher the price per 

square foot, the higher the 

fair value

3

 – 

92,155

381,714

Industrial units in Hong 

Kong

639,300 571,000 Level 3 Income approach  
– term yield

Term yield, taking into account 

of yield generated by market 

average selling price and the 

market average rental from 

comparable properties and 

adjustment to reflect the 

conditions of the building, 

which is 3.3% (2024: 3.5%)

The higher the term yield, the 

lower the fair value

3

 – 

3.3% 2024

3.5%

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 17. 
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Investment properties 

held by the Group

Fair value at 

31 March

Fair value 

hierarchy

Valuation techniques 

and key inputs

Significant 

unobservable inputs Sensitivities

3 31

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Industrial units in Hong 

Kong (Continued)

– reversionary yield Reversionary yield, taking into 

account of yield generated by 

market average selling price 

and the market average rental 

from comparable properties 

and adjustment to reflect the 

risk associated with the future 

rental, which is 3.5% to 3.6% 

(2024: 3.5%)

The higher the reversionary 

yield, the lower the fair 

value

– 

3.5% 3.6%

2024 3.5%

– monthly term rental Monthly term rental for each unit 

is derived from the average 

of the rental as stated in the 

existing rental agreements, 

which is ranged from HK$11.4 

to HK$17.4 (2024: HK$19.9 

to HK$23.1) per square foot

The higher the monthly term 

rental rate, the higher the 

fair value

– 

11.4

17.4 (2024 19.9

23.1

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 17. 
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Investment properties 

held by the Group

Fair value at 

31 March

Fair value 

hierarchy

Valuation techniques 

and key inputs

Significant 

unobservable inputs Sensitivities

3 31

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Industrial units in Hong 

Kong (Continued)

– reversionary market unit rate Reversionary market unit rate for 

each unit is compared with 

direct market comparables 

and taking into account of 

character, location and other 

individual factor, which is 

ranged from HK$4,423 to 

HK$7,800 (2024: HK$7,012) 

per square foot

The higher the reversionary 

market unit price, the 

higher the fair value

– 

4,423 7,800

2024 7,012

– 73,500 Level 3 Direct comparison method  
– based on market 

observable transactions 

of similar properties and 

adjusted to reflect the 

locations and conditions of 

the subject property

Price per square foot, using 

market direct comparables 

and taking into account of 

character, location and other 

individual factors such as 

size of property etc., which 

is ranged from HK$4,087 to 

HK$5,296 per square foot

The higher the price per 

square foot, the higher the 

fair value

3

 – 

4,087

5,296

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 17. 
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Investment properties 

held by the Group

Fair value at 

31 March

Fair value 

hierarchy

Valuation techniques 

and key inputs

Significant 

unobservable inputs Sensitivities

3 31

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Residential units in Hong 

Kong

29,300 – Level 3 Income approach  
– term yield

Term yield, taking into account 

of yield generated by market 

average selling price and the 

market average rental from 

comparable properties and 

adjustment to reflect the 

conditions of the building, 

which is 2.25%

The higher the term yield, the 

lower the fair value

3

 – 

2.25%

– reversionary yield Reversionary yield, taking into 

account of yield generated by 

market average selling price 

and the market average rental 

from comparable properties 

and adjustment to reflect the 

risk associated with the future 

rental, which is 2.5%

The higher the reversionary 

yield, the lower the fair 

value

– 

2.5%

– monthly term rental Monthly term rental for each unit 

is derived from the average 

of the rental as stated in the 

existing rental agreements, 

which is ranged from HK$11.5 

to HK$43.5 per square foot

The higher the monthly term 

rental rate, the higher the 

fair value

– 

11.5

43.5

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 17. 
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Investment properties 

held by the Group

Fair value at 

31 March

Fair value 

hierarchy

Valuation techniques 

and key inputs

Significant 

unobservable inputs Sensitivities

3 31

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Residential units in Hong 

Kong (Continued)

– reversionary market unit rate Reversionary market unit rate for 

each unit is compared with 

direct market comparables 

and taking into account of 

character, location and other 

individual factor, which is 

ranged from HK$7,543 to 

HK$17,375 per square foot

The higher the reversionary 

market unit price, the 

higher the fair value

– 

7,543 17,375

– 30,800 Level 3 Direct comparison method  
– based on market 

observable transactions 

of similar properties and 

adjusted to reflect the 

locations and conditions of 

the subject property

Price per square foot, using 

market direct comparables 

and taking into account of 

character, location, age and 

other individual factors, which 

is ranged from HK$8,370 to 

HK$18,681 per square foot

The higher the price per 

square foot, the higher the 

fair value

3

 – 

8,370 18,681

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 17. 
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Investment properties 

held by the Group

Fair value at 

31 March

Fair value 

hierarchy

Valuation techniques 

and key inputs

Significant 

unobservable inputs Sensitivities

3 31

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Residential units in 

Singapore

N/A 73,843 Level 3 Direct comparison method  
– based on market 

observable transactions 

of similar properties and 

adjusted to reflect the 

locations and conditions of 

the subject property

Price per square foot, using 

market direct comparables 

and taking into account of 

character, location and other 

individual factors such as road 

frontage, size of property, 

etc., which is ranged from 

HK$25,591 to HK$27,218 per 

square foot

The higher the price per 

square foot, the higher the 

fair value

3

 – 

25,591

27,218

Land with attached 

structure in Hong Kong

N/A 39,000 Level 3 Direct comparison method  
– based on market 

observable transactions 

of similar properties and 

adjusted to reflect the 

locations and conditions of 

the subject property

Price per square foot, using 

market direct comparables 

and taking into account of 

character, location, age and 

other individual factors, which 

is ranged from HK$1,349 to 

HK$1,600 per square foot

The higher the price per 

square foot, the higher the 

fair value

3

 – 

1,349 1,600       

1,057,900 1,250,443
       

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 17. 
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

During the year, the valuation technique used for determining the fair 

value of certain commercial, industrial and residential units amounting 

to HK$400,600,000 as at 31 March 2025 was changed from direct 

comparison method to income approach as the management 

considers that there were limited market comparables for similar 

properties in current year that were appropriate to assess the fair value 

of these units.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the highest and 

best use of the properties is their current use.

As at 31 March 2025, all of the Group’s investment properties (2024: 

except for the land with attached structure of HK$39,000,000) have 

been pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group.

18. LOANS RECEIVABLE

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Fixed-rate loans receivable 30,600 32,100

Less: Impairment allowance (1,022) (1,077)    

29,578 31,023
    

Analysed as:

Current assets 29,578 17,384

Non-current assets – 13,639    

29,578 31,023
    

Secured 16,157 16,971

Unsecured 13,421 14,052    

29,578 31,023
    

No aged analysis is disclosed, as in the opinion of the directors of the 

Company, the aged analysis does not give additional value in view of 

the nature of business of loan financing.

At 31 March 2025, the range of interest rate on the Group’s loans 

receivable is 0% to 8% (2024: 0% to 14%) per annum.

17. 

400,600,000

2025 3 31

2025 3 31

2024 39,000,000

18. 

2025 3 31

0% 8% 2024 0%

14%
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18. LOANS RECEIVABLE (Continued)

Impairment assessment

Before granting loans to outsiders, the Group assesses the potential 

borrower’s credit quality and defines credit limits granted to each 

borrower. The credit limits attributed to the borrowers are reviewed 

by the management regularly. The management closely monitors the 

credit quality of loans receivable. Except for those credit-impaired loans 

receivable, there are no loans receivable which are past due at the end 

of the reporting period.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 34.

The movement of impairment allowance for loans receivable is as 

follows:

12m ECL

Lifetime 

ECL – 

credit-impaired Total

12

 – 

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

At 1 April 2023 2023 4 1 1,550 51,930 53,480

Changes due to loans receivable recognised as at 

1 April 2023:

2023 4 1

– Repayment (Note iii) – iii (652) – (652)
– Written off (Note iv) – iv – (51,930) (51,930)
– Net remeasurement of ECL (Note i) –  

 i 46 – 46

New loans granted (Note ii) ii 133 – 133     

At 31 March 2024 2024 3 31 1,077 – 1,077

Changes due to loans receivable recognised as at 

1 April 2024:

2024 4 1  

– Repayment (Note iii) – iii (33) – (33)
– Net remeasurement of ECL (Note i) –  

 i (22) – (22)     

At 31 March 2025 2025 3 31 1,022 – 1,022
     

18. 

34
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18. LOANS RECEIVABLE (Continued)

Impairment assessment (Continued)
Notes:

(i) During the year ended 31 March 2025, the net reversal of impairment loss 

of HK$22,000 (2024: net impairment loss of HK$46,000) was related to 

loans receivable with gross carrying amount of HK$30,600,000 (2024: 

HK$28,800,000).

(ii) The impairment loss of HK$133,000 was related to loans receivable with gross 

carrying amount of HK$2,300,000 which were newly granted during the year 

ended 31 March 2024.

(iii) The reversal of impairment loss of HK$33,000 (2024: HK$652,000) was related 

to loans receivable under 12m ECL with gross carrying of HK$1,500,000 (2024: 

HK$21,000,000) which has been fully repaid during the year ended 31 March 

2025.

(iv) The written off of HK$51,930,000 was related to loans receivable with gross 

carrying amount of HK$51,930,000. During the year ended 31 March 2024, the 

management reassessed and considered the Group had no realistic prospect 

to recover the credit-impaired debts and hence such amount was written off.

18. 

(i) 2025 3 31

22,000 2024

46,000

30,600,000 2024 28,800,000

(ii) 133,000 2024

3 31

2,300,000

(iii) 33,000 2024

652,000 12

1,500,000 2024

21,000,000

2025 3 31
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19. DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Listed investments, at fair value:

Debt securities listed in Hong Kong or 

overseas with fixed interests ranging 

from 2.5% to 9.5% (2024: 2.5% to 

9.5%) per annum and maturity dates 

ranging from 11 July 2025 to 31 January 

2031 (2024: 11 July 2025 to 31 January 

2031)

2.5% 9.5%

2024  2.5% 9.5%

2025 7 11 2031

1 31 2024  2025 7

11 2031 1 31

80 100    

Analysed as:

Current assets 80 –

Non-current assets – 100    

80 100
    

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, debt instruments at FVTOCI are 

stated at fair values which were determined based on the quoted 

market closing prices available on the Stock Exchange or an overseas 

recognised stock exchange.

Debt instruments at FVTOCI are listed bonds with the credit loss 

allowance measured on 12m ECL basis when the credit risk on financial 

instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition. For 

those credit-impaired bonds, credit loss allowance is measured using 

lifetime ECL. The Group assesses the ECL for debt instruments at 

FVTOCI by reference to credit rating of the bond investment by rating 

agencies, macroeconomic factors affecting the respective industry for 

each issuer, corporate historical default and loss rate and exposure of 

default of each bond investment.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, reversal of credit loss allowance 

of HK$1,775,000 (2025: nil) was recognised in profit or loss.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 34.

All debt instruments at FVTOCI are denominated in United States 

dollars (“USD”), a currency other than the functional currencies of the 

relevant group entities, at the end of the reporting period.

19. 

2025 2024 3 31

12

2 0 2 4 3 3 1

1,775,000

2025
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20. DEBT INSTRUMENT AT AMORTISED COST

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Unlisted debt instruments in Hong Kong:

Fixed-rate unsecured promissory note 23,250 23,490

Less: Impairment allowance (914) (914)    

22,336 22,576
    

In May 2021, the Group and Lion Best Global Limited (the “issuer”), 

an independent third party incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, 

entered into a promissory note agreement with principal amount of 

USD3,000,000 which carries interest at 8% per annum and will be fully 

repayable on the maturity date of 25 September 2025. At 31 March 

2025, the carrying amount of the promissory note was HK$22,336,000 

(2024: HK$22,576,000).

The promissory note is measured at amortised cost since the 

Group’s business model is to hold the debt instrument for collection 

of contractual cash flows, and the cash flows represented solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

The issuer is operating in hotel business. The Group assesses the ECL 

with reference to the internal credit rating of the issuer assigned by the 

Group.

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no credit loss 

allowance was recognised in profit or loss.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 34.

20. 

2021 5 L ion Best 

Global Limited

3,000,000 8%

2025 9 25

2025 3 31

22,336,000 2024 22,576,000

2025 2024 3 31
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21. PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE AND 
PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

The Group’s properties PUD and PHS are situated in Hong Kong.

As at 31 March 2025, HK$970,000,000 (2024: HK$665,266,000) of 

PUD are expected to be completed within twelve months after the end 

of the reporting period, while the rest are expected to be completed 

more than twelve months after the end of the reporting period.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group performed assessment of 

net realisable value on its PUD and PHS with reference to valuations 

made by independent qualified professional property valuer not 

connected with the Group. The valuations of PUD were arrived at by 

using the residual method and the valuations of PHS were arrived at 

by using the income approach or direct comparison method. As at 31 

March 2025, there was a decrease in the estimated net realisable value 

of the PUD and PHS, a net write-down of HK$129,202,000 (2024: 

HK$102,937,000) and HK$20,226,000 (2024: nil) respectively, were 

recognised in profit or loss due to the volatile property market.

Analysis of leasehold lands component

HK$’000

   

As at 31 March 2025 2025 3 31

Carrying amount 1,846,612
   

As at 31 March 2024 2024 3 31

Carrying amount 2,520,754
   

For the year ended 31 March 2025 2025 3 31

Operating cash outflows (19,133)
   

For the year ended 31 March 2024 2024 3 31

Operating cash outflows (68,483)
   

21.  

2025 3 31 970,000,000

2024 665,266,000

2025 2024 3 31

2025 3 31

129,202,000

2024 102,937,000

20,226,000 2024
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21. PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE AND 
PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE (Continued)

Analysis of leasehold lands component (Continued)

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Additions 19,133 68,483
Write-down – (30,920)
    

The carrying amount of leasehold lands is measured at cost less any 

accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The residual 

values are determined as the estimated disposal value of the leasehold 

land component. No depreciation charge is made on the leasehold 

lands taking into account the estimated residual values as at 31 March 

2025 and 2024.

All PUD and PHS have been pledged to secure banking facilities 

granted to the Group in both years.

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Lease receivables 2,584 859
Prepayments (Note (ii)) (ii) 6,907 1,342
Interest receivable 465 110
Staff loans (Note (i)) (i)) 8,200 9,000
Deposit 1,815 1,691
Escrow deposits for properties held for sales 10,340 –
Other receivables 18,924 20,565    

49,235 33,567
    

Notes:

(i) The Group entered into several loan agreements with certain staff. Pursuant to 

the loan agreements, the staff loans were unsecured with fixed interest rate at 

2% (2024: 2%) per annum and repayable on demand.

(ii) As at year ended 31 March 2025, amount of HK$3,536,000 (2024: nil) 

represented prepayment of rental expense to a related party.

21. 
 

2025 2024 3 31

22. 

(i) 

2% 2024 2%

(ii) 2025 3 31 3,536,000

2024
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22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The Group did not grant any credit period to its tenants in property 

investment segment. The aged analysis of trade receivables and lease 

receivables, based on the invoice date, at the end of the reporting 

period is as follows:

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000

    

0–60 days 0–60 2,482 859
61–90 days 61–90 102 –    

2,584 859
    

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are 

set out in note 34.

No credit loss allowance has been recognised on the trade and other 

receivables as the directors of the Company consider that the amount 

is immaterial.

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR 
LOSS

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Listed investments, at fair value:
– Equity securities listed in Hong Kong and 

overseas (Note i)
–  

 i 41,531 47,124
Unlisted investments, at fair value:

– Film right investment – 58 14,697
– Investment in limited partnership (Note ii) – ii – 42,732
– Unlisted securities – 8,625 6,264    

50,214 110,817
    

Analysed as:

Current assets 41,589 104,553
Non-current assets 8,625 6,264    

50,214 110,817
    

22. 

34

23.  
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23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR 
LOSS (Continued)

The Group’s financial assets at FVTPL that are denominated in 

currencies other than the functional currencies of the relevant group 

entities are set out below:

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000

    

USD 8,625 52,589
Renminbi (“RMB”) 58 14,697
    

Notes:

(i) The fair values of the listed equity securities are determined based on the 

quoted market closing prices available on the Stock Exchange or an overseas 

recognised stock exchange.

(ii) During the year, the interest in limited partnership has been disposed at a total 

consideration of HK$28,971,000. Details of the disposal are set out in the 

circular of the Company dated 24 June 2024.

24. TIME DEPOSITS OVER THREE MONTHS/CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS

At 31 March 2024, the time deposits with maturity of more than three 

months and within 1 year carried interest at market rate of 1.50% per 

annum.

Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits and short-term 

bank deposits for the purpose of meeting the Group’s short term cash 

commitments, which carry interest at market rates range from 0.001% 

to 3.3% (2024: 0.001% to 0.925%) per annum.

The Group’s time deposits and cash and cash equivalents that are 

denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of the 

relevant group entities are set out below:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Singapore dollar (“SGD”) 140 963

USD 302 100

RMB 28 28
    

23.  

(i) 

(ii) 28,971,000

2024 6 24

24. 

2024 3 31

1

1.50%

0.001% 3.3%

2024  0.001% 0.925%
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25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND CONTRACT 
LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Trade payables (Note i): i

0–30 days 0–30 6,549 24,260

31–60 days 31–60 – 6,167

Over 90 days 90 7,112 –    

13,661 30,427

Retention payable (Note ii) ii 29,018 32,110

Rental deposits received and rental received 

in advance 13,535 8,750

Accruals 2,933 2,300

Interest payable 10,768 7,026

Other taxes payable – 2,767

Other payables 4,636 10,370    

74,551 93,750
    

Notes:

(i) The aged analysis of trade payables is determined based on the invoice date 

at the end of the reporting period. The average credit period on purchases of 

goods is 30 days.

(ii) Retention payable is withheld from subcontractors and will be released by the 

Group within twelve months upon completion of their works.

Contract liabilities

The Group receives deposits from customers when they sign the sale 

and purchase agreement of sales of properties. The deposits from 

customers are recognised as contract liabilities until the customers 

obtain control of the properties. At 31 March 2025, the contract 

liabilities amounted to HK$5,197,000 (2024: nil). Contract liabilities are 

expected to be settled within the Group’s normal operating cycle when 

control of the completed properties are transferred to the customer.

25.  

(i) 

30

(ii) 

2025 3 31

5,197,000 2024
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26. CONVERTIBLE NOTE CONTAINING LIABILITY AND EQUITY 
COMPONENTS

On 20 February 2023, the Company issued 5% convertible note due 

2028 at an aggregate principal amount of HK$209,000,000 to Goodco 

Development Limited (“Goodco”) (the “2023 Convertible Note”). The 

2023 Convertible Note was used to settle of acquisition of investment 

properties during the year ended 31 March 2023.

The 2023 Convertible Note is denominated in HKD and entitles the 

holder to convert it into ordinary shares of the Company at any time 

between the date of issue of the 2023 Convertible Note on 20 February 

2023 and its settlement date on 20 February 2028 at a conversion 

price of HK$0.106 per conversion share (subject to anti-dilutive 

adjustments).

Pursuant to the adjustment provisions in the terms and conditions of 

the convertible note, adjustment has been made to the conversion 

price of convertible note with principal amount of HK$209,000,000 

from HK$0.106 per share to HK$4.24 per share with the number 

of conversion shares adjusted from 1,971,698,113 to 49,292,452 

conversion shares with effect from 19 July 2023 as a result of capital 

reorganisation. Further adjustment has been made to the conversion 

price from HK$4.24 per share to HK$3.70 per share with the number of 

conversion shares adjusted from 49,292,452 to 56,486,486 conversion 

shares with effect from 3 August 2023 as a result of placing of shares.

On 23 January 2024, the Company entered into deeds of amendment 

with Goodco in relation to the proposed alterations of certain terms 

of the convertible note. The deeds of amendment were approved by 

the shareholders at a special general meeting of the Company held 

on 27 March 2025 and the conditions precedent under the deed of 

amendment were fulfilled on 17 April 2024. The modification of the 

terms was determined to be substantial and hence resulted in the 

extinguishment of the original liability component of the convertible note 

and the recognition of new liability and equity components, resulting 

in a net loss on modification of terms of convertible note amounting 

to HK$31,369,000 being recognised and presented under “loss on 

modification of terms of convertible note” in profit or loss. After the 

modification, the conversion price of the convertible notes is HK$0.18 

per conversion share with interest at 5% per annum and maturity date 

of 20 February 2028.

Upon modification of the 2023 Convertible Note, the Company 

recognised equity component of the convertible note and deferred tax 

liability of HK$161,265,000 and HK$26,609,000 respectively.

26.  

2023 2 20

2028

209,000,000 5%

2023 2023

2023 3 31

2023

2023 2 20 2023

2028 2 20

0.106

2023 7 19

209,000,000

0.106

4.24

1,971,698,113 49,292,452

2023 8 3

4.24 3.70

49,292,452

56,486,486

2024 1 23

2025 3 27

2024 4 17

31,369,000

0.18

5% 2028 2 20

2023

161,265,000

26,609,000
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26. 

109,000,000

0.18 0.14

605,555,555

605,555,555

778,571,428

2025 2 4

2025 3 31

139,000,000

80,000,000

2 0 2 5 3 3 1

7 0 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0 2 0 2 4

209,000,000 2023

2023

2025 3 31 0.14

2024 3.70

2 0 2 3

0 .01

500,000,000 2024 56,486,486

2023

5%

2023

2023

17.15%

26. CONVERTIBLE NOTE CONTAINING LIABILITY AND EQUITY 
COMPONENTS (Continued)

Pursuant to the adjustment provisions in the terms and conditions of 

the convertible note, adjustment has been made to the conversion 

price of convertible note with principal amount of HK$109,000,000 

which is convertible into 605,555,555 shares (after partial redemption) 

at an adjusted current convertible price from HK$0.18 per share to 

HK$0.14 per share with the number of conversion shares adjusted 

from 605,555,555 to 778,571,428 conversion shares (the “Adjustment”) 

with effect from 4 February 2025 as a result of rights issue.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company exercised the 

early redemption option to redeem certain convertible note with 

principal amount of HK$139,000,000, for which HK$80,000,000 of the 

principal amount was settled by offsetting with the amount due from a 

related party which constituted a non-cash transaction.

As at 31 March 2025, the 2023 Convertible Note with principal amount 

of HK$70,000,000 (2024: HK$209,000,000) remained outstanding. 

Assuming full conversion of the 2023 Convertible Note at a conversion 

price of HK$0.14 at 31 March 2025 (2024: HK$3.70), the 2023 

Convertible Note will be convertible into 500,000,000 new ordinary 

shares (2024: 56,486,486) of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the 

Company.

Conversion shares will be allotted and issued upon exercise of the 

conversion rights. If the 2023 Convertible Note is not converted during 

the conversion period up to the maturity date, it will be redeemed on 

the maturity date at par with outstanding accrued interest. Interest of 5% 

per annum will be paid semi-annually in arrears up until the settlement 

date.

The 2023 Convertible Note contains liability component and equity 

component. The equity component is presented in equity heading 

“convertible note equity reserve”. The effective interest rate of the 

liability component of the 2023 Convertible Note is 17.15% per annum 

at the date of modification.
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26. 

27. 

26. CONVERTIBLE NOTE CONTAINING LIABILITY AND EQUITY 
COMPONENTS (Continued)

The movement of the liability component of the above convertible note 

is set out below:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

At the beginning of the year 167,954 159,949

Derecognition of original liability  

component upon modification of terms  

of convertible note (212,063) –

Recognition of new liability component upon 

modification of terms of convertible note 143,755 –

Derecognition of original liability  

component upon partial redemption  

of the convertible note (64,198) –

Accretion of interest 20,525 17,941

Interest paid (8,747) (9,936)    

At the end of the year 47,226 167,954
    

27. SECURED BANK BORROWINGS

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Carrying amount repayable as follows (based 

on the scheduled repayment dates set out 

in the loan agreements):
– within one year – 1,575,285 1,161,664
– within a period of more than one year  

 but not exceeding two years

– 

297,798 834,368
– within a period of more than two years  

 but not exceeding five years

– 

19,177 50,800
– within a period of more than five years – – 19,902    

1,892,260 2,066,734

Less:  Amount due within one year  

 shown under current liabilities

  

 (1,575,285) (1,161,664)    

Amount due after one year shown under 

non-current liabilities 316,975 905,070
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27. 

2025 3 31

1.3% 2.5%
2024 0.7%

1.8%
0.8%

5.1% 6.4% 2024 5.3% 6.4%
35

28. 

2 3 2024  
3

27. SECURED BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

At 31 March 2025, the Group’s secured bank borrowings carry interest 
ranging from Hong Kong Inter-Bank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) plus 
1.3% to 2.5% (2024: HIBOR plus 0.7% to 1.8%, Secured Overnight 
Financing Rate (“SOFR”) plus 0.8%) per annum, with effective interest 
ranging from 5.1% to 6.4% (2024: 5.3% to 6.4%) per annum. The 
loans are secured by certain assets as set out in note 35. The proceeds 
were mainly used to finance acquisition of investment properties, 
development of properties and acquisition of financial products.

The Group’s secured bank borrowings that are denominated in 
currencies other than the functional currencies of the relevant group 
entities are set out below:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

HKD – 4,614

USD – 7,007
    

28. LEASE LIABILITIES

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Lease liabilities payable:

Within a period not exceeding one year 2,447 2,335

Within a period of more than one year but 

not exceeding two years 1,077 2,366

Within a period of more than two years but 

not exceeding five years – 1,025    

3,524 5,726

Less:  Amount due for settlement within 12  

 months shown under current  

 liabilities

 12  

 

(2,447) (2,335)    

Amount due for settlement after 12 months 

under non-current liabilities

12

1,077 3,391
    

The Group leases a property to operate its business and these lease 
liabilities are measured at the present value of the lease payments that 
are not yet paid.

Lease and rentals are negotiated and fixed for a terms of 2 to 3 years 
(2024: 3 years).
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29. 

2025 3 31

509,167,000 2024

393,131,000

29. DEFERRED TAXATION

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Deferred tax assets 319 328

Deferred tax liabilities (3,756) (7,936)    

(3,437) (7,608)
    

The followings are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities) recognised 

and movements thereon during the current and prior years:

ECL

allowance

Convertible

note issued

Revaluation

of properties Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

At 1 April 2023 2023 4 1 8,975 (9,257) (24,536) (24,818)

(Charge) credit to profit or loss 

for the year (8,647) 1,321 23,470 16,144

Exchange adjustments – – 1,066 1,066      

At 31 March 2024 2024 3 31 328 (7,936) – (7,608)

Charge to profit or loss  

for the year (9) (6,781) – (6,790)

Release upon partial 

redemption of convertible 

note – 15,198 – 15,198

Recognition upon modification 

of terms of convertible note – (26,609) – (26,609)

Release upon modification of 

terms of convertible note – 22,372 – 22,372      

At 31 March 2025 2025 3 31 319 (3,756) – (3,437)
      

A t  31 March 2025,  t he  Group has  unused tax  l osses  o f 

HK$509,167,000 (2024: HK$393,131,000) available for offset against 

future profits. The tax losses can be carried forward indefinitely. No 

deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of such losses due 

to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
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29. 

2025 3 31

3 3 1 , 3 6 1 , 0 0 0

2024 181,988,000

1,936,000 2024 1,991,000

329,425,000

2024 179,997,000

2008 1

1

2025 3 31

7,360,000 2024

17,121,000

30. 

29. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

At 31 March 2025, the Group has deductible temporary differences 

of HK$331,361,000 (2024: HK$181,988,000). A deferred tax has 

been recognised in respect of HK$1,936,000 (2024: HK$1,991,000) 

of such temporary differences. No deferred tax asset has been 

recognised in relation to the remaining deductible temporary difference 

of HK$329,425,000 (2024: HK$179,997,000) as it is not probable that 

taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 

differences can be utilised.

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends 

declared in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1 

January 2008 onwards. At 31 March 2025, deferred taxation has not 

been provided for in the consolidated financial statements in respect of 

temporary differences attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC 

subsidiary amounting to RMB7,360,000 (2024: RMB17,121,000) as 

the amount involved is insignificant.

30. SHARE CAPITAL

Notes

Nominal value

per share

Number

of shares Amount

HK$ HK$’000

      

Authorised:

At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 

and 31 March 2025

2023 4 1 2024

3 31 2025  

3 31 0.01 40,000,000,000 400,000      

Issued and fully paid:

At 1 April 2023 2023 4 1 2,125,924,676 21,259

Reduction of share capital upon 

capital reorganisation (i) 0.01 (2,072,776,560) (20,728)

Issue of shares upon placing (ii) 0.01 50,000,000 500      

At 31 March 2024 2024 3 31 103,148,116 1,031

Issue of shares upon placing (iii) 0.01 235,000,000 2,350

Rights issue of shares (iv) 0.01 676,296,232 6,763      

At 31 March 2025 2025 3 31 1,014,444,348 10,144
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30. 

(i) 2023 7 17

0.01

0.40

0.40

0.01

0.39

0.01

0.01

2023 7 19

2023

6 21

(ii) 2023 8 3 0.5

50,000,000 0.01

24,750,000

2023 7 24

(iii) 2024 4 17

235,000,000

0.01 0.18

41,877,000

2024 3 21

(iv) 2025 2 4

0.092

676,296,232 0.01

62,219,000

2025 2024 3 31

30. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(i) On 17 July 2023, a special resolution has been passed by the shareholders of 

the Company for a capital reorganisation which involves share consolidation, 

capital reduction and share subdivision. Consolidation of every forty issued and 

unissued existing shares of par value of HK$0.01 each into one consolidated 

share of par value of HK$0.40 each (the “Consolidated Share(s)”) in the share 

capital of the Company. Immediately upon the share consolidation becoming 

effective, the par value of each issued Consolidated Share is reduced from 

HK$0.40 to HK$0.01 by a cancellation of HK$0.39 of the paid-up capital on 

each issued Consolidated Share so that each issued Consolidated Share is 

treated as one fully paid up share of par value HK$0.01 each in the share 

capital of the Company (the “New Share(s)”) and the credit arising from the 

capital reduction be transferred to the contributed surplus account of the 

Company. Immediately following the share consolidation and capital reduction, 

each authorised but unissued Consolidated Share (including those authorised 

unissued Consolidated Shares arising from the capital reduction) is subdivided 

into forty authorised but unissued New Shares of par value HK$0.01 each. 

The capital reorganisation is completed on 19 July 2023. Details of the capital 

reorganisation are set out in the Company’s circular dated 21 June 2023.

(ii) On 3 August 2023, the Company allotted 50,000,000 ordinary shares of 

HK$0.01 each by placing to not less than six placees at a placing price of 

HK$0.5 per share. The Company raised HK$24,750,000 (net of expenses) with 

the intention at the time of placing to be used for repayment of the Group’s 

bank loans. The new placing shares were issued pursuant to the specific 

mandate granted to the directors by a resolution of the shareholders of the 

Company passed at the special general meeting held on 24 July 2023.

(iii) On 17 April 2024, the Company allotted 235,000,000 ordinary shares of 

HK$0.01 each by placing to not less than six placees at a placing price of 

HK$0.18 per share. The Company raised HK$41,877,000 (net of expenses) 

with the intention at the time of placing to be used for repayment of the Group’s 

bank loans and general working capital of the Group. The new placing shares 

were issued pursuant to the specific mandate granted to the directors by a 

resolution of the shareholders of the Company passed at the special general 

meeting held on 21 March 2024.

(iv) On 4 February 2025, the Company allotted 676,296,232 rights shares of 

HK$0.01 each at a subscription price of HK$0.092 per rights share on the 

basis of two rights shares for every one then existing ordinary share held. The 

Company raised HK$62,219,000 (before expenses) with the intention at the 

time of rights issue for repayment of the Group’s bank loans and as general 

working capital of the Group.

All shares issued during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 

rank pari passu with the then existing shares in issue in all respects.
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31.  31. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from 

financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. 

Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows 

were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated 

statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

Convertible

note

Secured

bank

borrowings

Lease

liabilities Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note 26) (note 27) (note 28)

26 27 28
      

At 1 April 2023 2023 4 1 159,949 1,871,919 1,260 2,033,128

Bank borrowings raised – 306,798 – 306,798

Repayment of bank borrowings – (111,256) – (111,256)

Repayment of lease liabilities – – (2,410) (2,410)

Payment of loan arrangement fee – (500) – (500)

Interest paid (9,936) (104,931) (218) (115,085)      

150,013 1,962,030 (1,368) 2,110,675

Non-cash changes:
– Interest expense on convertible note –  

 17,941 – – 17,941
– Interest expense on bank borrowings –  

 – 104,931 – 104,931
– Interest expense on lease liabilities –  

 – – 218 218
– New lease entered – – – 6,876 6,876
– Exchange adjustments – – (227) – (227)      

At 31 March 2024 2024 3 31 167,954 2,066,734 5,726 2,240,414

Bank borrowings raised – 221,079 – 221,079

Repayment of bank borrowings – (393,674) – (393,674)

Repayment of lease liabilities – – (2,353) (2,353)

Partial redemption of convertible note (64,198) – – (64,198)

Payment of loan arrangement fee – (1,879) – (1,879)

Interest paid (8,747) (123,193) (263) (132,203)      

95,009 1,769,067 3,110 1,867,186
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Convertible

note

Secured

bank

borrowings

Lease

liabilities Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note 26) (note 27) (note 28)

26 27 28
      

Non-cash changes:
–  Derecognition of original liability  

 component upon modification  

 of terms of convertible note

–  

  

 (212,063) – – (212,063)
–  Recognition of new liability component  

 upon modification of terms  

 of convertible note

–  

 

143,755 – – 143,755
– Interest expense on convertible note –  

 20,525 – – 20,525
– Interest expense on bank borrowings –  

 – 123,193 – 123,193
– Interest expense on lease liabilities –  

 – – 263 263
– New lease entered – – – 151 151      

At 31 March 2025 2025 3 31 47,226 1,892,260 3,524 1,943,010
      

31. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (Continued)

31.  
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32.  

(a) 

2025 3 31

3,524,000

2024 5,726,000

416,000 2024 416,000

13.52% 2024

13.52%

(b) 

26

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/CONNECTED 
TRANSACTIONS

(a) Save as disclosed in the consolidated financial statements, 

during the year, the Group had the following transactions with 

wholly-owned subsidiaries of Easyknit International:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Consultancy fee – 2,621

Building management fee 60 –

Interest expense on lease liabilities 263 218
    

The Group rented certain of its office premises from Easyknit 

International. At 31 March 2025, lease liabilities amounted to 

HK$3,524,000 (2024: HK$5,726,000) and refundable rental 

deposits paid (included in “trade and other receivables” line item) 

amounted to HK$416,000 (2024: HK$416,000).

Ms. Lui Yuk Chu, a director of the Company, also holds 13.52% 

(2024: 13.52%) equity interest of Easyknit International through 

an entity wholly-owned by her and under share option scheme.

(b) Details of the convertible note issued to Easyknit International are 

set out in note 26. During the year, the interests on convertible 

note are as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Accretion of interest 20,525 17,941

Interest paid 8,747 9,936
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/CONNECTED 
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c) Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of executive directors and other members of 

key management during the year was as follows:

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Short-term employee benefits 
Salaries and other benefits

 
14,486 14,488

Contributions to retirement benefits 
schemes 101 83    

14,587 14,571
    

The remuneration of directors and key executives are determined 

by the remuneration committee and executive directors, 

respectively, having regard to the performance of individuals and 

market trends.

(d) In January 2011, the Company entered into an employment 

agreement with Mr. Koon Wing Yee, the spouse of Ms. Lui 

Yuk Chu, to act as general manager of the Company. The 

employment agreement, which constitutes a connected 

transaction, commenced on 21 February 2011 but may 

be terminated by either party at any time by three months’ 

notice. The monthly salary has been adjusted a few times to 

HK$475,000 with effect from 1 April 2023. The remuneration of 

Mr. Koon Wing Yee as general manager of the Company during 

the year ended 31 March 2024 was HK$2,391,000 and was 

included in the “compensation of key management personnel” in 

(c) above. On 1 September 2023, Mr. Koon Wing Yee resigned 

as general manager of the Company and the employment 

agreement was terminated.

32.  

(c) 

(d) 2011 1

2011 2 21

2023

4 1 475,000

2024 3 31

2,391,000

(c)

2023 9 1
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32.  

(d) 

2020 11

2020 11 25

2022 4 1

30,000

2025 3 31

360,000 2024 360,000

(e) 2025 3 31

288,000

2024 288,000

(f) 2023 8 29

80,000,000

2023 11

20

6%

2023 8 29

2025 3 31

2024

30,000,000

2025 3 31

2,743,000 2024

404,000

(g) 2025 3 31

276,000 2024

414,000

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/CONNECTED 
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(d) (Continued)

In November 2020, the Company entered into an employment 

agreement with Ms. Koon Ho Yan Candy, the daughter of Ms. 

Lui Yuk Chu, to act as a senior special advisor of the Company. 

The employment agreement, which constitutes a connected 

transaction, commenced on 25 November 2020 but may be 

terminated by either party at any time. The monthly salary is 

HK$30,000 with effect from 1 April 2022. The remuneration 

of Ms. Koon Ho Yan Candy as a senior special advisor of 

the Company during the year ended 31 March 2025 was 

HK$360,000 (2024: HK$360,000).

(e) During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group received rental 

income totalling HK$288,000 (2024: HK$288,000) from certain 

close relatives of Ms. Lui Yuk Chu.

(f) On 29 August 2023, City China International Limited (“City 

China”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, 

entered into a revolving loan agreement with Main Profit 

Investment Limited (“Main Profit”), an indirectly wholly-owned 

subsidiary of Easyknit International to grant the revolving 

loan facil ity in the principal amount up to a maximum of 

HK$80,000,000 from effective date on 20 November 2023 for 

a term of two years with fixed interest rate 6% per annum. The 

revolving loan is guaranteed by Easyknit International. For details, 

please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 29 August 

2023.

As at 31 March 2025, the outstanding balance of loan provided 

to Main Profit amounted to nil (2024: HK$30,000,000), giving 

rise to interest income amounting to HK$2,743,000 (2024: 

HK$404,000) during the year ended 31 March 2025.

(g) During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group received 

service charge of HK$276,000 (2024: HK$414,000) from a joint 

venture for the rendering of administration services.
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33. 

26 27

33. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will 

be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to 

shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balances. 

The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which includes 

convertible note and secured bank borrowings disclosed in notes 26 

and 27, respectively, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity 

attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital 

and other reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a regular 

basis. As part of this review, the directors of the Company consider 

the cost of capital and the risks associated with the capital. Based 

on recommendations of the directors of the Company, the Group will 

balance its overall capital structure through new share issues and 

raising or repayment of bank borrowings and other debts.
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a. Categories of financial instruments

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Financial assets

Financial assets at FVTPL 50,214 110,817

Debt instruments at FVTOCI

80 100

Amortised cost (including cash and 

cash equivalents)
– Trade and other receivables – 20,608 20,919
– Amount due from a joint venture – 7,850 1,850
– Amount due from a related party – – 30,000
– Loans receivable – 29,578 31,023
– Debt instrument at amortised cost – 22,336 22,576
– Time deposits over three months – – 31,183
– Cash and cash equivalents – 57,266 299,717    

187,932 548,185
    

Financial liabilities

Amortised cost
– Trade and other payables – 58,083 79,240
– Convertible note – 47,226 167,954
– Secured bank borrowings – 1,892,260 2,066,734    

1,997,569 2,313,928
    

34. 

a. 
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34. 

b. 

(i) 

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include amount due 

from a joint venture, amount due from a related party, financial 

assets at FVTPL, debt instruments at FVTOCI, trade and other 

receivables, loans receivable, debt instrument at amortised cost, 

time deposits over three months, cash and cash equivalents, 

trade and other payables, convertible note and secured bank 

borrowings. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed 

in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial 

instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are 

set out below. The management manages and monitors these 

exposures to ensure that appropriate measures are implemented 

on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

(i) Currency risk
The carrying amount of the group entities’ foreign currency 

denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at 

the end of the reporting period is as follows:

Liabilities Assets

2025 2024 2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

USD against HKD – – 31,262 52,689

SGD against HKD – 4,614 140 963

RMB against HKD – – 86 14,697

USD against SGD – 7,007 81 100
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34. 

b.  

(i) 

5%

5%

5%

5%

5%

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies 

(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i) Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the exchange rate risk on 

USD against RMB for the foreign currency denominated 

monetary assets and monetary liabilities.

Under the pegged exchange rate system, the financial 

impact on exchange difference between HKD and USD 

will be immaterial, and therefore no sensitivity analysis has 

been prepared. No sensitivity analysis for the currency risk 

of SGD against HKD and USD against SGD is prepared 

as the directors of the Company consider the net impact 

of such foreign currency risk is insignificant.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% 

increase and decrease in RMB against HKD. Sensitivity 

rate of 5% is used when reporting foreign currency risk 

internally to key management personnel and represents 

management’s assessment of the reasonably possible 

change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis 

includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated 

monetary and adjusts their translation at the end of the 

reporting period for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. 

A positive (negative) number below indicates a decrease 

(increase) in post-tax loss where RMB strengthens 5% 

against HKD. For a 5% weakening of RMB against HKD, 

there would be an equal and opposite impact on the post-

tax loss.
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34. 

b.  

(i) 

(ii) 

27

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies 

(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i) Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Increase in post-tax loss 4 614
    

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis reflects 

the exposure at the year end, but not the exposure during 

the year.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency 

hedging policy to eliminate the currency exposures. 

However, the management monitors the related foreign 

currency exposure closely and will consider hedging 

significant foreign currency exposures should the need 

arise.

(ii) Interest rate risk
The Group’s primary cash flow interest rate risk relates to 

it secured bank borrowings. The interest rates and terms 

of repayment of the secured bank borrowings of the 

Group are disclosed in note 27.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate 

risk in relation to certain financial assets at FVTPL, debt 

instruments at FVTOCI, debt instrument at amortised 

cost, amount due from a related party, time deposits 

over three months, cash and cash equivalents, fixed-

rate loans receivable, fixed-rate staff loan and convertible 

note. The Group has not used any derivative contracts 

to hedge its exposure to such interest rate risk, however, 

the management monitors interest rate exposure and will 

consider other necessary action when significant interest 

rate exposure is anticipated.
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34. 

b.  

(ii) 

2024

100

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies 

(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk (Continued)
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk on financial 

liabilities is detailed in the liquidity risk management 

section of this note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate 

risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR 

(2024: HIBOR and SOFR) arising from secured bank 

borrowings.

Total interest revenue/income from financial assets that 

are measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI is as 

follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Interest revenue

Financial assets at amortised cost 1,329 1,930

Other income

Financial assets at amortised cost 6,399 8,585    

Total interest income 7,728 10,515
    

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined 

based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative 

instruments as referred to above at the end of the 

reporting period and the stipulated change taking place 

at the beginning of the financial year and held constant 

throughout the reporting period. A 100 basis points 

increase or decrease is used when reporting interest 

rate risk internally to key management personnel and 

represents management’s assessment of the reasonably 

possible change in interest rates.
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34. 

b.  

(ii) 

100

2025 3

31

15,800,000

2024 17,257,000

(iii) 

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies 

(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher or lower 

for its variable rate borrowings and all other variables 

were held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss for the 

year ended 31 March 2025 would increase/decrease by 

HK$15,800,000 (2024: HK$17,257,000).

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analyses are 

unrepresentative of the inherent interest rate risk as the 

year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during 

the year.

(iii) Other price risk
The Group is exposed to other price risk through its 

investments in listed equity and debt securities. The 

management manages this exposure by maintaining 

a portfolio of investments with different risks. The 

Group’s price risk is mainly concentrated on listed 

equity instruments quoted in the Stock Exchange of 

issuers engaged in operation and investment in food and 

beverage brands and banking and finance industry sector. 

In addition, the Group has appointed a special team to 

monitor the price risk and will consider hedging the risk 

exposure should the need arise.



For the year ended 31 March 2025 2025 3 31

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

190 EMINENCE ENTERPRISE LIMITED   Annual Report 2024/2025

34. 

b.  

(iii) 

5% 2024 5 

% 2025 3 31

2,508,000

2024 2,356,000

2025

2024 3 31

2025 2024 3 31

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies 

(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(iii) Other price risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined 

based on the exposure to equity price risk at the reporting 

date.

If the prices of the listed equity instruments have been 

5% (2024: 5%) higher/lower, post-tax loss for the year 

ended 31 March 2025 would decrease/increase by 

HK$2,508,000 (2024: HK$2,356,000) as a result of the 

changes in fair value of listed equity instruments.

In the management’s opinion, the financial impact on price 

risk of debt securities as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 

would be immaterial, and therefore no sensitivity analysis 

has been prepared.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group’s maximum exposure 

to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due 

to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties are 

primarily attributable to trade receivables, lease receivables, 

loans receivable, other receivables, time deposits over three 

months, bank balances, debt instruments at amortised cost, 

amount due from a joint venture, amount due from a related 

party and debt instruments at FVTOCI. The Group does not hold 

any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit 

risk associated with its financial assets, except that the credit 

risk associated with loans receivable is mitigated because they 

are secured over marketable securities or properties.

At the end of reporting period, the historical observed default 

rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking 

information including forecast of unemployment rate index and 

other relevant factors are considered.
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34. 

b.  

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies 

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Except for financial assets at FVTPL, the Group performed 

impairment assessment for financial assets under ECL model. 

Information about the Group’s credit r isk management, 

maximum credit risk exposures and the related impairment 

assessment, if applicable, are summarised as below:

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment for the 

Group’s financial assets comprises the following categories:

Internal credit rating Description

Trade and 

lease receivables

Financial assets

other than trade

and lease receivables

    

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk  

of default and does not have 

any past-due amounts

Lifetime ECL – not credit-

impaired

12m ECL

 – 12

Medium risk Debtor frequently repays after due 

date

Lifetime ECL – not credit-

impaired

12m ECL

 – 12

High risk There have been significant 

increases in credit risk since 

initial recognition through 

information developed internally 

or external resources

Lifetime ECL – not credit-

impaired

Lifetime ECL – not 

credit-impaired

 – 

 – 

Loss There is evidence indicating the 

asset is credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL –  credit-impaired Lifetime ECL – credit-

impaired

 – 

 – 

Write-off There is evidence indicating that 

the debtor is in severe financial 

difficulty and the Group has no 

realistic prospect of recovery

Amount is written off Amount is written off
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34. 

b.  

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies 

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The table below details the credit risk exposures of the Group’s 

financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment:

Notes

External

credit rating

Internal

credit rating

12m 

or lifetime ECL Loss rate range

Gross

carrying amount

12

2025 2024 2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

         

Debt instruments at FVTOCI

Investments in listed bonds  

(Note (i))

19 C to Ca N/A Lifetime ECL - credit-

impaired

100% 100% 11,980 12,000

(i) C Ca

 – 

Financial assets at amortised 

cost

Loans receivable 18 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 3% to 9% 3% to 8% 30,600 32,100

12 3% 9% 3% 8%

Lease receivables 22 N/A (Note ii) Lifetime ECL - not 

credit-impaired

N/A N/A 2,584 859

ii

 – 

Other receivables 22 N/A (Note ii) 12m ECL N/A N/A 18,024 20,060

ii 12

Debt instrument at amortised cost 20 N/A (Note ii) 12m ECL 4% 4% 23,250 23,490

ii 12
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Notes

External

credit rating

Internal

credit rating

12m 

or lifetime ECL Loss rate range

Gross

carrying amount

12

2025 2024 2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

         

Amount due from a joint venture N/A (Note ii) 12m ECL N/A N/A 7,850 1,850

ii 12

Amount due from a related party 32(f) N/A (Note ii) 12m ECL N/A N/A – 30,000

ii 12

Time deposits over three months 24 Prime – 1 N/A 12m ECL N/A N/A – 31,183
– 1 12

Bank balances 24 Prime – 2 to A1 

(2024: Prime –  

2 to A1)

N/A 12m ECL N/A N/A 57,266 299,717

24 – 2 A1

2024
– 2 A1

12

         

Notes:

(i) The amounts stated in the above table represent the initial purchase 

cost. For the purpose of ECL assessment, the Group considers the 

gross principal amount and the related contractual interests of the debt 

instruments. As at 31 March 2025, the gross principal amount of these 

debt instruments amounted to HK$11,900,000 (2024: HK$11,900,000).

(ii) For the purpose of internal credit impairment, the Group considers 

if there is any past due record or other relevant information available 

without undue cost or effort to assess whether credit risk has increased 

significantly since initial recognition.

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies 

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

34. 

b.  

(i) 

2025

3 31

11,900,000 2024

11,900,000

(ii) 
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34. 

b.  

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies 

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Debt instruments at FVTOCI 

The Group assesses the credit risk of investments in debt 

securities at the reporting date. The Group’s debt instruments at 

FVTOCI mainly comprise listed bonds that are graded by credit-

rating agencies as per globally understood definitions and some 

bonds without external credit rating are assessed by internal 

credit ratings.

Lifetime

ECL – credit

impaired

 – 

HK$’000

   

At 1 April 2023 2023 4 1 13,675

Changes due to debt instruments at FVTOCI 

recognised as at 1 April 2023

 

2023  

4 1
– Net remeasurement of ECL – (1,775)   

At 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025 2024 3 31  

2025 3 31 11,900
   

Debt instrument at amortised cost
The Group assesses the credit risk of investments in debt 

securities at the reporting date. The Group’s debt instrument at 

amortised cost comprises a promissory note without external 

credit rating, which has been assessed by internal credit rating.

12m ECL
12

HK$’000

   

At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025 2023 4 1 2024 3 31
2025 3 31 914
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies 

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Loans receivable
The Group has concentration of credit risk in relation to loans 

receivable, amounting to HK$29,578,000 at 31 March 2025 

(2024: HK$31,023,000), from a few borrowers with 55% (2024: 

55%) of the balance secured by properties with estimated 

fair values of HK$18,595,000 (2024: HK$17,745,000). The 

Group is not permitted to sell or repledge the collaterals in the 

absence of default by the borrower. There has not been any 

significant changes in the quality of the collateral held for the 

loans receivable. The largest borrower of the Group by itself 

accounted for approximately 33% (2024: 31%) of the Group’s 

loans receivable at 31 March 2025.

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding 

loans receivable to minimise credit risk. The management has 

a credit policy in place and the exposures to the credit risk are 

monitored on an ongoing basis. Impairment allowances on 

outstanding loans receivable are determined by an evaluation 

of financial background, financial condition and historical 

settlement records, including past due rates and default rates, 

of the borrowers and relevant information from public domain at 

the end of each reporting period. The borrowers are assigned 

different grading under internal credit ratings to calculate the 

ECL, taking into consideration of the estimates of expected cash 

shortfalls which are driven by estimates of possibility of default 

and the amount and timing of cash flows that are expected from 

foreclosure on the collaterals (if any) less the costs of obtaining 

and selling the collaterals.

Trade and lease receivables and other receivables 

No allowance for impairment was made since the directors of 

the Company consider that the probability of default is minimal 

after assessing the counterparties’ financial background and 

creditability.

Staff loans
No allowance for impairment was made since the directors of 

the Company consider that the amount involved is insignificant.

34. 

b.  

2 0 2 5 3 3 1

29,578,000 2024

31,023,000

55% 2024 55%

18,595,000

2024 17,745,000

2025

3 31

33%

2024 31%
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies 

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Amount due from a joint venture
No allowance for impairment was made since the directors of 

the Company consider that the probability of default is minimal 

after assessing the joint venture’s financial background and 

creditability.

Amount due from a related party
No allowance for impairment was made since the directors of 

the Company consider that the probability of default is minimal 

after assessing the related party’s financial background and 

creditability.

Time deposits over three months and bank balances 

No allowance for impairment was made since the directors of 

the Company consider that the probability of default is negligible 

as such amounts are receivable from or placed in banks with 

good reputation.

Liquidity risk
In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and 

maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate 

by the management to finance the Group’s operations. The 

management monitors the utilisation of borrowings and ensures 

compliance with loan covenants.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has available unutilised bank 

loan facilities of HK$693,246,000 (2024: HK$1,157,367,000).

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual 

maturity for its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn 

up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities 

based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required 

to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

34. 

b.  

2 0 2 5 3 3 1

693,246,000 2024

1,157,367,000
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies 
(Continued)
Liquidity table

Effective
interest rate

On demand
or less than

3 months

More than
3 months 

but less 
than 1 year 1–2 years 2–5 years Over 5 years

Total
undiscounted

cash flows
Carrying
amounts

3
3

1 1–2 2–5 5
% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

          

2025 2025
Trade and other payables – 58,083 – – – – 58,083 58,083
Convertible note 17.15 – – – 80,193 – 80,193 47,226
Secured bank borrowings 5.42 662,882 961,569 305,282 19,505 – 1,949,238 1,892,260
Lease liabilities 5.65 645 1,935 1,096 – – 3,676 3,524          

721,610 963,504 306,378 99,698 – 2,091,190 2,001,093
          

2024 2024
Trade and other payables – 79,240 – – – – 79,240 79,240
Convertible note 11.38 – – – 219,479 – 219,479 167,954
Secured bank borrowings 6.13 896,775 341,729 883,270 43,333 23,338 2,188,445 2,066,734
Lease liabilities 5.57 657 1,938 2,496 1,039 – 6,130 5,726          

976,672 343,667 885,766 263,851 23,338 2,493,294 2,319,654
          

c. Fair value
(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are 

measured at fair value on a recurring basis 

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at 
fair value at the end of the reporting period. The Board 
has delegated the valuation work to the management to 
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs 
for fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level 
1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third 
party qualified valuers to perform the valuation. The 
management works closely with the qualified external 
valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques 
and inputs to the model. The management reports the 
findings to the directors of the Company regularly to 
explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value.

34. 

b.  

c. 
(i) 
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

c. Fair value (Continued)
(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are 

measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued) 

The following table gives information about how the 

fair values of these financial assets are determined (in 

particular, the valuation techniques and key inputs used).

Financial assets Fair value at 31 March

Fair value

hierarchy

Valuation techniques and 

key inputs Significant unobservable inputs

3 31

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Debt instruments at FVTOCI

– Listed debt securities 80 100 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active market N/A
– 1

Financial assets at FVTPL

– Listed equity securities 41,531 47,124 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active market N/A
– 1

– Film right investment 58 14,697 Level 3 Discounted cash flows – future cash 

flows are estimated

Discount rate 4.35% (2024: 4.35%)

– 3  – 4.35% 2024 4.35%

– Investment in limited 

partnership

– 42,732 Level 3 Net asset value quoted from fund 

manager

Net asset value of the underlying 

investments
– 3

– Unlisted securities 8,625 6,264 Level 3 Market comparable approach Market multiple of 3.0 and discount 

for lack of marketability of 30%
– 3 3.0 30%
      

A slight increase in the discount rate used in isolation 

would result in a sl ight decrease in the fair value 

measurement of the film right investment, and vice versa.

The higher the market multiple, the higher the fair value, 

and vice versa. The higher the discount, the lower the fair 

value, and vice versa.

34. 

c. 
(i) 
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

c. Fair value (Continued)

(ii) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

Film right

investment

Investment

in limited

partnership

Unlisted

securities Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

At 1 April 2023 2023 4 1 15,504 28,230 – 43,734

Additions – 15,178 – 15,178

Transfer into level 3 due to 

change of valuation technique 3 – – 6,264 6,264

Unrealised fair value loss 

recognised in profit or loss – (712) – (712)

Exchange adjustments (807) 36 – (771)      

At 31 March 2024 2024 3 31 14,697 42,732 6,264 63,693

Additions – 785 – 785

Unrealised fair value gain 

recognised in profit or loss – – 2,425 2,425

Realised fair value loss 

recognised in profit or loss – (14,545) – (14,545)

Disposal (14,367) (28,972) – (43,339)

Exchange adjustments (272) – (64) (336)      

At 31 March 2025 2025 3 31 58 – 8,625 8,683
      

Except for the unlisted securities stated above, there were 

no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 in both years.

34. 

c. 

(ii) 3

1 2 3
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

c. Fair value (Continued)

(iii) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that 

are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis 

Except for the convertible note issued, the directors of the 

Company consider that the carrying amounts of financial 

assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost 

in the consolidated financial statements approximate to 

their fair values.

At 31 March 2025, the fair value of liability component 

of the convertible note issued by the Company, which is 

recognised at amortised cost of HK$47,226,000 (2024: 

HK$167,954,000) (note 26), was HK$69,148,000 (2024: 

HK$160,729,000). The fair value is determined using 

Trinomial Tree Model (2024: management estimation) at 

Level 3.

35. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, the following assets of the Group 

were pledged to banks to secure credit facilities granted to the Group:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Investment properties 1,057,900 1,211,443

PHS 1,712,654 1,065,891

PUD 1,846,612 2,520,754    

4,617,166 4,798,088
    

In addition, rentals in respect of the above investment properties and 

future sale proceeds and rentals in respect of the above PUD and PHS 

are also pledged to these banks.

34. 

c. 

(iii) 

2025 3 31

47,226,000

2024 167,954,000

2 6

69 ,148 ,000 2024

160,729,000

3

2024

35. 
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36. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group as lessor

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Property rental income earned during  

the year 32,354 28,751

Less: Outgoings (3,295) (2,406)    

Net rental income 29,059 26,345
    

All of the properties held for rental purposes have committed lessees 

for 1 to 4 years (2024: 1 to 3 years) from the end of the reporting 

period without termination options granted to tenants.

Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Within one year 29,094 27,424

In the second year 18,566 15,145

In the third year 6,143 4,551

In the fourth year 271 –    

54,074 47,120
    

37. COMMITMENT

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Capital expenditure contracted for but  

not provided in the consolidated financial 

statements in respect of – interest in 

limited partnership

 – 

– 4,418
    

36. 

1 4 2024 1 3

37. 
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38. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund 

retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong 

Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. Under the MPF 

Scheme, the employees are required to contribute 5% of their monthly 

salaries or up to a maximum of HK$1,500 and they can choose to 

make additional contributions. The employer’s monthly contributions 

are calculated at 5% of the employee’s monthly salaries or up to a 

maximum of HK$1,500 (the “mandatory contributions”). The employees 

are entitled to 100% of the employer’s mandatory contributions upon 

their retirement at the age of 65, death or total incapacity.

There were no forfeited contributions utilised to offset employers’ 

contributions for both years. The employers’ contributions which have 

been dealt with in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income were as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Employers’ contributions recognised in profit 

or loss 465 462
    

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, there were no forfeited contributions 

available to reduce the contributions payable in the future years.

38. 

5%
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65
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2025 

are as follows:

Name of subsidiaries

Place of incorporation/

establishment and operation

Nominal value of issued

share capital/paid-up

registered capital/

stated capital

Proportion of nominal 

value of issued share 

capital/paid-up registered

capital held by the Company Principal activities

2025 2024
      

Directly held:

Fanju Investments Limited British Virgin Islands  

(“BVI”)/ Hong Kong

Ordinary USD1 100% 100% Investment in securities and 

others

1

Glory Link Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% 100% Investment in securities and 

others

1

Indirectly held:

Asia Million Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% 100% Property investment

1

Capital Well (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% 100% Property investment

1

City China Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% 100% Loan financing

1

Day Glory Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% 100% Property investment

1

39. 

2025 3 31
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Name of subsidiaries

Place of incorporation/

establishment and operation

Nominal value of issued

share capital/paid-up

registered capital/

stated capital

Proportion of nominal 

value of issued share 

capital/paid-up registered

capital held by the Company Principal activities

2025 2024
      

Indirectly held: (Continued)

Excellent East Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% 100% Property investment

1

Gainever Corporation Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100% 100% Investment in securities and 

others

2

Goldchamp International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 100% 100% Property investment

10,000

Golden Top Properties Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100% 100% Property investment

2

Janson Properties Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100% 100% Property investment

2

Main Lucky Enterprises Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% 100% Property development

1

39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39. 
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Name of subsidiaries

Place of incorporation/

establishment and operation

Nominal value of issued

share capital/paid-up

registered capital/

stated capital

Proportion of nominal 

value of issued share 

capital/paid-up registered

capital held by the Company Principal activities

2025 2024
      

Indirectly held: (Continued)

On Channel International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% 100% Property investment

1

Ovation Motion Picture Enterprise 

Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% 100% Entertainment and film right 

investment

1

Success Mark Investments Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 100% 100% Property development

10,000

Top Channel Enterprises Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% 100% Property investment

1

Treasure Arts International Group 

Limited

BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary USD1 100% 100% Property development

1

Wealth Plan Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% 100% Property development

1

39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39. 
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Name of subsidiaries

Place of incorporation/

establishment and operation

Nominal value of issued

share capital/paid-up

registered capital/

stated capital

Proportion of nominal 

value of issued share 

capital/paid-up registered

capital held by the Company Principal activities

2025 2024
      

Indirectly held: (Continued)

Wellmake Investments Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$9,998 

(Non-voting deferred 

shares HK$2*)

100% 100% Property investment

9,998

2 *

Well Honest Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% 100% Property investment

1

Easyknit Enterprises (Huzhou) 

Co., Ltd. (“Enterprises Huzhou”)**

PRC Registered 

USD300,000

(2024: USD25,544,206)

100% 100% Property investment

( )  

** 300,000

2024 25,544,206

* The non-voting deferred shares of Wellmake Investments Limited carry no 

rights to receive notice of, attend or vote at any general meeting and have very 

limited rights to participate in a distribution of profits and, on liquidation, to the 

repayment of the amount paid up on the shares.

** Enterprises Huzhou is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the 

PRC, to be operated for 50 years up to 14 December 2054.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company, which, in the 

opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the results 

of the year or constituted a substantial portion of the assets of the 

Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the 

directors of the Company result in particulars of excessive length.

39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39. 

* 

** 
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other subsidiaries 

that are not material to the Group. Majority of these subsidiaries 

operate in Hong Kong. The principal activities of these subsidiaries are 

summarised as follows:

Principal activities Principal places of business Number of subsidiaries

2025 2024
    

Investment holding Hong Kong 31 31

Inactive Hong Kong 17 14

Inactive PRC 2 2

    

50 47
    

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at 31 March 

2025 or 31 March 2024.

39. 
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40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Non-current assets

Interests in subsidiaries and amounts due 

from subsidiaries and a joint venture 3,491,849 3,600,334    

Current assets

Other receivables 194 194

Tax recoverable – 186

Cash and cash equivalents 28,183 39,015    

28,377 39,395    

Current liabilities

Other payables 3,767 8,654

Bank borrowings – 77,500    

3,767 86,154    

Net current assets (liabilities) 24,610 (46,759)    

Total assets less current liabilities 3,516,459 3,553,575    

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 3,756 7,936

Convertible note 47,226 167,954    

50,982 175,890    

3,465,477 3,377,685    

Capital and reserves

Share capital 10,144 1,031

Reserves (Note) 3,455,333 3,376,654    

3,465,477 3,377,685
    

40. 
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40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 
(Continued)

Note:

Movements of the Company’s reserves during the current and prior year are as follows:

Share
premium

Convertible
note equity

reserve
Capital
reserve

Contributed
surplus

Accumulated
profits Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        

At 1 April 2023 2023 4 1 2,531,694 47,493 53,194 438,102 174,722 3,245,205
Profit and total comprehensive income 

for the year – – – – 86,471 86,471
Reduction of share capital upon capital 

reorganisation – – – 20,728 – 20,728
Issue of shares upon placing 24,250 – – – – 24,250        

At 31 March 2024 2024 3 31 2,555,944 47,493 53,194 458,830 261,193 3,376,654
Loss and total comprehensive expense 

for the year – – – – (38,562) (38,562)
Issue of shares upon placing 39,527 – – – – 39,527
Rights issue of shares 55,456 – – – – 55,456
Transfer upon modification of terms  

of convertible note
 

– (103,265) – – 18,233 (85,032)
Deferred tax liabilities released  

upon modification of terms  
of convertible note – 17,040 – – – 17,040

Recognition upon modification  
of terms of convertible note – 161,265 – – – 161,265

Deferred tax liability on recognition  
of equity component upon modification  
of terms of convertible note – (26,609) – – – (26,609)

Transfer upon partial redemption  
of convertible note

 
– (92,111) – – 32,507 (59,604)

Deferred tax liabilities released  
upon partial redemption  
of convertible note – 15,198 – – – 15,198        

At 31 March 2025 2025 3 31 2,650,927 19,011 53,194 458,830 273,371 3,455,333
        

41. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 4 June 2025, the Company entered into a deed of amendment 

with Goodco pursuant to which the conversion price of the convertible 

note issued by the Company with principal amount of HK$70,000,000 

will be adjusted from HK$0.14 to HK$0.07 per conversion share. The 

modification of the terms is determined to be substantial and hence 

will result in the extinguishment of the original liability component of the 

2023 Convertible Note and the recognition of new liability and equity 

components. Accordingly, the difference between the fair value of the 

liability component of the 2023 Convertible Note (after modification) 

and the carrying amount of the original liability component will be 

recognised in profit or loss during the year ending 31 March 2026.

40.  

41. 

2025 6 4

70,000,000

0.14

0.07

2023

2023

2026

3 31



210 EMINENCE ENTERPRISE LIMITED   Annual Report 2024/2025

Financial Summary

RESULTS

Year ended 31 March

3 31

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Revenue 80,253 64,475 43,106 30,693 44,857       

(Loss) profit before 

taxation (190,743) 123,497 65,972 (162,339) (374,725)

Taxation 9,950 (7,050) (2,400) (50,810) 9,426       

(Loss) profit for the year 

attributable to owners 

of the Company

 

(180,793) 116,447 63,572 (213,149) (365,299)
       

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

At 31 March

3 31

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Total assets 4,613,337 4,879,808 5,624,267 5,408,807 4,842,030

Total liabilities (1,732,044) (1,864,621) (2,389,101) (2,361,611) (2,027,245)       

Equity attributable to 

owners of the Company

 

2,881,293 3,015,187 3,235,166 3,047,196 2,814,785
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A. A. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Location Purpose

Approximate

gross floor/

saleable/site area Lease-term

(sq.ft.)

      

1. Ground Floor

No. 6 Cannon Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

6

Commercial 472 Long

2. Sixth Floor

Nos. 650-652

Castle Peak Road, and

No. 18A Wing Hong Street

Kowloon

650–652

18A

Industrial 8,608 Medium

3. Second Floor

Nos. 790, 792 and 794

Cheung Sha Wan Road

Kowloon

790 792 794

Industrial 2,981 Medium

4. Roof

No. 20 Wing Hong Street

Kowloon

20

Industrial 2,910 Medium

5. Fifth Floor

No. 20 Wing Hong Street

Kowloon

20

Industrial 3,402 Medium

6. Units 1 and 2 on Seventh Floor

Block D and Car Parking Space

No. 46 on Lower Ground Floor

Shatin Heights

No. 8003 Tai Po Road

Shatin

New Territories

8003

D 1 2

46

Residential 2,086 Medium

7. Third Floor

No. 161 Wong Nai Chung Road

Hong Kong

161

Residential 781 Medium
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A. 

B. 

Location Purpose

Approximate

gross floor/

saleable/site area Lease-term

(sq.ft.)

      

8. Easy Tower, No. 609

Tai Nan West Street

Cheung Sha Wan

Kowloon

609

Industrial/

commercial

74,458 Medium

9. Shop A and B on Ground Floor,

and Shop C on First Floor

One Victory, Nos. 1, 1A and 3

Victory Avenue, Ho Man Tin,

Kowloon

1 1A 3

A B

C

Commercial 4,297 Medium

10. Ground Floor of No. 50

Yun Ping Road, Causeway Bay,

Hong Kong 50

Commercial 905 Long

B. PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE

Location Purpose

Approximate

site area Lease-term

Stage of 

completion

(sq.ft.)

       

1. Nos. 646, 648, 648A

Castle Peak Road

Kowloon 646 648 648A

Industrial 9,206 Medium Under 

development

2. Nos. 1B – 1E

Davis Street

Kennedy Town

Hong Kong 1B – 1E

Residential 4,940 Long Under 

development

3. No. 93 and 95 

Catchick Street

Kennedy Town

Hong Kong 93 95

Residential 2,182 Long Under 

development

A. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
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